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WELCOME TO SIX 

ABOUT US

PERFORMANCE 
INNOVATION  
STABILITY 
EXPERTISE 
SUSTAINABILITY 

WHAT WE STAND FOR
Our corporate culture is 
shaped by four core values. 
Customer Focus: We generate 
added value for our customers. 
Collaboration: We collaborate 
constructively with customers 
and partners, and work in teams. 
Ownership: We assume respon­
sibility and drive innovation. 
Trust: We promote a culture of 
transparency and mutual trust.

CUSTOMER FOCUS 
COLLABORATION 

OWNERSHIP 
TRUST

WHAT WE DO
SIX provides and operates 
stable and efficient infrastruc­
ture for the Swiss and Spanish 
financial centers, thus ensuring 
access to the capital markets 
and the f low of information 
and money between financial 
market players. We are the 
Swiss competence center for 
payments and other banking 
services. We provide data, 
regulatory services, and indices 
to customers around the world.

EXCHANGES 
  SECURITIES SERVICES 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
BANKING SERVICES

WHO WE WORK WITH
SIX connects financial market 
participants in Switzerland, 
Spain, and around the world. 
We are owned by more than 
120 national and international 
financial institutions. They 
are the main users of our 
infrastructure and are our 
most important clients.

FINANCIAL  
INSTITUTIONS 
CORPORATES 
ASSOCIATIONS  
AUTHORITIES 
EMPLOYEES 
ACADEMIA

We drive the competitiveness of our customers in 
our home markets and in international financial 
markets through superior services and innovation.



We invest in  
technology, products  
and services, and  
our people to build  
the systems and 
infrastructures 
for the future of finance.

INTRODUCTION 
OF QR-BILL
Modern, digital,  
and secure 
payment solution 
for Switzerland

HIGHLIGHTS
2022

FIRST  
BANK-DRIVEN  
DIGITAL BOND
UBS AG is first listed 
SMI company to issue 
bond on SIX Digital 
Exchange (SDX)

ACQUISITION 
OF REGIS-TR 
COMPLETED 
Leading European 
trade repository  
portfolio of over 
2,000 European 
clients across more  
than 40 countries

CHF 1,494.1 mn
Operating Income 

CHF 397.7 mn
EBITDA

CHF 243.9 mn
EBIT

CHF 185.0 mn
Group Net Profit 

3,910.5
Employees (FTE)

CHF 5.10
Dividend per Share

NEW 
SUSTAINABILITY 
STRATEGY 
Joining forces for 
sustainable financial 
markets and net-zero 
commitment 
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Dear readers

The year 2022 brought fundamental changes to the financial markets, most 
notably driven by the return of inflation and the increase in interest rates. 
The war in Ukraine, the energy crisis, recessionary trends, resurgent strains in 
China-US relations, and continuing instabilities caused by the pandemic posed 
new challenges to the financial markets and SIX. 

SIX actively adapted to this changing environment, and continued to build on 
its growth strategy. We further invested in our technology, our products and 
services, and our people to build the systems and infrastructures for the future of 
finance, while upholding strict cost control. We adapted our short-term plans, 
while our business strategy and our diverse product portfolio have evidenced the 
company’s resilience. 

Group Net Profit Increased
Despite the increasing macroeconomic challenges, we delivered solid results and 
increased Group operating income by 2.1% year-on-year at constant currencies. 
Operating earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 
reached CHF 397.7 million, down 5.7% year-on-year in reporting currency and 0.9% 
at constant currencies. Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) of CHF 243.9 million 
are 65.7% above the previous year’s level due to one-off effects in 2021 related 
to the stake of SIX in Worldline and the full acquisition of the REGIS-TR trade 
repository. Net profit increased substantially from CHF 73.5 million in 2021 to 
CHF 185.0 million in 2022. 

Thomas Wellauer, Chairman of the Board of Directors (right), and Jos Dijsselhof, CEO (left). 

“Our diversified 
business model 
proved its 
strength once 
again.”
Thomas Wellauer,  
Chairman of the  
Board of Directors of SIX
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Targeted Investments
With continuous investment in SIX Digital Exchange (SDX) we further strengthened 
our role in the pioneering field of distributed ledger technology-based infrastructure. 
Over the past year, we have been focusing on interoperability between SDX and 
existing infrastructures to build the migration path for market adoption of new 
technologies. The acquisition of the European trade repository REGIS-TR was 
completed, and we expanded numerous services in our international custody 
business. The Financial Information business unit launched a product offer for 
regulatory risk data and services in connection with the EU Sustainable Finance 
Action Plan. In our Banking Services business unit, one of the highlights of the 
year was the nationwide rollout of the Swiss QR-bill. The recovery of cashless 
payments and ATM transactions as well as the new generation of debit cards 
were important drivers for additional growth. 

Continuing the Growth Strategy
Growth remains a prerequisite for successfully operating a global platform business. 
From an industry point of view, SIX operates in a dynamic and attractive market. 
In October 2022, the Board of Directors confirmed the strategic direction of SIX, 
taking the new macroeconomic situation into consideration. The new environment 
requires even more careful examination of uncertainty factors, such as interest 
rates, inflation, and currency fluctuations. To react more flexibly to market 
opportunities for further growth in the international capital market infrastructure 
business, we realigned our legal structure as per 1 January 2023. The three 
business units of Exchanges, Securities Services, and Financial Information are 
now consolidated under the roof of the newly formed SIX Exchange Group Ltd. 
At the same time, the Banking Services business unit will fully concentrate on 
providing critical solutions in the interest of the Swiss financial center. Both 
entities continue to operate under the umbrella of SIX Group.

Joining Forces for Sustainable Financial Markets
As a provider of financial market infrastructure, SIX is in an optimal position to 
act as a key player in the development of sustainable financial markets because 
we are trusted, central, and neutral. In 2022, we launched a new sustainability 
strategy, refocused our activities, and strengthened our governance over 
sustainability. Since January of this year, we have established the new position of 
Head Sustainability, reporting directly to the Executive Board. Furthermore, 
we have committed to reducing our carbon footprint to net zero by no later 
than 2050, in line with the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi). 

“With our new 
sustainability 
strategy, we are 
accelerating 
positive change 
for a sustainable 
future.”
Jos Dijsselhof,  
CEO SIX



7SIX Annual Report 2022  Letter to Shareholders

six-group.com

Dr  Thomas Wellauer Jos Dijsselhof

Changes in the Executive Board
At the beginning of December, Dieter Goerdten succeeded Marco Menotti as 
Head Banking Services. Before joining SIX in 2018, Dieter Goerdten worked for 
Swiss banks on the development and launch of innovative products and services 
for over 20 years. 

After 14 years on the Executive Board of SIX, Thomas Zeeb has decided to 
leave SIX at the end of January 2023. Christoph Landis, currently Head IT, will lead 
the Exchanges business unit on an interim basis. He was responsible for the 
Swiss Exchange unit from 2015 to 2018 and has been a member of the Executive 
Board of SIX ever since.

Roger Fankhauser joined SIX as General Counsel in May 2022. He is in charge 
of the newly established entity that incorporates the Legal, Group Corporate 
Secretary, and Regulatory Affairs departments at SIX and is part of the extended 
Executive Board.

Outlook
We will continue to deliver excellent services to our clients and bring innovative 
products to the market. Pioneering digital assets along the entire value chain and 
building more bridges between the distributed ledger technology of SDX and 
the traditional markets remains a focal point. We will also expand our ESG product 
range, based on new tech-based solutions for aggregating, analyzing, delivering, 
and reporting data. 

Cost efficiency remains a top priority. We will further optimize our cost base 
by leveraging the largely fixed-cost nature of the business, cost synergies from 
the BME acquisition, and other targeted cost measures. Bolt-on acquisitions and 
partnering opportunities will continue to strengthen our portfolio. We expect 
a revenue increase of > 4% p.a. in the medium term, driven by initiatives such as 
SDX and digital assets, revenue synergies from BME, and opportunities in 
Financial Information.

We know that the past year has posed challenges to all participants in 
the financial markets, our shareholders and partners, our clients, and  
our employees. We express our sincere thanks to all of you for your great 
collaboration through these times of extended uncertainty, and are looking 
forward to working with you in driving forward the transformation of the 
financial markets.  
 

Yours sincerely 

http://www.six-group.com
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REPORT ON THE 
BUSINESS YEAR
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SIX Key Figures
CHF million 	 	 	 2022	 	 2021	 	 Change	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total operating income 	 	 	 1,494.1	 	 1,498.3	 	 –0.3%	

Total operating income at constant currencies 1	 	 	 1,494.1	 	 1,463.7	 	 2.1%	

Total operating expenses 	 	 	 –1,096.4	 	 –1,076.6	 	 1.8%	

Total operating expenses at constant currencies 1	 	 	 –1,096.4	 	 –1,062.6	 	 3.2%	

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 	 	 	 397.7	 	 421.7	 	 –5.7%	

EBITDA at constant currencies 1	 	 	 397.7	 	 401.1	 	 –0.9%	

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 	 	 	 –177.5	 	 –173.6	 	 2.2%	

Net financial result 	 	 	 2.1	 	 1.3	 	 62.7%	

Share of profit or loss of associates and joint ventures 	 	 	 21.6	 	 –102.1	 	 n/a	

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 	 	 	 243.9	 	 147.2	 	 65.7%	

EBIT at constant currencies 1	 	 	 243.9	 	 133.5	 	 82.7%	

Net interest and tax expenses 	 	 	 –59.0	 	 –73.7	 	 –20.0%	

Group net profit 	 	 	 185.0	 	 73.5	 	 151.5%	

Group net profit at constant currencies 1	 	 	 185.0	 	 62.3	 	 197.0%	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash flow statement 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash flow from operating activities 	 	 	 –2,119.4	 	 375.8	 	 n/a	

Cash flow from investing activities 	 	 	 –150.8	 	 –154.4	 	 –2.3%	

Cash flow from financing activities 	 	 	 –129.0	 	 184.5	 	 n/a	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance sheet as at 31/12 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total assets 	 	 	 17,171.7	 	 17,983.4	 	 –4.5%	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 12,139.2	 	 12,771.0	 	 –4.9%	

Total equity 	 	 	 5,032.5	 	 5,212.3	 	 –3.5%	

Net debt to EBITDA 2	 	 	 1.75	 	 1.57	 	 0.17	

Equity ratio (average) 3	 	 	 69.2%	 	 71.6%	 	 –2.4 pp	

Return on equity (average) 4	 	 	 3.6%	 	 1.4%	 	 2.3 pp	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Shareholders’ key figures 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings per share 	 CHF	 	 9.80	 	 3.91	 	 150.7%	

Ordinary dividend paid per share 	 CHF	 	 5.10	 	 4.75	 	 7.4%	

Payout ratio (adjusted) 5	 	 	 60%	 	 53%	 	 7 pp	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Operating key figures 	 	 	 		  	 	

Workforce as at 31/12 (full-time equivalents) 	 number	 	 3,910.5	 	 3,685.1	 	 6.1%	

Workforce as at 31/12 (headcount) 	 number	 	 4,044	 	 3,826	 	 5.7%	

Swiss stock exchange trading turnover 	 CHF billion	 	 1,208.1	 	 1,281.6	 	 –5.7%	

Spanish stock exchange trading turnover (equities only) 	 EUR billion	 	 362.5	 	 379.5	 	 –4.5%	

Market share of Swiss equities 	 	 	 67.8%	 	 75.6%	 	 –7.8 pp	

Market share of Spanish equities 	 	 	 59.3%	 	 62.5%	 	 –3.2 pp	

Swiss deposit volume (average) 	 CHF billion	 	 3,701.9	 	 4,079.7	 	 –9.3%	

Spanish deposit volume (average) 	 EUR billion	 	 2,508.2	 	 2,494.2	 	 0.6%	

Number of SIC transactions 	 1,000	 	 943,807	 	 893,533	 	 5.6%	

Number of delivered financial instruments (Financial Information business unit) 	 million	 	 1,918	 	 1,788	 	 7.3%	

1	 Prior year’s figures are translated with the annual average exchange rates for 2022 (constant foreign exchange).
2	 Net debt to EBITDA = net debt / adjusted EBITDA previous 12 months, see note 21.
3	 Equity ratio = average equity previous 12 months / (average adjusted liabilities previous 12 months + average equity previous 12 months).
	 The adjustments of the liabilities include the positions “Payables from clearing & settlement” and “Forwards from clearing & settlement”.
4	 Return on equity = profit previous 12 months / average equity previous 12 months.
5	 According to the dividend policy, the dividend distribution is based on the reported Group net profit without any effects in the context of participation in Worldline.
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Financial Review 
SIX closed 2022 with solid results on the back of challenging market conditions. 
The Group achieved an operating income of CHF 1.5 billion, representing a growth of 2.1% 
at constant currencies. EBITDA at constant currencies was down by 0.9% with a margin 
at 26.6%, while EBIT increased by 65.7% in reporting currency. Group net profit also rose, 
reaching CHF 185.0 million.

With the integration of BME and the 
growth of the international business, 
SIX has expanded its global presence. 
This resulted in a higher exchange 
rate exposure, especially between 
the Swiss franc and the euro. The 
weakening of foreign currencies versus 
the Swiss franc in 2022 had a negative 
effect on the results of SIX. Moreover, 
the increase in interest rates in the 
second half of the year had an impact 
on SIX, particularly on the post-trading 
and banking services business. Despite 
this challenging environment, SIX 
successfully grew the business in three 
of four business units at constant 
exchange rates. 

Solid Results and Higher Dividend
While the Group operating income 
remained stable year-on-year, the 
CHF 1.5 billion represents a growth 
of 2.1% at constant currencies. Earnings 
before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortization (EBITDA) remained solid 
at CHF 397.7 million, with an EBITDA 
margin of 26.6% (2021: CHF 421.7 million, 
28.1%). Earnings before interest  
and tax (EBIT) increased by 65.7% 
to CHF 243.9 million. This increase 
compared to the previous year was 
mainly due to a one-off effect in 2021 
related to the stake of SIX in Worldline. 
In 2021, an impairment resulting from 
the announced sale of Worldline’s 
Terminals, Solutions & Services (TSS) 
business negatively affected the share 
of profit or loss of associates and joint 
ventures of SIX (2021: CHF –102.1 million). 
Share of profit or loss of associates  

and joint ventures in 2022 amounted  
to CHF 21.6 million and was also mainly 
related to the stake of SIX in Worldline. 
Group net profit amounted to 
CHF 185.0 million (2021: CHF 73.5  million). 
In accordance with the SIX Group 
dividend policy, the Board of Directors 
recommends that the Annual General 
Meeting approve an ordinary dividend 
of CHF 5.10 per share. This equates to  
an increase of 7.4% compared to the 
previous year (2021: CHF 4.75).

Results by Business Unit
The year under review marked the second 
consecutive year of BME fully contributing 
to the Group results. Both markets, 
Switzerland and Spain, were affected by 
the adverse economic environment, 
especially during the second half of the 
year, which resulted in lower trading 
volumes. In the Exchanges business 
unit, SIX generated an operating 
income of CHF 367.4 million (–5.8% vs. 
2021). The Securities Services business 
unit recorded an operating income of 
CHF 465.9 million (–0.8% vs. 2021). The 
results of both units were significantly 
impacted by currency effects. At 
constant currencies, operating income 
decreased by 2.9% for the Exchanges 
business unit, and increased by 0.9% 
for the Securities Services business 
unit. Apart from the general economic 
environment, market share pressure 
from expanding multilateral trading 
facilities (MTF) affected all major 
primary exchanges over the past year. 
SIX is tackling this development with 
several targeted initiatives.

Investments in 
selected growth 
initiatives 
continued during 
2022.
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OPERATING INCOME: CONTRIBUTION OF BUSINESS UNITS 
excl. corporate functions

PROFIT: CONTRIBUTION OF BUSINESS UNITS
excl. corporate functions

Exchanges 
25.3 %

Exchanges 
32.9 %

Financial Information 
27.0 %

Financial Information 
14.1 %

Banking Services 
15.6 %

Banking Services 
5.2 %

Securities Services 
32.1 %

Securities Services  
47.8 %

In the Financial Information business 
unit, the growth trajectory that 
started in 2021 continued to show 
positive results. The unit closed the 
year at CHF 392.6 million in operating 
income, a gain of 1.1% year-on-year 
in reporting currency and 4.3% at 
constant currencies.

After investing with a clear focus on 
digital solutions in recent years, the 
Banking Services business unit yielded 

positive results throughout 2022. 
Operating income grew by 6.0%  
year-on-year, to CHF 225.7 million. 
At constant currencies, the growth 
in the Banking Services business unit 
amounted to 6.8%. Digital services 
were rolled out and brought positive 
results. Post-COVID, people resumed 
using more physical banking services  
and cash, which also had a positive 
effect on the unit’s results.

  

The contribution of the four business 
units to the operating income of the 
Group remained stable. When comparing 
profit by unit, the biggest changes are 
the decrease in the contribution of the 
Exchanges business unit from 42.4% 
in 2021 to 32.9% in 2022, and the increase  
in the contribution to Group profit by 
the Securities Services business unit 
from 38.0% in 2021 to 47.8% in 2022. 
This change stems from a decrease in 
income in the Exchanges business 
unit on the BME side, coupled with 
a lower cost base in the Securities 
Services business unit.

Investments and Cost Efficiency
Investments in selected organic and 
inorganic growth initiatives continued 
during 2022. This included completion 
of the acquisition of REGIS-TR, further 
development of SIX Digital Exchange 
(SDX), and investments in the long-term 
infrastructure of SIX. In the year under 
review, investments in infrastructure 
and integration expenses led to a year- 
on-year cost increase of 1.8%. At the 
same time, SIX continued its dedicated 
Group-wide cost-efficiency program, 
which comes on top of cost synergies 
from the BME acquisition. 

Cost efficiency 
remains a priority 
for SIX.
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The year 2022 was the second year 
of SIX participating in the capital 
markets via its three outstanding bonds 
that come to maturity in 2025, 2026, 
and 2029. SIX still benefits from a solid 
financing structure with low financing 
costs as all bonds were issued in 
favorable interest rate environments 
with coupons ranging from 0 to 0.20%. 

Financial Outlook 
Despite a challenging 2022 and external 
headwinds, SIX remains committed 
to its growth strategy. SIX expects a 
revenue increase of > 4% p.a. in the 
medium term, driven by dedicated 
initiatives such as SDX and digital 
assets, revenue synergies from the 

BME acquisition, and growth from the 
Financial Information business unit. 
Cost efficiency remains a priority 
for SIX. An optimized cost base will be 
achieved by leveraging the largely 
fixed cost nature of the business, cost 
synergies from the BME acquisition, 
and other targeted cost measures. 
Profitability is expected to increase on 
the back of increasing revenues and  
an optimized cost base. 

SIX will continue to diversify its 
product portfolio, support organic 
growth and innovation, and also to 
explore inorganic growth opportunities 
while maintaining competitive prices 
and delivering attractive returns to its 
shareholders. �■
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Business Performance & Highlights
The diversified business model of SIX once again demonstrated its worth during the 
past year. SIX grew its operating income in the Banking Services business unit 
by 6.0% in reporting currency and by 6.8% at constant currencies. The operating income in 
the Financial Information business unit also grew, by 1.1% in reporting currency and 4.3% 
at constant currencies. The investments into these business units over the past three years 
have paid off and largely compensated for the declines in the Exchanges and Securities 
Services business units of SIX as a result of unfavorable market conditions.

SIX successfully launched new 
products in all business units, and 
pushed the strategic expansion 
into ESG markets and digital assets. 
In the Financial Information business 
unit, SIX expanded its ESG data and 
services offering as part of the EU 
Sustainable Finance Action Plan. With 
a series of new offerings on SIX Digital 
Exchange (SDX), SIX has prepared 
the foundation for the future of 
financial market infrastructures and 
services based on distributed ledger 
technology (DLT). 

In the past year, SIX finalized 
the acquisition of the European trade 
repository REGIS-TR and expanded 
numerous services in its international 
custody business. The workforce grew 
by 6.1% compared to 2021, to a total of 
3,910.5 employees in full-time 
equivalents by year end. This was 
mainly driven by the integration of 
REGIS-TR and the expansion of the 
central services in Warsaw. 

SIX continued to execute its growth 
strategy, focusing on increasing volumes 
on its infrastructures and expanding 
its international reach. SIX welcomed 
a total of 14 new companies on SIX 
Swiss Exchange, and a total of 18 new 
companies on BME Exchange in their 
different exchange market segments. 
The global presence of SIX in the 
custody markets was strengthened 
with an office opening in Singapore.

Further milestone projects included 
the expansion of the CONNEXOR 
reference data platform into Spanish 
markets, the consolidation of market 
data feeds and SWIFT systems in both 
home markets, and the settlement 
and custody of Swiss securities now 
possible via the Spanish central 
securities depository Iberclear. 

Realignment of Legal Structure 
SIX realigned its legal structure for 
further growth in the international 
capital market infrastructure business. 
The consolidation of the three business 
units Exchanges, Securities Services, 
and Financial Information in the newly 
formed SIX Exchange Group Ltd is 
effective as per 1 January 2023. The 
new structure will allow the exchange-
related businesses more flexibility to 
seize market opportunities and develop 
a strong profile internationally. At 
the same time, the Banking Services 
business unit continues to concentrate 
fully on providing critical solutions in 
the interest of the Swiss financial center. 
The new structure under the umbrella 
of SIX Group will allow both business 
areas to achieve sharper customer 
focus, forge additional synergies, 
and further improve margins. This 
realignment has no impact on the 
governance or management of SIX.

By realigning  
its legal structure, 
SIX has gained 
more flexibility  
to seize market 
opportunities. 
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Exchanges 

SIX Swiss Exchange 
Despite a strong start into the year, the 
trading turnover on SIX Swiss Exchange 
decreased to CHF 1,208.1 billion. The 
main reasons for the 5.7% difference 
compared to 2021 were reduced trading 
volumes and market share in the 
second half of the year. The Swiss blue 
chip index, SMI, closed 2022 at 10,729.4 
points, a drop of –16.7% compared to 
2021. There were four new listings on 
the main market of SIX Swiss Exchange 
during the past year: Talenthouse AG, 
EPIC Suisse AG, Kinarus Therapeutics 
Holding AG, and Accelleron Industries AG. 

In February 2022, the Sparks SME 
segment at SIX Swiss Exchange recorded 
its first listing. Xlife Sciences is a Swiss 
company that focuses on the development 
and commercialization of promising 
early-stage life sciences research projects. 
The second edition of the Sparks IPO 
Academy was launched in November 
2022, with a total of 14 companies. The 
program will run until the summer of 
2023 and aims to familiarize participating 
companies with the Sparks platform. 

The Shanghai Stock Exchange, the 
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and SIX 
Swiss Exchange officially launched their 
cooperation in the China-Switzerland 
Stock Connect program on 28 July 2022. 
Global Depository Receipts (GDRs) of 
nine companies were listed on SIX Swiss 
Exchange over the second half of 2022. 

In total, 14 companies chose to issue 
and list equity securities on SIX Swiss 
Exchange, with an aggregated 
transaction value of CHF  3.2 billion. In 
addition, already-listed companies were 
able to raise approximately CHF 7 billion 
in equity capital, highlighting how the 
exchange connects companies with the 
Swiss financial market and enables 
them to find financing options in 
challenging times.
 

In 2022, nine new product issuers 
joined SIX Swiss Exchange. These 
include structured product issuer 
Swissquote and investment fund issuer 
Cronos Finance as well as seven ETP 
issuers: Invesco, Fidelity, Helveteq, 
Hashdex, Pando Asset, Global X, and 
Leonteq.

The market share of SIX Swiss 
Exchange in Swiss equity trading 
reached an average of 67.8% compared 
to 75.6% in the same period of 2021. 
The market share in 2021 was higher 
compared to 2022 because in January 
2021 the market share amounted to 
100% due to non-equivalence of the SIX 
Swiss Exchange with European markets. 
With the arrival of six new trading 
participants – Redburn, Grammont 
Finance, CLSA, China International 
Capital Corporation, Virtu ITG Europe, 
and Hardcastle Trading – in 2022, 
the membership base of the SIX Swiss 
Exchange was further internationalized.

Compared to the previous year, 
the trading volume in Swiss franc 
bonds increased by 21.2% to around 
CHF 140.8 billion, while the number 
of transactions increased by 29.2%.

In 2022, around CHF 114.3 billion was 
raised via debt securities (bonds and 
money market papers), of which around 
CHF 109.7 billion was raised via bonds, 
compared to CHF 92.7 billion in 2021 
(+18.4%). In total, the bond segment 
recorded 393 new listings, of which 349 
were denominated in Swiss francs. 

The number of sustainable bonds 
listed and/or admitted to trading on 
SIX Swiss Exchange continued to grow 
in 2022, exceeding the 100 mark. 
This reflects global ESG trends and the 
growing importance of sustainable 
financing on the Swiss capital market. 
A total of 108 sustainable bonds with an 
aggregate nominal value of around 
CHF 28 billion are now tradable on SIX 
Swiss Exchange.
 

SIX welcomed 
a total of 14 new 
companies at  
SIX Swiss Exchange  
and in the  
China-Switzerland 
Stock-Connect 
program. 
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All participants of SIX Swiss 
Exchange benefit from fair and equal 
access to low-latency market data 
transmission. Since June 2022, the 
network has featured a connection 
between Frankfurt (Equinix FR2) and 
Bergamo (Aruba IT3). With this latest 
network expansion, participants of SIX 
Swiss Exchange benefit from the fastest 
possible technology for transmission of 
market data from Zurich to London, 
Frankfurt and Milan, from Frankfurt to 
Bergamo and Milan, as well as from 
London to Milan and – in cooperation 
with Nasdaq – to Stockholm.

In 2022, almost 1.5 million newly 
issued products were submitted to the 
scalable XML-based reference data 
platform CONNEXOR. As part of the 
integration of BME into SIX, the well-
established CONNEXOR service is also 
now available to issuers of warrants 
in Spain. CONNEXOR will streamline the 
warrant admission process and make it 
more efficient by forwarding reference 
data from issuers to BME. 

BME Exchange 
The leading index in Spain, IBEX-35, 
closed the year at 8,229.1 points, with 
a decrease of 5,6% compared to 2021. 
The equity trading turnover at BME 
Exchange decreased 4.2% from the 
previous year to EUR 362.5 billion in 
2022. The market share of BME 
Exchange in Spanish equity trading 
reached an average of 59.3% in 2022 
compared to 62.5% in 2021.
 

In total, 18 companies listed their 
shares through IPOs in Spain: 15 in 
the BME Growth segment, one in the 
Latin-American segment Latibex, and 
two on the main market. Atrys Health 
successfully moved from BME Growth, 
where it debuted a number of years ago, 
to the main market of BME Exchange in 
February. One new trading participant 
joined BME Exchange in 2022. 

The Pre-Market Environment, 
BME’s pre-IPO and acceleration 
program designed to incorporate 
promising young companies into 
the financial markets, comprised 
24 companies at the end of 2022. 

On the BME Fixed Income Market, 
the volume of Spanish public debt 
issued and admitted to trading in 2022 
reached EUR 252.2 million, 5.5% less 
than the previous year, in line with the 
reduction in the high rate of public 
sector issuance in previous years. In the 
regulated corporate debt market, the 
volume of Spanish private debt issued 
and admitted to trading reached 
EUR 114.0 million, with slight growth of 
close to 1.3%. In the Fixed Income 
Alternative Market (MARF), the volume 
of issues and admissions incorporated  
in 2022 reached EUR 13.8 million, a 
figure that represents a small reduction 
of 1.5% compared with the previous 
year. Over the year, 19 companies went 
to the MARF market for the first time 
to cover financing needs through the 
issuance of fixed income instruments. 
With sustained growth in its almost 
ten years of operation, MARF now plays 
a leading role in promoting the 
diversification of business financing 
sources in Spain.
 

18 new companies  
joined BME 
Exchanges,  
of which 15 were 
in the Growth  
segment. 
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In the fixed income markets and 
platforms managed by BME in 2022, 
28 green, social, and sustainable fixed 
income issues were also admitted to 
trading for a total amount of more than 
EUR 52.8 million, from both Spanish 
and foreign issuers.

On the Spanish derivatives market, 
MEFF, the total trading volume during 
2022 reached 33.1 million contracts, 
which is comparable to the previous 
year’s level. As a consequence of 
greater volatility and a better relative 
performance of the IBEX 35 compared 
to other international indices, the number 
of futures contracts traded on the IBEX 
35 increased by 3.5%, and the number 
of trades also increased by 15.1%. The 
negotiation of options on individual 
shares was close to 15.0 million contracts 
in 2022, an increase of 6.6%.

SIX Digital Exchange 
SIX continued to invest in SIX Digital 
Exchange (SDX), strengthening its 
pioneering role in building a market 
infrastructure for digital tokens based 
on distributed ledger technology (DLT). 
Over the past year, the focus has been 
on establishing a migration plan for the 
industry to adopt the new technology. 
A first step was to build a link between 
SDX and the existing SIX infrastructure 
in the third quarter of 2022. 

The new separate Web3-focused 
business line was established to provide 
an institutional-grade crypto and NFT 
custody platform and a non-custodial 
staking service for the institutional 
market. A first client has already signed 
for the service. While SIX was not 
adversely affected by the FTX downfall, 
the case of FTX highlights the importance 
of trusted counterparties, transparency, 
clarity, and judicious regulation. SDX is 
ideally positioned to capitalize on these 
market requirements. 

On 3 November, UBS issued a digital 
bond of CHF 375 million on SDX. The bond, 
which has a maturity of three years 
and a coupon of 2.33% per annum, is 
the world’s first digital bond issued 
by a banking institution on a regulated 
digital exchange. With dual listing  
on SDX and SIX Swiss Exchange, the 
bond is seamlessly traded and settled  
in both the digital and traditional 
markets and is therefore an example 
of how the industry can transition to 
new technology. 

Since October 2022, the 
collaboration between SDX, Berner 
Kantonalbank and daura enables 
the issuance, trading, and custody of 
tokenized shares for Swiss SMEs. 
SMEs can issue their shares digitally, 
in the form of uncertificated securities 
or blockchain-based securities in 
accordance with the Swiss Code of 
Obligations and make the shares 
seamlessly available for regulated 
bank custody. 

Securities Services 
Average deposit volumes decreased 
by 9.3% in Switzerland, and increased 
by 0.6% in Spain. The impact of volatility 
triggered by the war in Ukraine and 
the subsequent sanctions on Russia 
have caused several phases of very high 
processing requests for the Securities 
Services business unit. Thanks to a 
stable setup and an extraordinary 
team effort, SIX successfully managed 
the challenges without incurring any 
service disruptions. Downstream from 
trading, settlement transactions and 
deposit volumes were lower compared 
to the previous year.
 

Securities Services  
accounted for 
47.8% of the profit 
of SIX in 2022. 
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At the same time, expansion in 
the international custody business 
continued. Given Singapore’s importance 
as a global wealth management hub 
for Switzerland and other financial 
centers, the office opening in Singapore 
marks another major step forward in 
the international growth strategy of SIX. 

Since October, all clients of SIX 
with Spanish securities have been 
benefiting from preferred service 
provision in Spain, with direct 
communication channels across all 
services via Iberclear. SIX also 
introduced a new digital proxy voting 
service for shareholder meetings in Spain.

In the clearing business SIX partnered 
with LMAX Group, the leading operator 
of institutional exchanges for FX 
and cryptocurrency trading, to launch 
cash-settled, centrally cleared crypto-
asset futures (“crypto futures”). The 
partnership with ARTEX also began in 
2022. By becoming the world’s first 
art shares exchange, ARTEX will offer 
the opportunity to invest and trade in 
a new alternative asset class to the 
public. SIX will provide services relating 
to clearing and settlement.

Since March 2022, SIX has been the 
sole shareholder of REGIS-TR after the 
acquisition of Clearstream’s 50% stake. 
REGIS-TR is a leading European trade 
repository for reporting trades and 
transactions across multiple product 
classes and jurisdictions. It has a 
portfolio of over 2,000 European clients 
across more than 40 countries. This 
includes both financial institutions 
and other companies. REGIS-TR is an 
important complimentary business to 
the existing services of SIX.

In 2022, SIX also introduced an 
innovative Triparty Collateral Mana
gement (TCM) solution. The new Collateral 
Cockpit™ in combination with the 
TCM by SIX allows the monitoring of 

exposures and margin calls in real time. 
It simplifies processes in collateral 
management such as substitutions. 
All functionalities required to open, 
manage, and close collateral exposures 
can be controlled in the Collateral 
Cockpit™. With this tool, SIX offers a direct 
link to the major margin calculation 
agents and margin transfer utilities and 
ISDA-reviewed custodian documentation. 

Financial Information 
Within its Financial Information business 
unit SIX continued to invest in its core 
capabilities – reference, pricing, and 
corporate actions data – which are 
foundational to the value-added services 
it creates. Specific extensions through 
investments in real-time market data, 
indices, funds, ESG data and services, 
and ETFs added to the breadth and 
quality of cross-asset data sets covered 
globally. They were complemented 
by continued investments in data access 
and delivery channels.

2022 marked the launch of several 
ESG regulatory risk data services that 
were developed in the context of the EU 
Sustainable Finance Action Plan. SIX 
provides a range of fundamental ESG 
data sets to support the EU Taxonomy 
and Sustainable Finance Disclosure 
Regulation (SFDR) as well as services 
aligned with the European ESG Template 
(EET). SIX introduced new specialist 
data sets through its own data hub. 
SIX will continue to develop data and 
services products to enable its clients to 
make informed sustainable investments 
and finance decisions. The ESG 
offering will be expanded through the 
ecosystem for ESG data, services, 
and solutions, supported by strategic 
partnerships. As part of this ambition, 
SIX will focus on new technology-based 
solutions for ESG and regulatory 
risk data management and analysis.

Over CHF 
100 billion  
in AuM tied 
to the Swiss  
and Swiss ESG 
Indices mark 
a new high. 
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Regarding the index business,  
SIX had a successful year, with over 
CHF 100 billion in assets under 
management tied to the Swiss and 
Swiss ESG Indices. The growing 
volume demonstrates continued high 
client interest in ESG topics, as well 
as for SARON. In addition, over 20,000 
structured products were issued based 
on the Swiss Market Index SMI. 

On the digital assets side, SIX also 
continues to support and extend 
the SDX value proposition through 
the Financial Information business 
unit. SIX entered a partnership with 
CryptoCompare, a UK-based digital 
asset market data provider regulated 
by the UK Financial Conduct Authority. 
The partnership adds data from over 
300 trading venues worldwide to the 
platform. Building on the strengths 
of its regulatory data services, SIX also 
launched a new data service to support 
changes in the regulatory landscape 
relating to cryptocurrency.

SIX further developed its regulatory 
services by extending the coverage 
of its Sanctioned Securities Monitoring 
Service to ETFs. This capability, supported 
by Ultumus, allows clients to identify 
sanctioned securities within ETFs. Daily 
data updates show the impact of 
sanctions on individual securities within 
ETFs. Ultumus is a SIX company 
specializing in ETF and index data. 
Ultumus also completed the first 
creation order placed on its COSMOS 
platform. The COSMOS platform is 
designed to provide the market with 
a single interface to streamline the 
ETF creation and redemption process 
across different time zones and regions. 
This innovation builds on the strengths 
of SIX in the growing ETF segment.

Banking Services 
Through its Banking Services business 
unit SIX continues to drive the digitization 
of payments in Switzerland and beyond 
– in cooperation with the banks. At the 
same time, SIX provides stable, secure, 
high-performance infrastructure that 
constitutes the backbone of the Swiss 
economy.

The seamless and well-coordinated 
nationwide rollout of the QR-bill was 
a major achievement in the autumn  
of 2022. It was the result of careful 
preparation and a two-year transition 
phase. The vast project affected a 
large number of financial institutions, 
software firms, organizations, and 
industry associations, as well as Swiss 
companies and the population at 
large. SIX thus reduced the numerous 
invoicing methods to two modern, 
digital, and secure solutions: one is the 
QR-bill, which transmits all relevant 
invoicing information in a QR code, and 
the other is the fully digital eBill 
solution, which handles invoices directly 
in the customer’s online banking. 
By the end of the year, eBill achieved 
transaction growth of around 15% 
compared to the previous year and 
counted over 2.7 million registered 
users (+13%), representing half of Swiss 
households. The activation of the 
additional eBill Donations service will 
open up further opportunities for 
the eBill market in the coming years. 
With this extension, users will receive 
donation requests from their preferred 
non-profit organizations directly in 
their online banking and can donate 
with just one click.

In the summer of 2022, SIX started 
the productive operation of the Secure 
Swiss Finance Network (SSFN). The 
new gateway to the infrastructure 
services of SIX allows all connected 
users in the Swiss financial center 

Almost half of  
Swiss households 
use eBill in their 
online banking. 
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to communicate securely with SIX, 
other financial market infrastructures, 
and also with each other. The network 
is based on the SCION technology 
developed by the Swiss Federal Institute 
of Technology (ETH) in Zurich, thanks 
to which a new level of security, 
performance, and functionality in data 
exchange processes has been achieved, 
fostering the cyber resilience of the 
Swiss financial center. At the end of 
September 2024, SSFN will replace the 
current communication network, 
Finance IPNet. All infrastructure 
services of SIX currently accessible via 
Finance IPNet have been enabled 
to be accessible via SSFN connection.

During 2022, the number of 
interbank payments increased, with 
transaction numbers rising year- 
on-year in Swiss Interbank Clearing 
(SIC, +5.6%) and Euro Swiss Interbank 
Clearing (euroSIC, +9.5%). Over the 
next year, SIX will lay the foundations 
for instant payments in Switzerland, 
along similar lines to the SEPA Instant 
Credit Transfer scheme. From 2024 
onward, instant payments will be 
processed 24 hours a day, 7 days a 
week, 365 days a year, with the potential 
to bring about fundamental change  
in the payments landscape.

Debit card and ATM transactions 
recovered during the post-pandemic 
phase in 2022. The rollout of the new 
generation of debit cards that can be 
used in e-commerce was an important 
driver for additional growth. This 
business area, which involves a range 
of services including fraud handling, 
subsequently led to the replacement 
of around 50% of conventional Maestro 
cards. Last year marked the one-year 

anniversary of the corresponding 
proprietary mobile app (debiX+)  
for cards run by SIX. It was in use by 
280,000 users from 64 banks by  
year-end. In addition, the majority of 
Swiss banks established the mobile 
wallet payments option with Apple and 
Google Pay, which boosted the usage 
of debit cards even further. SIX registered 
yearly growth of more than 10% in debit 
card transactions, reaching 1.2 billion at 
the end of 2022. The year also marked 
the start of the implementation of Near 
Field Communication (NFC) as a 
new ATM functionality. The technology, 
which is being rolled out gradually, 
allows contactless processes while 
using ATMs. As part of its digitalization 
effort, SIX succeeded in attracting more 
Swiss banks for its cardless ATM 
solution, whereby bank customers can 
both withdraw and deposit cash by 
scanning a QR code. Another milestone 
was reached in 2022 when SIX began 
operating ATMs of Swiss banks as part  
of “Cash as a Service”, with banks fully 
outsourcing ATM operations to SIX.

With its bLink API platform, SIX is 
also making a substantial contribution 
to the successful development of open 
banking in the Swiss financial center. 
In 2022, SIX improved end-to-end 
processes for both Swiss banks and 
FinTechs to enable more scalable 
connections via the platform, while 
continuing to engage with potential 
new participants in a mutually 
beneficial way. As a result, bLink will 
double its member base by early 
2023 to a total of over 10 banks and 
20 FinTechs, thereby establishing 
itself as the leading open banking 
platform in Switzerland. �■
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SDX: Finger on the Pulse of 
Digital Assets
SIX Digital Exchange (SDX) forms the infrastructure for an ecosystem that comprises 
more than digital securities. In 2022, SIX extended the field of activity of SDX to digital assets 
that are traded outside the regulated framework.

In 2018, SIX recognized the 
revolutionary nature of 
distributed ledger technology 
(DLT)1 and started its journey  
with SIX Digital Exchange (SDX). 
As the name suggests, the goal 
was to build a fully integrated 
platform for the issuance, trading, 
settlement, and custody of digital 
assets – and to do so in a secure, 
regulated environment. It turned 
out to be a success. Since 2021, 
SIX has had equivalent licenses 
for SDX as a trading platform 
and central security depository 
as it has for its traditional 

infrastructure. But today SDX is 
far more than a digital exchange. 
SDX is an infrastructure that 
forms the foundation of an entire 
ecosystem for digital assets.

Digital Securities and 
Private Blockchains
Digital asset classes are based 
on DLT, also known as blockchain.2 
Implemented as a private block­
chain3 on SDX, it serves to settle 
digital securities efficiently. 
Among other things, DLT allows 
for the “atomic settlement”4  
of existing asset classes.  

After issuing the world’s first 
digital bond on a regulated 
infrastructure in 2021, the first 
digital share, F10, followed in  
mid-2022. Berner Kantonalbank 
joined SDX in the fall. It uses  
the new infrastructure to enable 
SMEs to digitally issue private 
participation certificates.

And 2022 also brought the next 
digital bond on SDX, the first 
in the world to be issued by a 
bank. In that instance, UBS 
took advantage of the fact that there 
was a connection between SDX 
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and SIX SIS, the traditional central 
securities depository system of 
SIX. As the issuer of a digital bond, 
UBS can thus reach the investor 
community in both worlds 
and receive full liquidity. The 
bond can be traded both on 
SDX and on SIX Swiss Exchange, 
with settlement either on SDX – 
as atomic settlement – or via SIX 

SIS (with T+2). Over-the-counter 
trading outside the stock exchange 
is also possible.

Over the course of 2023, it will 
also become possible the other 
way around: Securities traded on 
SIX Swiss Exchange will then be 
able to be traded and settled on 
SDX, too – with all of its benefits.

Cryptocurrencies and 
Public Blockchains
In 2022 we also saw the launch of 
SDX Web3 services. The term 
Web35 describes the next generation 
of the Internet that is based on 
the decentralized nature of the 
blockchain technology. Typically 
Web3 relies on unregulated 
public blockchains.6   Behind this 

DISTRIBUTED LEDGER TECHNOLOGY

PRIVATE BLOCKCHAIN

DIGITAL SECURITIES WEB3 SERVICES
(cryptocurrencies, etc.)

NON-TRADITIONAL ASSETS

PUBLIC BLOCKCHAIN
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is the same idea that underlies 
decentralized finance, or DeFi7  
for short.

SDX Web3 services are  
aimed at institutional clients 
and initially focus on the key 
applications in Web3, which 
include cryptocurrencies. The 
first offers therefore include  
a corresponding custody service 
for the two most important 
cryptocurrencies. Since October 
2022, this has guaranteed secure, 
cost-effective storage and transfer 
of Bitcoin and Ether. If requested 
by clients, further crytpo
currencies may be added.

It has been possible for institutional 
clients to stake Ether on SDX since 
back in May 2022. Staking means 
that an owner of cryptocurrencies 
makes them available for a certain 
period of time in exchange for a 
reward to support the operation of 
a blockchain.

Additional Types of Assets 
Becoming Tradable
Both the digital securities in 
the fully regulated offering from 
SDX and the cryptocurrencies 
as they appear in connection with 
the SDX Web3 services can be 
described as tokens.8 The latter 
are a form of payment token. 

In the case of the digital securities, 
they are asset tokens. DLT will in 
future make it possible to create 
asset tokens based on assets that 
previously could not be traded on 
a stock exchange, or only with great 
difficulty, such as real estate, carbon 
offsets, and art. SDX is also well 
positioned for the category of such 
non-traditional assets, regardless 
of whether these are established 
in a regulated or an unregulated 
environment.

Glossary

1.	Distributed ledger technology  
(DLT) uses independently operating 
computers (nodes) to save, share, 
and synchronize information on 
a decentralized basis. This is 
a fundamental difference from 
traditional databases that keep 
information in a central location.

2.	The blockchain is a type of DLT. 
However, the two terms are often 
used synonymously. The “chain” 
arises from an encrypted sequence 
of data blocks that have been verified 
and validated by a decentralized 
network. 

3.	A private blockchain is a network 
that is closed to the external world. This 
means that exclusively previously 
activated participants can perform 
actions.

4.	With DLT, the trading and settlement of 
tokenized assets are no longer separate 
steps. This is known as atomic 
settlement. Settlement takes place 
immediately, not with a two-day 
interval (T+2) like on conventional 
stock exchanges. 

5.	Web3 refers to the latest iteration of 
the internet, which is generally 
based on open public blockchains, 
and where control of the data 
remains with the users. Security and 
trust in the transactions are not 
guaranteed centrally, but instead by 
the DLT. DeFi describes the form of 
Web3 for finance.

6.	A public blockchain is the opposite 
of a private blockchain. Anyone can 
participate in the open network and 
access data without restrictions.

7.	DeFi stands for decentralized finance, 
in which – typically for Web3 –  
participants interact with smart 
contracts to execute transactions. 
Smart contracts run on the blockchain 
and can perform similar functions to 
banks and exchanges, such as lending 
or trading.

8.	It is not just cryptocurrencies that 
are referred to as tokens (payment 
tokens), but also digital securities 
(asset tokens), among other things. 
These tokens document ownership 
based on the DLT property rights in 
the digital world. Tokenization makes 
everything tradable, including real 
estate, carbon offsets, and art.
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The New Debit Cards: 
The Number One Means of Payment 
and a Promise for the Future
Payments is one of the fastest-growing business areas in banking. Nowhere can this be 
seen more clearly in Switzerland than when it comes to debit cards. The additional functions 
that come with the latest generation of cards promise great potential for the future.

Debit cards have overtaken cash 
as the most popular means of 
payment in Switzerland and have 
been the preferred means of 
payment since 2021. Annual 
transaction growth rates of over 
10% have been a reality for 
many years, making debit card 
processing an important 
cornerstone for the overall 
business growth of SIX.

This upturn was made possible 
partly by the new debit cards from 
SIX. In 2018, SIX decided to add 
Visa Debit and Debit Mastercard to 
its portfolio, thus bringing debit 

cards as a means of payment 
forward into the digital age. Their 
predecessors, V PAY and Maestro, 
could only be used by consumers 
for cash withdrawals and shopping 
in stores. And this was usually 
possible only in Switzerland and 
Europe.

Paying with an Electronic Wallet
By contrast, Visa Debit and Debit 
Mastercard allow for mobile 
payments where the debit card 
is saved in an electronic wallet 
on the cardholder’s smartphone 
(such as Apple Pay or Samsung 
Pay). Consumers can use their 

debit cards in e-commerce, too. 
This means that online shopping, 
hotel bookings, and rental car 
reservations, for example, are 
now possible with debit cards as 
well. 

In cooperation with SIX, the banks 
have already exchanged more 
than half of the over 8 million 
V PAY and Maestro debit cards 
that were in circulation. For cost 
reasons, the banks are not 
renewing their card portfolios all 
at once, but rather annually and 
in tranches. It normally takes 
around three years for the entire 

Visa Debit and Debit Mastercard cover the full scope of services 
offered by previous debit cards...

... can be used in 
e-commerce.

 ... can be stored as tokens in 
encrypted form with online retailers 

(such as Netflix or Spotify).

... facilitate digital use cases 
via electronic wallets (such as 
Apple Pay or Samsung Pay).

+ + +
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portfolio to be replaced. For the 
new debit cards, SIX has a market 
share of over 80%.

Staying Close to Customers 
with Debit Cards
SIX aims to further strengthen 
the position of debit cards as 
the number one means of payment, 
keeping them top of wallet. In 
this way, banks can continue  
to hold their own when competing  
for the digital customer interface 
for mobile payments and in 
e-commerce – and can do so 
globally. SIX can keep supporting 
targeted growth by way 
of additional transactions.

The Debit Card App
The future customer journey will 
be complex and multi-faceted. A 
wide range of physical and digital 
interactions with consumers will 
be crucial in the years to come. The 
debiX+ app (see box) from SIX, which 
celebrated its first anniversary 
and its 285,000th download in the 
year under review, will play a 
central role here.

debiX+, the App that Keeps Getting Better

In November 2022, a year after its launch, 
the debiX+ app had 285,000 users, 
who were customers of 66 different 
banks in Switzerland and Liechtenstein. 
It already contained more than a 
dozen features at that time. What 
started with 3D Secure – for approving 
online purchases – now also comprises 
transaction notifications, for example, 
and an overview of all the online services 
where the digital counterpart to the 
debit card is saved, including the option 
to block or delete it directly in the app.

debiX+ is modular, allowing SIX to develop 
and activate additional features over 
time. Every three months, there is an 
update to further improve the user 

experience. SIX also meets with the 
banks that offer the white-label app –  
each with their own look and feel –  
at three-month intervals to exchange 
ideas. The focus here is on their needs 
and the needs of the target group. There 
are practically no limits to the number 
and characteristics of new features.

Debit & Mobile Services: 
a Growing Ecosystem
Together with the banks, SIX is 
continuously expanding the Debit & 
Mobile Services ecosystem. Why 
not also put eBill services or other 
services from SIX in the app? Or provide 
customers with new startup services 
in debiX+ quickly and easily via bLink?
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Future of Finance Study: 
a Positive Outlook
In a time of economic and geopolitical uncertainty, the majority of the financial industry 
remains confident. Many of the reasons for the expected growth cited in the Future of 
Finance Study are in line with the business model of SIX.

Everywhere around the world, 
business leaders in finance expect 
the overall economic environment 
to improve over the next 12 months. 
This is one of the key findings 
in the Future of Finance Study by 
SIX. Despite the current inflationary 
pressures and the low economic 
growth, the vast majority of them 
believe they are well positioned 
for the future.

During the global Future of 
Finance study, in August 2022  
SIX surveyed executives across 
297 international financial 
institutions. The respondents 
work in asset management, wealth 
management, asset servicing, 
banking services, retail banking, 
and investment banking. 

As to what is driving the growth 
expectations, the adoption of new 
business models is one of the most 
commonly given reasons, as 
well as the internal efficiency 
gains generated by digitalization. 
Advanced data & analytics are 
also recognized as a major driver 
for expansion. Other drivers for 
growth are new and alternative 
asset classes, including crypto. For 
almost all of the respondents, 
distributed ledger technology will 
be important in the next three 
years – for just under a third of 
them, it will be critical. 

ESG Gains Traction
Emerging sustainability concerns 
are also seen as opportunities 
to be grasped rather than the 

imposition of unwanted regulation. 
When it comes to ESG-related 
data products, the biggest data 
gaps prevalent in the market 
relate to alternative ESG data sets, 
aggregated ESG data sets, and 
the raw, underlying data points. 

The biggest drag on growth 
is likely to be the industry’s 
continuing skills shortage. 
Financial institutions are 
looking at more flexible working 
models that also include hybrid 
and remote working, but also 
strategic partnerships that 
complement the existing in-house 
capabilities.

Download the study:  
six-group.com/future-finance-study

BIGGEST DRIVERS

BIGGEST CHALLENGES

23%
Inflation 
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23%
IT Security 

& Cyber 
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25%
Geopolitical 

Uncertainties

Adopting 
New Business 

Models

31%
(Internal Efficiencies 

through Digitalization)

Digital 
Transformation

31%

(e.g. Digital Assets, Crypto-
currencies, Private Markets)

New & Alternative 
Asset Classes

29%28%
Growing Value 

of Data & 
Analytics

http://www.six-group.com/future-finance-study
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Continuous Execution of the 
SIX Growth Strategy
Financial markets are evolving. New technologies allow for ground-breaking innovations 
that will lead toward the transformation of the entire financial market infrastructure 
landscape. SIX is one of the very few companies acting at the intersection of data, 
technology, and infrastructure. Innovation, continuous investment, and margin accretive 
growth are indispensable for SIX to stay competitive and serve the financial centers in the 
long term. 

SIX is one of the largest financial 
market infrastructure companies 
in Europe. Our purpose is to drive 
the competitiveness of our customers 
in both of our home markets – 
Switzerland and Spain – as well as 
globally.

Besides our customers in the 
financial industry, our services also 
benefit the wider economy and society 
as a whole. Accordingly, SIX pursues a 
holistic set of targets, encompassing 
all relevant stakeholders:

ȫȫ Customers: Offer first-class 
innovative products and services

ȫȫ Financial Center and Economy: 
Maintain a secure, stable, 
and efficient infrastructure for 
traditional & digital assets

ȫȫ People and Environment: 
Enable a sustainable future 

ȫȫ Shareholders: Serve as a vehicle 
for growth and value creation 

To achieve these targets in a rapidly 
changing and increasingly global 
environment, SIX builds on its unique 
business portfolio covering capital 
raising, trading, post-trade, data, and 
banking infrastructure services. The 
diversified business portfolio puts SIX 
in a competitive position, allowing 
the company to tap into the growth 
opportunities along the entire 
securities value chain that add most 
value to our customers.

Seizing these growth opportunities 
while at the same time ensuring 
the stability and efficiency of our 
infrastructure requires continuous 
investment. SIX itself must remain 
attractive for investors in order to 
finance this investment going forward. 
The diligent execution of its ambitious 
growth strategy ensures that SIX realizes 
economies of scale and reaches its 
financial targets.

With recovery from the global 
pandemic, war in Ukraine, and muted 
macro-economic backdrop emerging, 
2022 has been a challenging year. 
Despite these challenges, SIX remains 
committed to its growth strategy. In 
the current strategy cycle, SIX aims for 
further growth alongside a gradual 
increase of its profitability. Revenue 
growth of > 4% p.a. and strict cost 
discipline will go hand in hand to 
achieve this target.

The key elements of the SIX growth 
strategy are:

ȫȫ further strengthening the capital-
raising ecosystems in Switzerland 
and Spain, especially for SMEs

ȫȫ fully leveraging capabilities and 
realizing synergies after the 
successful integration of the 
Spanish units

 

Besides its 
customers  
in the financial 
industry,  the 
services  of SIX 
also benefit  
the  wider economy 
and society  as  
a whole.
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ȫȫ growing the clearing and custody 
business by extending our offering 
and increasing our global footprint, 
for example by offering cross-border 
custody solutions in Asia and the US

ȫȫ extending the offering in the digital 
asset space and loading liquidity 
onto the platform around SIX Digital 
Exchange

ȫȫ expanding our attractive market 
position in the financial information 
space by pursuing various growth 
opportunities around tax and 
regulatory services, funds/ETFs, 
and ESG 

ȫȫ accelerating the current growth 
path in the banking services space 
by various measures, such as 
expanding our digitized billing 
offering (eBill) and growing our 
open banking ecosystem (bLink)

As in past years, and given the rapidly 
evolving state of industry consolidation, 
seizing inorganic growth opportunities 
will remain an integral part of our growth 
strategy. 

One important element to support 
the growth strategy of SIX is the 

realignment of the legal structure. 
In 2022, SIX consolidated the 
exchange-related businesses in the new 
SIX Exchange Group entity, providing 
flexibility to seize market opportunities 
and develop a strong international 
profile. SIX Exchange Group and SIX 
Banking Services will continue to 
operate under the SIX Group holding 
umbrella, and the ownership structure 
as well as management structures of 
SIX remain unchanged.

The systemically important role 
of SIX in the Swiss and Spanish financial 
centers brings with it a responsibility 
with regard to facilitating sustainable 
finance. Financial markets play a 
pivotal role in the transition to a greener, 
more sustainable economy by enabling 
the mobilization and reallocation of 
capital necessary for this transformation. 
In 2022, SIX started to fully integrate 
sustainability into its overall strategic 
thinking with the launch of a sustainability 
strategy. Being at the heart of the 
capital market ecosystem, SIX will 
continue to actively support the 
transformation of Swiss and Spanish 
financial centers. �■ 

Additional information 
can be found at  
six-group.com

SIX Growth Strategy to ensure sufficient financing for necessary investments for scalable business success

First-class innovative products and 
services. 

SIX provides a unique portfolio of 
products and services in a highly dynamic 
market environment. Our services and 
innovations enable our clients to excel in 
their core business, reduce their 
operational costs, and create value. 

CUSTOMERS

Secure, stable, and efficient infrastruc- 
ture for conventional & digital assets. 

As a financial market infrastructure, SIX 
plays a systemically important role in  
Swiss and Spanish financial centers. SIX is 
committed to the stability and efficient 
running of the financial markets – today 
and tomorrow.

FINANCIAL CENTER & ECONOMY

Enabling a sustainable future. 

As an FMI, SIX plays a pivotal role in the 
transition to a greener, more sustainable 
economy by enabling the mobilization 
and reallocation of capital necessary for 
this transformation. 

PEOPLE & ENVIRONMENT

Vehicle for growth and value creation. 

The consolidating global capital markets 
infrastructure and financial information 
landscape remains highly attractive. The 
diversified business portfolio of SIX allows 
the company to tap into the most 
promising growth opportunities within 
that field, creating an attractive value 
proposition for shareholder value creation.

SHAREHOLDERS

PURPOSE

TARGETS

STRATEGY

We strengthen the competitiveness of our clients in our home markets and on international financial markets
through first-class services and innovations.

http://www.six-group.com
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Sustainability at SIX 
In the past year, SIX launched its first group-wide sustainability strategy and has made 
great initial progress. The strategy focuses on the areas in which SIX can achieve the 
greatest possible impact. The further implementation of the strategy will be led by the 
new Head Sustainability. 

To define its first group-wide sustai
nability strategy, SIX performed an 
extensive double-materiality analysis, 
which resulted in a list of 17 material 
topics. These were grouped into three 
areas, reflecting the roles of SIX as a 
financial market infrastructure provider, 
as a product supplier and service 
provider, and as a good corporate 
citizen. For an overview of the sus
tainability strategy and the objectives, 
please refer to the next page. 

Net-Zero Target 
Decisive action to limit global warming 
to a minimum and thus mitigate the 
impact of climate change is one of the 
biggest challenges for the global 
community. SIX supports the Paris 
Climate Agreement and is committed 
to protecting the climate and fostering 
the transition to a low-carbon and 
climate-resilient economy. In 2022, 
SIX joined the Science Based Target 
initiative (SBTi) and committed to a 
net-zero target by 2050. SIX will now 
work on further professionalizing the 
framework for the collection and 
calculation of environmental data 
and set up interim reduction targets 
as part of the overall climate strategy.

Financial Information Business Unit 
ESG Product Roadmap
In 2022, the Financial Information 
business unit developed a new ESG 
product strategy and roadmap through 
2025, and launched a range of new 
ESG and regulatory risk-related data 
sets and services. With its new ESG 
product roadmap, SIX addresses the high 
market demand for fundamental and 
specialist ESG data across asset classes 
and themes. 

Sustainability Platform for 
Internal Communication 
In view of the growing importance of 
sustainability topics and the need to 
integrate these into existing business 
routines and processes, SIX has provided 
its employees with training and education 
on sustainability. In 2022, SIX rolled 
out a new intranet platform for internal 
communications on sustainability topics, 
which is continuously being enhanced 
with new training offers.

New Role Head Sustainability 
As a point of reference and expertise 
on corporate sustainability, SIX 
decided to establish the new position 
of Head Sustainability. The role 
reports directly to the Executive Board 
sponsor for sustainability topics. 
The Head Sustainability has been 
leading the sustainability operations 
of SIX since January 2023. 

The need for 
information 
on sustainability 
topics among 
internal and 
external 
stakeholders 
of SIX is 
constantly 
increasing.
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SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY
SIX plays a central role as a financial market infrastructure and as  
a solutions provider. Our position at the interface between financial markets and business 
enables us to help shape the transition to a sustainable economy.

SIX AS A FINANCIAL MARKET INFRASTRUCTURE
Simplify and support disclosure for issuers: SIX plays an integral part in harmonizing 
sustainability disclosure standards across key jurisdictions.

Increase transparency for investors: SIX creates transparency around ESG factors related to 
financial products and issuers.

SIX AS AN ESG PRODUCT PROVIDER
Help navigate the jungle: SIX provides the tools to navigate the rapidly changing 
sustainability landscape by tackling regulatory challenges and enhancing core offerings.

Move up the financial value chain: SIX creates new products and services supporting 
sustainability goals, moving up the financial value chain.

Build platforms for sustainability: SIX builds platforms that enable others to work 
towards their sustainability targets.

SIX AS A GOOD CORPORATE CITIZEN
Be an attractive employer: SIX invests in an increasingly diverse workforce and an 
inclusive working environment, to retain and grow attractiveness as an employer.

Reduce the carbon footprint: SIX is preparing to reach net zero by 2050. 

Remain a trusted partner: SIX ensures credibility and compliance, aligning with evolving 
ESG standards and regulations (e.g., SBTi membership).

Contribute to financial literacy: SIX promotes financial literacy and knowledge, 
supporting the contribution to a stable economy.

Financial Market 
Infrastructure

SIX leverages its listing,  
trading, clearing,  
settlement, and  
custody infra- 
structure for  
sustainability,  
supporting the  
transition to a  
more sustainable  
economy.

ESG 
Product Provider

SIX serves  
clients and  
partners in the 
profitable,  
sustainable, and 
compliant  
operation of their 
businesses. 

Good Corporate Citizen
SIX is an attractive employer and trusted partner, 

making a positive contribution to society.
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
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SIX Ownership Structure
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Management Structure 
and Shareholders
SIX Group Ltd (SIX) is an unlisted public limited company based in Zurich. 

Shareholders and Equity Structure
SIX is owned by 120 domestic and 
international financial institutions, 
which are also the main users of its 
services. The shares are widely distributed, 
i. e. no single owner or bank category 
has an absolute majority. All shareholders 
are bound by a shareholders’ agreement. 
The composition of the Board of Directors 
and the appointment and election of new 
members is governed by the shareholders’ 
agreement. The composition primarily 
aims at the proportional representation 
of the various shareholder groups and 
thus reflects the shareholder structure. 
In addition, independent experts from 
the financial sector and representatives 
of issuers may be elected to the Board  
of Directors. Independent experts are 
entitled to a limited number of seats.

The share capital of SIX amounts 
to CHF 19,521,905 and is divided 
into 19,521,905 registered shares with 
a par value of CHF 1.00 each. Of this 

amount, 607,864 (3.1%) are owned by 
SIX (treasury shares). The transfer 
of registered shares is restricted by 
the articles of association. 

The transfer of shares must be 
approved by the Board of Directors. 
Subject to Art. 685b Para. 4 of the 
Swiss Code of Obligations (CO), approval 
may be refused for significant reasons,  
as mentioned in the articles of association. 
A resolution by the general meeting, 
backed by at least two-thirds of the 
represented votes and an absolute 
majority of the par value of represented 
shares, is required along with a 
statutory quorum pursuant to Art. 704 
Para. 1 CO in order to:
1.	� ease or lift the transfer restriction 

on registered shares
2.	� convert registered shares 

into bearer shares 
3.	� dissolve the corporation 

through liquidation
4.	� amend this provision. � ■

More information on the corporate 
governance of SIX is available at  
six-group.com 

Equity structure as 
of 31 December 2022

Ordinary share capital

CHF 19,521,905
Registered shares 
(par value CHF 1.00)

19,521,905
Security number

3768228

http://www.six-group.com
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Internal Organization 
and Competency Rules
As the company’s highest governing body, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
supervising the Executive Board. The tasks and competencies of the Board of Directors 
and its committees and of the Executive Board as corporate bodies of SIX are 
defined in the articles of association, the rules of organization, and the competency rules.

The Board of Directors is organized 
into three committees to which it can 
delegate tasks and competencies: the 
Audit Committee, the Nomination & 
Compensation Committee, and the Risk 
Committee. Insofar as the committees 
do not have decision-making authority, 
they assist the Board of Directors in an 
advisory, monitoring, and initiating 
capacity, whereby their resolutions then 
have the character of recommendations.

The committees of the Board of 
Directors accept reports pertaining to 
their sphere of responsibility from 
the Executive Board and supervise the 
relevant operating business, in par
ticular with regard to compliance with 
the articles of association, regulations, 
and directives. Meetings of the Board 
of Directors and committees generally 
last between two hours and a day. 
The Chair of the Board of Directors 
is invited to attend all committee 
meetings as a guest. 

The CEO and CFO are present at 
all meetings of the Board of Directors. 
The chairs of the committees decide 
whether additional members of 
the Executive Board or other manage
ment staff are to participate, depending 
on the agenda. If deemed necessary, 
representatives of the external auditors 
participate in the Board of Directors’ 
discussion of their reports.

The Chairman of the Board of 
Directors, or the chairs of the committees, 
set the agenda for meetings. Debates and 
resolutions are recorded in the minutes. 
The minutes of the committees are sent 

to all members of the Board of Directors. 
The committee chairs also deliver a 
verbal report on important events 
and resolutions at every Board of 
Directors meeting. In the year under 
review, the Board of Directors 
convened on seven occasions, one of 
which was a one-day strategy seminar.

Audit Committee (AC)
The AC consists of three to four non-
executive members of the Board 
of Directors. The activities of the AC 
are stipulated by the law, the appli
cable FINMA Circulars, the articles of 
association, the rules of organization 
(including the competency rules), and 
the regulations of the AC.

The AC assumes tasks relating in 
particular to accounting and financial 
reporting, the internal controlling system, 
the external auditors, and the Internal 
Audit department. AC meetings are 
attended by the CEO, the CFO, and 
representatives of the internal and 
external auditors. Seven meetings were 
held in the year under review.

Nomination & Compensation 
Committee (NCC)
The NCC consists of three to four non- 
executive members of the Board of 
Directors. The activities of the NCC 
are stipulated by the law, the articles 
of association, the rules of organization 
(including the competency rules), and 
the regulations of the NCC.

The NCC prepares the groundwork 
for all decisions on important personnel  
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and related organizational issues at the 
Executive Board and senior manage
ment level for submission to the Board 
of Directors. This includes all issues 
pertaining to remuneration. NCC meet
ings are attended by the CEO and the 
Chief Human Resources Officer. A total 
of seven meetings were held in the year 
under review.

Risk Committee (RC)
The RC consists of three to four non- 
executive members of the Board 
of Directors. The activities of the RC 
are stipulated by the law, the articles 
of association, the rules of organization 
(including the competency rules),  
and the regulations of the RC.

The RC assumes the duties of  
the Board of Directors in respect of 
risk management in accordance 
with the risk policy of SIX. RC meetings 
are attended by the CEO, the CFO, 
and the CRO. A total of six meetings 
were held in the year under review. 

Internal Audit
Internal Audit reports directly to 
the Audit Committee in functional 
terms and the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors in administrative 
terms. It supports the Board of 
Directors in carrying out its legal 
supervisory and controlling tasks 
and executes the audit tasks assigned 
to it. It has an unrestricted right of 
audit within SIX and all legal entities. 
It has the right to inspect all business 
documents at any time. Internal Audit 
coordinates its activities with the 
external auditors and those responsible 
for compliance and risk controlling.

Information and Supervisory 
Tools Regarding Executive Board
SIX has a fully developed management 
information system (MIS) that supports 
the Board of Directors in performing 
its supervisory duties and monitoring 
the powers assigned to the Executive 
Board. A comprehensive interim statement 
containing budget and year-on-year 

comparisons is submitted to the 
Board of Directors each quarter.

The Chairman of the Board of 
Directors receives the minutes 
of the Executive Board meetings for 
inspection.

Risk Management and Compliance
The Board of Directors is informed 
about the risk situation on a regular 
basis. The Group has an internal 
control system (ICS) consisting of 
regulations, internal directives, and 
corresponding measures that serve 
to ensure that business operations 
are conducted properly. 

A corresponding compliance 
program also ensures that statutory 
and regulatory requirements are 
met. The Risk Committee is informed 
about compliance activities on a 
yearly basis.

Remuneration
At the request of the Nomination & 
Compensation Committee, the Board 
of Directors defines remuneration 
guidelines. The Chairman and members 
of the Board of Directors receive a fixed 
salary. The members of the Executive 
Board receive a fixed basic salary as 
well as variable remuneration in the 
form of a cash payment. The latter is 
dependent on company earnings, and 
qualitative targets met according to 
the key performance indicators. In order 
to gear corporate governance to longer-
term objectives and make it more 
sustainable, part of the variable 
remuneration of Executive Board 
members takes the form of a long-term 
incentive plan, which pays out after 
three years (cliff vesting), provided 
that the predefined quantitative and 
qualitative objectives have been met. 
This ensures that the interests of 
the owners and the Executive Board 
are aligned over an extended period. 

In the year under review, nine 
members of the Executive Board and 
ten members of the Board of Directors 
were paid a total of CHF 12.0 million. 
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This includes those members of the 
Board of Directors or the Executive 
Board who either left or joined during 
the course of the financial year. Along 
with the basic and variable remuner
ation, the amount also covers payments 
or benefits in kind that are standard 
in the industry. Social benefits are 
not included in the amount. SIX 
does not grant loans of any kind to 
its employees or corporate bodies. 

Auditors
Ernst & Young Ltd was appointed as 
auditor of SIX Group Ltd on 1 January 
2008. The auditor in charge is Bruno 
Patusi, accredited audit expert. Prof. 
Dr. Andreas Blumer, accredited audit 
expert, assumes the role of lead auditor 
recognized by FINMA. The Board of 
Directors is responsible for supervising 
and controlling the external auditors 
and Group Auditors. It also handles the 
internal and external auditors’ reports, 
and is supported in this task by the 

Audit Committee (AC). The AC regularly 
receives and processes reports from 
representatives of the external auditors 
or Group Auditors.

Remuneration of the Auditors		
	
CHF 	 2022	

 	 	

 	 	

Auditing services Ernst & Young 	 2,857,791	

Audit-related services 	 661,371	

Advisory services 	 342,989	

Total 	 3,862,151	

Information Policy
Up-to-date information is available 
at six-group.com. Calls to attend 
meetings and communications to 
the shareholders are sent by letter  
to the addresses recorded in the share 
register. Subject to legal requirements, 
announcements to creditors are 
published in the Swiss Official  
Gazette of  Commerce. SIX publishes  
its business results semiannually. � ■

More information and latest news 
at six-group.com

http://www.six-group.com
http://www.six-group.com
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Dr Thomas Wellauer 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Swiss citizen, member of the 
Board of Directors since 15 March 2020, 
elected until 2023. 

Herbert J. Scheidt
Vice Chair of the Board of Directors
German and Swiss citizen, 
member of the Board since 
1 January 2008, elected until 2023.

Dr Jürg Bühlmann
Swiss citizen, member of the Board 
since 20 May 2016, elected until 2023. 

Dr Jürg Gutzwiller
Swiss citizen, member of the Board since 
11 December 2019, elected until 2023. 

Lorenz von Habsburg Lothringen
Austrian and Belgian citizen, 
member of the Board since 16 May 2014, 
elected until 2023. 

André Helfenstein
Swiss and British citizen, 
member of the Board since 11 May 2020, 
elected until 2023. 

David Jiménez-Blanco 
Carrillo de Albornoz
Spanish citizen, member of the Board 
since 1 November 2020, elected until 2023.

Andy Kollegger
Swiss citizen, member of the Board 
since 26 April 2021, elected until 2023.

Søren Mose
Danish and Swiss citizen, 
member of the Board since 16 May 2014, 
elected until 2023. 

Belén Romana García
Spanish citizen, member of the Board 
since 1  November 2020, elected until 
2023. �■ ￼

Board of Directors as of 31 December 2022

Lorenz von Habsburg 
Lothringen

Dr Jürg Bühlmann
Chair

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Herbert J. Scheidt
Chair Dr Thomas Wellauer Belén Romana García 

NOMINATION & COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Dr Jürg Gutzwiller André Helfenstein Andy Kollegger  

RISK COMMITTEE

David Jiménez-Blanco 
Carrillo de Albornoz 

Søren Mose
Chair

six-group.com/board-of-directors

http://www.six-group.com/board-of-directors
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Executive Board and Organizational Structure as of 
31 December 2022

Jos Dijsselhof
Chief Executive Officer 
Dutch citizen, member of the 
Executive Board since 1 January 2018. 

Daniel Schmucki
Chief Financial Officer
Swiss citizen, member of the 
Executive Board since 1 March 2017. 

Dr Jochen Dürr
Chief Risk Officer
German citizen, member of the 
Executive Board since 1 March 2018. 

Christoph Landis
Head IT
Swiss citizen, member of the 
Executive Board since 12 November 2015. 

Thomas Zeeb
Head Exchanges
Swiss and Canadian citizen, member of 
the Executive Board since 1 October 2008. 

Javier Hernani Burzaco
Head Securities Services
Spanish citizen, member of the 
Executive Board since 24 June 2020. 

Marion Leslie
Head Financial Information
British and Australian citizen, member of 
the Executive Board since 1 January 2020. 

Dieter Goerdten
Head Banking Services
German citizen, member of the 
Executive Board since 1 December 2022.  

→  Dieter Goerdten has been heading  
the Banking Services business unit  
since 1 December 2022. He succeeds 
Marco Menotti, who left SIX as of the  
end of July 2022. 
 
 six-group.com/executive-board

From left to right: Javier Hernani Burzaco, Dieter Goerdten, Dr Jochen Dürr, Marion Leslie, Jos Dijsselhof, Dr Hannah Zaunmüller (Extended Executive Board), 
Dr Roger Fankhauser (Extended Executive Board), Daniel Schmucki, Christoph Landis, Dr Alain Bichsel (Extended Executive Board). Thomas Zeeb is not in the picture.
 

http://www.six-group.com/executive-board
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CEO
Jos Dijsselhof

FINANCE & SERVICES
Daniel Schmucki

RISK, 
SECURITY & COMPLIANCE

Dr Jochen Dürr

IT
Christoph Landis

EXCHANGES
Thomas Zeeb

SECURITIES SERVICES
Javier Hernani

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Marion Leslie

BANKING SERVICES
Dieter Goerdten

MARKETING & 
COMMUNICATIONS

Dr Alain Bichsel

HUMAN RESOURCES
Dr Hannah Zaunmüller

LEGAL & REGULATORY
Dr Roger Fankhauser

Members of the Extended Executive Board

Dr Alain Bichsel
Head Marketing & Communications
Swiss citizen, member of the Extended 
Executive Board since 1 April 2018.

Dr Roger Fankhauser
General Counsel
Swiss citizen, member of the Extended 
Executive Board since 1 May 2022.

Dr Hannah Zaunmüller
Chief Human Resources Officer
German and Swiss citizen, member 
of the Extended Executive Board since 
1 February 2021. ■
 



40SIX Annual Report 2022  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



41SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

Table of Contents

43	 SIX Consolidated Financial Statements 2022
44	 Full-Year Report of SIX as at 31 December 2022
45	 Consolidated Income Statement
46	 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
47	 Consolidated Balance Sheet
48	 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
49	 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

50	 Basis of Preparation
50	 1. General Information
50	 2. Significant Accounting Policies
62	 3. Use of Judgments and Estimates

64	 Performance for the Year
64	 4. Segment Information
69	 5. Operating Income
71	 6. Net Interest Income from Interest Margin Business
72	 7. Employee Benefit Expenses
72	 8. Other Operating Expenses
73	 9. Financial Income and Expenses
74	 10. Interest Income and Expenses
74	 11. Earnings per Share

75	 Income Taxes
75	 12. Income Taxes
77	 13. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

79	 Assets, Equity and Liabilities
79	 14. Cash and Cash Equivalents
79	 15. Trade and Other Receivables
80	 16. Receivables and Payables from Clearing & Settlement
81	 17. Financial Assets and Liabilities (Current and Non-current)
84	 18. Other Assets (Current and Non-current)
85	 19. Property, Plant and Equipment
87	 20. Intangible Assets and Goodwill
91	 21. Capital Management
93	 22. Capital and Reserves
95	 23. Provisions (Current and Non-current)
96	 24. Other Liabilities (Current and Non-current)



42SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

97	 Financial Instruments
97	 25. Financial Risk Management
107	 26. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
111	 27. Offsetting

114	 Group Composition
114	 28. Interests in Other Entities
119	 29. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries

123	 Additional Information
123	 30. Assets Pledged or Assigned to Secure Own Liabilities
123	 31. Contingent Liabilities
123	 32. Leases
125	 33. Defined Benefit Plans
129	 34. Related Party Disclosures
131	 35. Events after the Balance Sheet Date

132	 Report of the Statutory Auditor

136	 SIX Group Ltd Financial Statements 2022
137	 1. Balance Sheet
138	 2. Income Statement
139	 3. Notes to the Financial Statements
144	 4. Statement of Changes in Equity
144	 5. Appropriation of Profit

145	 Report of the Statutory Auditor



43SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

SIX Consolidated 
Financial Statements 2022



44SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

Full-Year Report of SIX as at 
31 December 2022
For a description of the 2022 results, see pages 10 to 12.

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2022
As at 31 December 2022, total assets stood at 
CHF 17,171.7 million, which constitutes a decrease of 
CHF 811.7 million compared to 31 December 2021. This 
development mainly resulted from:

ȫȫ decrease in cash at central banks of 
CHF 2,044.0 million (included in cash and 
cash equivalents)

ȫȫ increase in receivables from clearing & settlement 
of CHF 2,400.9 million

ȫȫ decrease in bonds at amortized cost and at FVtOCI 
of CHF 204.6 million (included in current and 
non-current financial assets)

ȫȫ decrease in derivatives of CHF 591.2 million 
(included in current and non-current financial 
assets)

ȫȫ decrease in intangible assets of CHF 82.4 million 
mainly due to amortization and negative foreign 
exchange effects

ȫȫ decrease in investments in associates and joint 
ventures of CHF 116.7 million mainly due to the 
full acquisition of REGIS-TR and negative foreign 
exchange effects

ȫȫ decrease in pension assets of CHF 120.4 million due 
to higher discount rates, negative performance of 
the plan assets and asset ceiling (included in other 
assets)

Liabilities amounted to CHF 12,139.2 million in total as 
at the balance sheet date, which constitutes a decrease 
of CHF  631.8 million compared to 31  December 2021. 
This development mainly resulted from:

ȫȫ increase of bank overdrafts of CHF 471.8 million 
related to the business of SECB Swiss Euro Clearing 
Bank GmbH (SECB)

ȫȫ decrease in payables from clearing & settlement of 
CHF 429.1 million

ȫȫ decrease in derivatives of CHF 587.6 million 
(included in financial liabilities)

Equity decreased by CHF 179.9 million to CHF 5,031.1 million 
during the reporting period. This decrease was mainly 
driven by:

ȫȫ dividends paid (CHF –89.9 million)
ȫȫ total comprehensive income for 2022 
(CHF –91.9 million)
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Consolidated Income Statement

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 restated	  1

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Transaction revenues 	 	 	 597.7	 	 600.6	

Service revenues 	 	 	 822.7	 	 825.9	

Net interest income from interest margin business 	 6	 	 47.2	 	 44.5	

Other operating income 	 	 	 26.5	 	 27.3	

Total operating income 	 5	 	 1,494.1	 	 1,498.3	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Employee benefit expenses 	 7, 33	 	 –610.1	 	 –601.0	

Other operating expenses 	 8	 	 –486.2	 	 –475.6	

Total operating expenses 	 	 	 –1,096.4	 	 –1,076.6	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 	 	 	 397.7	 	 421.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 	 19, 20	 	 –177.5	 	 –173.6	

Operating profit 	 	 	 220.3	 	 248.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial income 	 9	 	 80.2	 	 49.7	

Financial expenses 	 9	 	 –78.1	 	 –48.4	

Share of profit or loss of associates and joint ventures 	 28	 	 21.6	 	 –102.1	

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 	 	 	 243.9	 	 147.2	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Interest income 	 10	 	 0.9	 	 0.7	

Interest expenses 	 10	 	 –8.6	 	 –11.0	

Earnings before tax (EBT) 	 	 	 236.2	 	 136.9	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income tax expenses 	 12	 	 –51.2	 	 –63.4	

Group net profit 	 	 	 185.0	 	 73.5	

of which attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd 	 	 	 185.4	 	 73.9	

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 	 	 	 –0.4	 	 –0.4	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings per share (CHF) 	 	 	 	 	 	

Basic profit for the period attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd 	 11	 	 9.80	 	 3.91	

Diluted profit for the period attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd 	 	 	 9.80	 	 3.91	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.		

1	 See note 2 (under 2.4 Restatement) for further information on the restatement.
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Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income
CHF million 	 Notes	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Group net profit 	 	 	 185.0	 	 73.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Change in actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans recognized in the reporting period 	 33	 	 –100.2	 	 159.0	

Income taxes on changes in actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans 	 	 	 21.0	 	 –30.8	

Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 	 	 	 9.0	 	 2.6	

Total items that will not be reclassified to income statement 	 	 	 –70.2	 	 130.8	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Translation adjustment of foreign operations recognized in the reporting period 	 	 	 –144.9	 	 –139.9	

Changes in fair value of financial instruments measured at FVtOCI 	 	 	 –4.8	 	 –1.1	

Income taxes on changes in fair value of financial instruments measured at FVtOCI 	 	 	 1.1	 	 0.1	

Gains/(losses) on net investment hedges 	 25	 	 33.2	 	 32.5	

Income taxes on gains/(losses) on net investment hedges 	 25	 	 –8.5	 	 –8.3	

Translation adjustment of associates and joint ventures recognized in the reporting period 	 	 	 –76.3	 	 –73.1	

Accumulated translation adjustments of associates and joint ventures reclassified to income 	 	 	 0.9	 	 0.1	

statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 	 	 	 –7.2	 	 24.1	

Accumulated share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 	 	 	 –0.1	 	 –0.0	

reclassified to income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total items that are or may subsequently be reclassified to income statement 	 	 	 –206.6	 	 –165.6	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 	 	 	 –276.8	 	 –34.9	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total comprehensive income for the period 	 	 	 –91.9	 	 38.7	

of which attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd 	 	 	 –91.1	 	 39.0	

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 	 	 	 –0.7	 	 –0.3	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 14	 	 4,320.5	 	 6,473.5	

Trade and other receivables 	 15	 	 201.9	 	 189.5	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 16	 	 4,938.0	 	 2,537.1	

Financial assets 	 17, 26	 	 1,314.9	 	 1,594.6	

Current income tax receivables 	 	 	 60.1	 	 66.1	

Other current assets 	 18	 	 74.2	 	 56.4	

Current assets 	 	 	 10,909.6	 	 10,917.2	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Property, plant and equipment 	 19	 	 395.9	 	 409.9	

Intangible assets 	 20	 	 2,756.2	 	 2,838.6	

Investments in associates and joint ventures 	 28	 	 1,494.1	 	 1,610.8	

Financial assets 	 17, 26	 	 1,533.3	 	 2,038.6	

Other non-current assets 	 18	 	 66.8	 	 154.5	

Deferred tax assets 	 13	 	 15.7	 	 13.8	

Non-current assets 	 	 	 6,262.0	 	 7,066.2	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total assets 	 	 	 17,171.7	 	 17,983.4	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank overdrafts 	 14	 	 472.0	 	 0.2	

Trade and other payables 	 	 	 31.7	 	 15.7	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 16	 	 8,837.5	 	 9,266.6	

Financial liabilities 	 17, 26	 	 723.9	 	 1,307.9	

Provisions 	 23	 	 0.9	 	 0.2	

Contract liabilities 	 5	 	 16.3	 	 22.6	

Current income tax payables 	 	 	 53.2	 	 61.1	

Other current liabilities 	 24	 	 183.7	 	 184.7	

Current liabilities 	 	 	 10,319.2	 	 10,859.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial liabilities 	 17, 26	 	 1,494.9	 	 1,528.9	

Provisions 	 23	 	 12.4	 	 14.4	

Contract liabilities 	 5	 	 16.4	 	 26.4	

Other non-current liabilities 	 24	 	 34.1	 	 43.7	

Deferred tax liabilities 	 13	 	 262.2	 	 298.7	

Non-current liabilities 	 	 	 1,820.0	 	 1,912.1	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 12,139.2	 	 12,771.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Equity 	 	 	 	 	 	

Share capital 	 	 	 19.5	 	 19.5	

Capital reserves 	 	 	 234.1	 	 234.1	

Other reserves 	 	 	 –446.3	 	 –251.0	

Retained earnings 	 	 	 5,223.7	 	 5,208.4	

Shareholders’ equity 	 22	 	 5,031.1	 	 5,211.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Non-controlling interests 	 	 	 1.4	 	 1.4	

Total equity 	 	 	 5,032.5	 	 5,212.3	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total liabilities and equity 	 	 	 17,171.7	 	 17,983.4	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Equity
 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Share-	 	 Non-	 	 	

 	 	 	 Share	 	 Capital	 	 Other	 	 Retained	 	 holders’	 	 controlling	 	 Total	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 capital	 	 reserves	 	 reserves	 	 earnings	 	 equity	 	 interests	 	 equity	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 1 January 2022 	 	 	 19.5	 	 234.1	 	 –251.0	 	 5,208.4	 	 5,211.0	 	 1.4	 	 5,212.3	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Group net profit 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 185.4	 	 185.4	 	 –0.4	 	 185.0	

Total other comprehensive income 	 22	 	 	 	 	 	 –195.2	 	 –81.3	 	 –276.5	 	 –0.3	 	 –276.8	

Total comprehensive income for the period 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –195.2	 	 104.1	 	 –91.1	 	 –0.7	 	 –91.9	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Dividends paid 	 21, 22	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –89.8	 	 –89.8	 	 –0.1	 	 –89.9	

Capital contribution 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 0.8	 	 0.8	

Share of other changes in equity of associates 	 28	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1.1	 	 1.1	 	 	 	 1.1	

Change in scope of consolidation 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 –0.1	 	 –0.1	

Balance at 31 December 2022 	 	 	 19.5	 	 234.1	 	 –446.3	 	 5,223.8	 	 5,031.1	 	 1.4	 	 5,032.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Share-	 	 Non-	 	 	

 	 	 	 Share	 	 Capital	 	 Other	 	 Retained	 	 holders’	 	 controlling	 	 Total	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 capital	 	 reserves	 	 reserves	  1	 earnings	 	 equity	 	 interests	 	 equity	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 1 January 2021 	 	 	 19.5	 	 234.1	 	 –62.2	 	 5,062.3	 	 5,253.7	 	 1.4	 	 5,255.1	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Group net profit 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 73.9	 	 73.9	 	 –0.4	 	 73.5	

Total other comprehensive income 	 22	 	 	 	 	 	 –188.8	 	 153.8	 	 –35.0	 	 0.1	 	 –34.9	

Total comprehensive income for the period 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –188.8	 	 227.8	 	 39.0	 	 –0.3	 	 38.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Dividends paid 	 21, 22	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –81.3	 	 –81.3	 	 –0.1	 	 –81.4	

Capital contribution 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 0.4	 	 0.4	

Share of other changes in equity of associates 	 28	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 6.9	 	 6.9	 	 	 	 6.9	

Non-controlling interest arising on business 	 29	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 1.4	 	 1.4	

combination 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –7.3	 	 –7.3	 	 –1.4	 	 –8.7	

Balance at 31 December 2021 	 	 	 19.5	 	 234.1	 	 –251.0	 	 5,208.4	 	 5,211.0	 	 1.4	 	 5,212.3	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
1	 The presentation was changed in 2022. The details of the movement of treasury shares and translation differences within “Other reserves” are now separately 

disclosed in note 22. The presentation of prior year figures has been adjusted accordingly.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Group net profit (incl. non-controlling interests) 	 	 	 185.0	 	 73.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Adjustments for: 	 	 	 	 	 	

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 	 19, 20	 	 177.5	 	 173.6	

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 	 	 	 –0.4	 	 –5.8	

Increase/(decrease) in pension fund assets and liabilities 	 	 	 12.6	 	 15.0	

Share of profit or loss of associates and joint ventures 	 28	 	 –21.6	 	 102.1	

Net financial result 	 	 	 11.2	 	 48.8	

Other non-cash income and expenses 	 	 	 –0.6	 	 0.1	

Income tax expense 	 12	 	 51.2	 	 63.4	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Changes in: 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade and other receivables 	 	 	 –8.8	 	 –17.1	

Trade and other payables 	 	 	 14.1	 	 2.4	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 	 	 –2,404.2	 	 344.5	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 	 	 –133.6	 	 –306.8	

Financial assets 	 	 	 104.6	 	 2.6	

Financial liabilities 	 	 	 6.5	 	 6.8	

Other assets 	 	 	 –11.2	 	 7.6	

Other liabilities 	 	 	 4.5	 	 –16.7	

Contract liabilities 	 	 	 –15.0	 	 –12.7	

Interest paid 	 	 	 –8.0	 	 –10.6	

Interest received 	 	 	 1.0	 	 0.9	

Income tax (paid)/received 	 	 	 –84.0	 	 –96.0	

Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities 	 	 	 –2,119.4	 	 375.8	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Investments in subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) 	 29	 	 –51.0	 	 –49.4	

Investments in associates and joint ventures 	 	 	 –6.1	 	 –23.8	

Disposal of subsidiaries and associates (net of cash disposed) 	 28	 	 4.7	 	 –	

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 	 19, 20	 	 –77.2	 	 –82.2	

Sale proceeds from property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 	 	 	 0.8	 	 11.0	

Investments in financial assets 	 	 	 –25.2	 	 –13.2	

Divestments of financial assets 	 	 	 2.2	 	 1.8	

Dividends received and other financial income 	 	 	 1.0	 	 1.3	

Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities 	 	 	 –150.8	 	 –154.4	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Proceeds from financial liabilities 	 17	 	 –	 	 644.6	

Payment of financial liabilities 	 17	 	 –20.2	 	 –363.3	

Payment of lease liabilities 	 17	 	 –18.9	 	 –15.3	

Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company 	 21	 	 –89.8	 	 –81.3	

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 	 	 	 –0.1	 	 –0.1	

Net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities 	 	 	 –129.0	 	 184.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net impact of foreign exchange rate differences on cash 	 	 	 –225.5	 	 –230.0	

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 –2,624.7	 	 175.9	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balances of cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 	 14	 	 6,473.3	 	 6,297.4	

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 	 14	 	 3,848.6	 	 6,473.3	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Basis of Preparation

1. General Information
The consolidated financial statements of SIX as at and 
for the year ended 31 December 2022 cover SIX Group Ltd 
(referred to as “Company” or “Parent Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as “Group” or “SIX”). 
A table of the Group subsidiaries and interests in asso-
ciates is set out in note 28.

SIX Group  Ltd is an unlisted public limited company 
domiciled in Switzerland with its registered office in 
Zurich, at Hardturmstrasse 201. The Company is owned 
by 120 national and international financial institutions.

SIX provides a comprehensive range of services 
in  the  areas of securities trading and post-trading, 
financial information processing and cashless pay-
ment transactions.

The Board of Directors of SIX approved the issuance 
of  these consolidated financial statements on 
1 March 2023.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
2.1	 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of SIX have 
been  prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The reporting period covers twelve months. For all con-
solidated companies, the financial year corresponds to 
the calendar year. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts 
are stated in millions of Swiss francs (CHF) and are 
rounded to the nearest hundred thousand.

The consolidated financial statements provide compar-
ative information in respect of the previous period.

The consolidated financial statements of SIX have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments which have been measured at fair 
value, as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

2.2	 Summary of significant accounting policies
2.2.1	 Principles of consolidation and equity
	 accounting
Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the ac-
quisition method at the date of acquisition, which is the 
date on which SIX obtains control. SIX has control over 
an investee when it is exposed to, or has rights to, vari-
able returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the relevant activities of the investee.

At the time of acquisition, all identifiable assets 
and  liabilities that satisfy the recognition criteria 
are  recognized at their fair values. The difference 
between the consideration transferred and the fair 
value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed is accounted for as goodwill after taking 
into account any non-controlling interests. Directly 
attributable transaction costs are reported as other 
operating expenses.

Subsidiaries
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when SIX obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when control is 
lost.

Non-controlling interests arise when SIX Group  Ltd 
directly or indirectly holds less than 100% of a subsidiary, 
but still controls the subsidiary. Non-controlling interests 
in subsidiaries are reported separately within equity. 
Profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI) 
are attributed to the shareholders of the Parent 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. SIX has 
applied the partial goodwill method to the business 
combinations occurring in 2021 and accordingly has 
measured non-controlling interests at their propor-
tionate share in the recognized amounts of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net asset.

The accounting for call and put options depends on the 
terms of the options. For put options held by non-
controlling shareholders, SIX has decided to apply IFRS 10. 
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The key terms of such options and the corresponding 
accounting treatment are described in note 29.

All intra-Group balances, transactions, any unrealized 
gains and losses resulting from intra-Group transac-
tions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Upon loss of control, SIX ceases to recognize the assets 
and liabilities of a subsidiary, any non-controlling inter-
ests and other components of equity related to the 
subsidiary. Any gain or loss arising from the loss of 
control is presented in financial income or financial 
expenses. The interest retained is measured at fair value 
at the date on which SIX loses control. Subsequently, 
it is accounted for as an investment in associate using 
the equity method or as a financial asset, depending on 
the level of influence retained.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Investments in associates and joint ventures are 
accounted for using the equity method. Associates are 
those entities in which SIX has significant influence 
over the financial and operating policies, but does not 
exercise control or joint control. Significant influence is 
generally assumed to exist when SIX holds between 20% 
and 50% of the voting rights. In the event that the 
Group holds less than 20% of the voting rights, there is 
a strong indication of significant influence if SIX is 
represented on the board of the investee. A joint venture 
is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, 
whereby SIX has rights to the net assets of the arrange-
ment rather than to its assets and obligations for its 
liabilities.

Under the equity method, investments in associates 
and joint ventures are initially recognized at cost at the 
date of acquisition. Cost comprises the fair value of the 
consideration transferred and acquisition-related costs. 
In subsequent accounting periods, the carrying 
amount of the investment is adjusted for the share of 
profit or loss and items recognized in equity, less divi-
dends received. The share of profit or loss is adjusted  
for the effects of subsequent measurement of assets 
and liabilities identified in a purchase price allocation. 
An impairment test is performed if there is objective 
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impair-
ment includes, among other things, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value. An impairment is 
recognized when the carrying amount exceeds the fair 

value. Goodwill is included in the carrying amount of 
the investment and any impairment loss is allocated to 
the carrying amount of the equity-accounted investee 
as a whole.

The ownership percentage held by SIX may be reduced 
if SIX does not participate in a capital increase (deemed 
disposal). Gains or losses resulting from deemed 
disposals, including amounts reclassified from other 
comprehensive income, are recognized in the income 
statement within financial income or financial expenses.

2.2.2	 Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Swiss francs, which is also the functional currency of 
SIX Group Ltd. Each subsidiary prepares its own finan-
cial statements in its functional currency, i.e. in the 
currency of the primary economic environment in 
which it operates. Finance subsidiaries that have no 
other operating activity than borrowing money on be-
half of the parent have the functional currency of the 
parent.  

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded 
by the Group’s entities in their respective functional 
currencies using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. 

Exchange rate gains and losses arising between the 
date of a transaction and its settlement and from the 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denomi-
nated in foreign currencies at closing exchange rates 
are recognized in the income statement within financial 
income or expenses.

Non-monetary items recognized at historical cost are 
measured at historical exchange rates. 

The main exchange rates at the closing dates were the 
following:

Currency 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

EUR 	 0.9837	 	 1.0347	

USD 	 0.9237	 	 0.9144	
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The main annual average exchange rates were the 
following:

Currency 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

EUR 	 1.0055	 	 1.0815	

USD 	 0.9550	 	 0.9139	

Foreign operations
The income statements of subsidiaries with a 
functional currency other than the Swiss franc are 
translated at average monthly exchange rates. Assets 
and liabilities, including goodwill and fair value adjust-
ments arising from acquisition, are translated at the 
closing exchange rate. Foreign exchange translation 
differences are recognized as currency translation 
adjustments in other comprehensive income and pre-
sented in equity under other reserves. Upon loss of 
control of a subsidiary, the accumulated exchange rate 
differences previously recognized in equity are reclas-
sified to the income statement as part of the gain or 
loss on disposal.

2.2.3	 Financial assets
SIX classifies its financial assets into the following 
categories:

ȫȫ Financial assets at amortized cost
ȫȫ Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVtOCI)

ȫȫ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVtPL)

The classification depends on the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets and the business 
model of SIX for managing these assets. Financial as-
sets are recognized at the trade date with the exception 
of non-fulfilled transactions from the central counter-
party (CCP) business which are recognized at the 
settlement date.

Financial assets are classified as current if payment is 
due or expected to be settled within one year. If not, 
they are presented as non-current.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the balance sheet only when the 
Group has a currently legally enforceable right to offset 
during the regular course of business, in the event of 

default and when there is an intention either to settle 
on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual 
rights to receive cash flows have expired or when all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
assets are substantially transferred.

Financial assets at amortized cost
A financial asset is carried at amortized cost if both of 
the following criteria are met:

ȫȫ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

ȫȫ The financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold these assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are initially 
recognized at fair value plus directly attributable trans-
action costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they 
are  measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method less expected impairment losses. 
Gains or losses are recognized in the income statement 
when the financial asset is derecognized, modified or 
impaired. This category consists of cash and cash 
equivalents, deposits, receivables, bonds and loans. 
Specific characteristics of each class of financial assets 
at amortized cost, if any, are provided below.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, postal 
and bank accounts, giro and demand deposits at the 
Swiss National Bank or central banks and short-term 
deposits with a maximum maturity of three months 
from the date of initial recognition. 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits as defined above, net of bank 
overdrafts, if any.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables represent the Group’s 
unconditional right of payment. This item also includes 
unbilled receivables, i.e. positions for which the Group 
has fulfilled its performance obligations for services, 
but has not yet invoiced the customers.
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Receivables and payables from clearing 
& settlement
Receivables and payables from clearing & settlement in 
the Securities Services business arise from acting as a 
central counterparty (CCP) or a central securities de-
pository (CSD), and in the Banking Services business  –  
from the processing of electronic payments.

In the Securities Services business, SIX also provides 
securities financing services. Securities purchased under 
agreements to resell (reverse repurchase transactions) 
and securities sold under agreements to repurchase 
(repurchase agreements) are generally treated as col-
lateralized financing transactions. In reverse repurchase 
transactions, the cash delivered is derecognized and a 
corresponding receivable from clearing & settlement is 
recorded. Securities received in reverse repurchase 
transactions are disclosed in the notes if SIX has the 
right to resell or repledge them. In repurchase agree-
ments, the cash received is recognized in the balance 
sheet with a corresponding obligation to return it. The 
securities transferred comprise securities that SIX has 
received as collateral with the right to resell or repledge. 
These securities are not recognized in or derecognized 
from the balance sheet unless the risks and rewards of 
ownership are also transferred. 

Securities borrowing and lending transactions in the 
settlement business are treated as collateralized 
financing transactions, similar to repurchase and 
reverse repurchase transactions,  if they are covered 
with cash collateral and daily margin settlements. 
Securities borrowing and lending transactions that 
are not covered with cash collateral are not recog-
nized in the balance sheet. Cash collateral received is 
recognized as a payable from clearing & settlement, 
and cash collateral delivered is derecognized with a 
corresponding receivable from clearing & settlement. 
Securities received in a lending or borrowing transac-
tion are disclosed in the notes if SIX has the right 
to resell or repledge them. Financial assets recognized 
in  the balance sheet which have been transferred 
under a securities lending agreement are disclosed in 
the notes as financial assets not derecognized.

For further information about receivables and paya-
bles from clearing & settlement, see note 16.

Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost
The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected 
credit losses (ECL) on the following financial assets that 
are measured at amortized cost:

ȫȫ Cash and cash equivalents
ȫȫ Trade and other receivables
ȫȫ Bonds
ȫȫ Receivables from clearing & settlement
ȫȫ Other financial assets at amortized cost (e.g. loans)

The Group measures the loss allowances at an amount 
equal to the 12-month ECL (Stage 1), except for the fol-
lowing assets, for which the loss allowance is measured 
at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL (Stage 2):

ȫȫ Trade and other receivables (simplified approach 
according to IFRS 9)

ȫȫ Financial assets at amortized cost whose credit risk 
has increased significantly since initial recognition

When a default event occurs, the loss allowance is meas-
ured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL and the 
financial asset is presented as credit-impaired (Stage 3).

The Group applies the “low credit risk” simplification in 
order to track the increase in credit risk. A low credit 
risk is assumed when the credit rating of a financial as-
set is equivalent to the globally understood definition 
of “investment grade” (i.e. a Standard & Poor’s rating 
of BBB – or higher).

The creation and release of loss allowances are recog-
nized in other operating expenses for cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables, and receivables 
from clearing & settlement. For bonds and other finan-
cial assets at amortized cost, the creation and release 
of loss allowance is presented in financial expenses.

The amount of expected credit losses is updated at 
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 
since the initial recognition of the respective financial 
assets. Recoveries are recognized in profit and loss.

The Group writes off a financial asset when the collection 
activities are completed and there is no realistic 
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when 
the Group receives evidence of insolvency (e.g. loss 
certificate). Financial assets that have been written off 
may still be subject to enforcement action even if re-
covery is highly unlikely.
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Financial assets at FVtOCI (debt instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through other compre-
hensive income (FVtOCI) include debt securities for 
which the contractual cash flows consist solely of prin-
cipal and interest, and the objective of the Group’s 
business model is achieved both by collecting contrac-
tual cash flows and selling financial assets. Interest 
income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment 
losses or reversals are recognized in the income state-
ment and are determined in the same manner as 
for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The 
remaining fair value changes are recognized in OCI. 
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change 
recognized in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVtPL
If the criteria for financial assets at amortized cost and 
financial assets at FVtOCI are not met, financial assets 
are classified and measured at fair value through profit 
or  loss (FVtPL). These financial assets are initially rec-
ognized and subsequently measured at fair value. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset are immediately 
expensed. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value are reported in financial income or financial ex-
penses. This category consists of equity instruments, 
units in investment funds, derivatives, financial instru-
ments from the settlement business, and other debt 
instruments.

Derivatives
Derivatives are initally recognized and subsequently 
measured at fair value.

Derivatives comprise, in particular, derivatives arising 
from the clearing and settlement business of Securities 
Services. They include the fair value of unsettled 
trading transactions of equities and fixed income 
and  the accumulated changes in fair value of traded 
derivatives. The settlement of equities and fixed 
income takes place two days after the trade date if the 
buyer and seller fulfill their obligations. The change in 
fair value of unsettled transactions is presented as 
equities and fixed income forwards. The settlement of 
derivatives takes place on the trade date. If the daily 
changes in fair value are not settled on a daily basis, 
the accumulated changes in fair value are presented 
as options and energy derivatives from clearing and 
settlement.

Additionally, SIX uses derivatives to mitigate its expo-
sure to foreign exchange risks. Gains or losses relating 
to changes in fair value of foreign currency derivatives 
are recognized immediately in financial income or 
financial expenses.

All derivatives are included under financial assets if their 
fair value is positive, and under financial liabilities if 
their fair value is negative.

2.2.4	 Property, plant and equipment
Assets included under property, plant and equipment 
are measured at historical cost less accumulated de-
preciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
Historical cost includes expenditure directly attributable 
to the acquisition and installation. Repair and mainte-
nance costs are recognized in the income statement 
as incurred. 

Land has an unlimited useful life and is therefore not 
depreciated. Property, plant and equipment is depreci-
ated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
life of each component.

Asset class 	 Estimated useful life	

Land 	 Impairment only	

Buildings (excluding land) 	 8–60 years	

Technical infrastructure 	 3–30 years	

Leasehold improvements 	 Amortized in line with the term	

 	 of the property lease	

IT mainframes 	 4–5 years	

IT midrange 	 3 years	

Other IT hardware 	 3–5 years	

Office equipment and furniture 	 3–7 years	

Other fixed assets 	 3–5 years	

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Depreciation starts when the asset is available for use.

Gains or losses on disposals are calculated as the dif-
ference between the net proceeds and the carrying 
amount and are recognized in the income statement.
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2.2.5	 Intangible assets
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives include 
goodwill, brands and licenses.

SIX initially measures intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives at cost. These assets are not subject to 
amortization and are tested for impairment on an 
annual basis and whenever there is an indication that 
an asset may be impaired.

Gains and losses on disposals of operations include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the operation 
sold. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives
Acquired intangible assets with a finite useful life are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses, if any. Subsequent expenditure is 
capitalized only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset it relates to. 
Other subsequent expenditure is recognized as an ex-
pense in the period in which it is incurred. 

Expenditure for internally developed software is 
capitalized only if it meets the capitalization criteria. 
This requires, in particular, that SIX obtains control 
over the asset and that the future economic benefits 
are probable. Amortization of internally developed 
assets begins when they are available for use. This is 
generally when the business acceptance test has been 
successfully completed.

Implementation costs related to Software as a Service 
(SaaS) arrangements are capitalized as intangible assets 
if SIX obtains control over the software. If SIX does not 
assume control over the software,  implementation 
costs are expensed as incurred, with the exception 
of  costs for non-distinctive services of  the cloud 
arrangement provider, which are expensed over the 
term of the arrangement.

Research costs are expensed as incurred. 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives:

Asset class 	 Estimated useful life	

Licenses, brands and customer relationships 	 5–20 years	

Software 	 3–7 years	

Other intangible assets 	 3–7 years	

Useful lives are reassessed annually and adjusted if 
appropriate.

2.2.6	 Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and 
intangible assets not yet ready for use are tested for 
impairment on an annual basis and whenever there is 
an indication that an asset may be impaired. All other 
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.

For the purposes of impairment testing, assets are 
tested individually or grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units, CGUs). Goodwill is allocated to 
the CGU at which it is monitored for internal management 
purposes and which is not larger than an operating 
segment. 

If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the 
recoverable amount, an impairment equal to the 
difference between the carrying amount and the re-
coverable amount is recognized as an impairment loss 
in the income statement. The recoverable amount is 
determined based on the value in use of an asset. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects the current market assess-
ment of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset or CGU. 

Any impairment loss on goodwill recognized in prior 
periods may not be reversed in subsequent periods. 
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to 
the extent that the carrying amount of an asset does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined net of depreciation or amortization if no 
impairment loss had been recognized.
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2.2.7	 Financial liabilities
SIX classifies its financial liabilities either as financial 
liabilities at amortized cost or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVtPL). 

Financial liabilities are classified as current if payment 
is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented 
as non-current liabilities.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially recog-
nized at fair value less directly attributable transaction 
cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, such financial 
liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. This category consists of trade 
and other payables, borrowings and lease liabilities. 
For further details on leases, see section 2.2.9.

Financial liabilities at FVtPL
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVtPL) include derivatives and NCI liabilities. These 
liabilities are initially recognized and subsequently 
measured at fair value. NCI liabilities result from acqui-
sitions of subsidiaries where minority shareholders 
hold put options to sell their shares to SIX. NCI liabilities 
are measured at the discounted value of the exercise 
price. For further details on derivatives, see section 
2.2.3. 

2.2.8	 Hedge accounting
SIX may designate non-derivative financial liabilities as 
hedging instruments to hedge the foreign exchange 
risk on a net investment in a foreign operation. Gains 
or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the ef-
fective portion of the hedge are recognized in OCI, 
while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective 
portion are recognized in the income statement. On 
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative value of 
any such gains or losses recorded in equity is trans-
ferred to the income statement.

At the inception of a designated hedging relationship, 
the Group documents the risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Group also 
documents the economic relationship between the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument, including 

whether the changes in cash flows of the hedged item 
and hedging instrument are expected to offset each 
other.

2.2.9	 Leases
At the inception of a contract, SIX assesses whether a 
contract is or contains a lease. A contract is or contains 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control 
the  use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

SIX as lessee
SIX is a lessee of premises, IT equipment and vehicles. 
Leases are accounted for by recognizing a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. SIX has elected not to recognize right-of-use as-
sets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have 
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognizes the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 

SIX has elected not to separate non-lease components 
from lease components for all classes of underlying 
assets.

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present 
value of the following future lease payments:

ȫȫ fixed payments
ȫȫ variable lease payments that depend on an index or 
rate using the index or rate at the commencement date

ȫȫ lease payments in an optional renewal period or any 
penalties payable for terminating a lease, if SIX is 
reasonably certain to exercise an extension or not to 
exercise a termination option

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an 
index or a rate are expensed in the period to which they 
relate.

Lease liabilities are discounted using the incremental 
borrowing rate available at the contract commencement 
date, as the interest rates implicit in the leases cannot 
be readily determined. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Lease liabilities are remeasured when there is 
a change in an index or rate, or if there is a change in 
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the lease term because the Group changes its assess-
ment of whether it will exercise an option to extend or 
terminate a lease. When a lease liability is remeasured 
for one of these reasons, a corresponding adjustment 
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset or is recorded in the income statement if the 
carrying amount has been reduced to zero. 

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the initial 
amount of the lease liability, less any lease incentives 
received, plus any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement of the lease and initial direct costs 
incurred. 

Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated us-
ing the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the end of their useful lives or the end of the 
lease term, whichever is earlier. The estimated useful 
lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same 
basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In 
addition, the right-of-use asset may be reduced by 
impairment losses or adjusted for certain remeasure-
ments of the lease liability. 

SIX recognizes right-of-use assets within property, 
plant and equipment, and lease liabilities within finan-
cial liabilities. 

SIX as lessor
SIX is a lessor of business premises. When SIX acts as a 
lessor, it determines at the inception of a lease whether 
the lease is a finance or an operating lease. To classify 
leases, SIX makes an overall assessment of whether a 
lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If 
this is the case, the lease is a finance lease; if not, it is 
an  operating lease. As part of this assessment, SIX 
considers certain indicators such as whether the lease 
is for the major part of the economic life of the asset. 
Currently, all lease agreements are classified and 
recorded as operating leases.

Operating lease equipment is initially carried at its ac-
quisition cost. Leased assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis according to the depreciation poli-
cies of SIX for property, plant and equipment. Rental 
income from operating leases is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease agree-
ment as part of other operating income.

2.2.10	Provisions
Provisions are recognized for present legal or con-
structive obligations arising from past events if there 
is a probable outflow of resources that can be reliably 
estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future 
operating losses.

The amount recognized as a provision is the amount 
which represents the best estimate required to settle 
the present obligation. If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as an interest expense.

Provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted as further 
information develops or circumstances change.

Restructuring provisions
Restructuring provisions are recognized only when 
the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, which 
is when a detailed formal plan identifies the business 
concerned, the location and number of employees af-
fected, a detailed estimate of the associated costs and 
an appropriate timeline, and when the employees 
affected have been notified of the plan’s main features.

Asset retirement obligation
If a lease agreement requires SIX to remove any assets 
it has installed in the leased property (such as internal 
walls or partitions), the removal obligation arises 
immediately upon installation. In such a situation, the 
Group recognizes a provision for the present value of 
the future cost of removal at the date the assets are 
installed.

The costs of removal are capitalized as part of the 
acquisition costs of the leasehold improvements and 
depreciated over their useful lives or the lease term, 
whichever is shorter.

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized, but are dis-
closed, unless the possibility of an outflow of economic 
resources is remote.
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2.2.11	Equity
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares in SIX Group Ltd are classified as share 
capital.

Treasury shares
Own shares held by SIX Group Ltd itself and by other 
entities of the Group are recognized at cost within 
other reserves and deducted from equity. Gains or 
losses on the disposal or cancellation of treasury 
shares are recorded in other reserves.

2.2.12	Operating revenues 
Revenue represents the consideration to which SIX 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
services, net of amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties. When SIX acts as a principal, revenue is re-
corded gross. When SIX acts only as an agent, revenue 
is limited to the commission or fee that it retains. The 
main indicators that SIX is a principal are the respon-
sibility to provide the promised services and the 
discretion in establishing prices.

Volume discounts are generally based on the number 
of transactions within a month or calendar year. 
Therefore, no estimates are required at the end of the 
financial year. During the financial year, the estimated 
average selling price is recognized as revenue. 

Transaction revenues
Transaction revenues are generated from services 
which relate to a single transaction (e.g. trading in 
securities, clearing & settlement transactions, payment 
transactions, ATM transactions, etc.) or services which 
are triggered and remunerated on an incident or order 
basis. The performance obligation of a service is satis-
fied when the transaction or order has been executed. 
Transaction revenues are recognized at a point in time.  

Exchanges and Securities Services recognize transaction 
fees for trading and clearing services on the trade date 
and transaction fees for settlement services on the 
settlement date. 

Service revenues
Revenue from providing services is recognized in the 
period in which the services are rendered (e.g. listing of 
securities, custody services, providing reference and 
market data, etc). Revenue is generally recognized over 

time, as most services are provided over a fixed con-
tract period. 

Exchanges recognize listing fees over the estimated 
listing period. The estimated listing period of the 
securities is reassessed on an annual basis to reflect 
the most recent market developments.  

Net interest income from interest margin business
The interest margin business is part of the core busi-
ness activities of Securities Services and Banking 
Services. Accordingly, net interest income from interest 
margin business is presented within operating income. 
Net interest income from interest margin business is 
recognized by applying the effective interest method. 
Negative interest on financial assets is presented 
within interest expenses from interest margin business, 
and the related interest earned from the recharge of 
negative interest is presented within interest income 
from interest margin business.  

Other operating income
Other operating income includes income earned from 
sale of assets and non-standard services such as lease 
income. Most of the non-standard services are recognized 
over time. For further details on the accounting for 
leases, see section 2.2.9.

Contract costs
Costs to obtain a contract
Incremental costs incurred in obtaining a customer 
contract are recognized as an asset if the Group expects 
to recover them. They include sales commissions that 
are amortized over the average contract period, which 
is based on past experience with services rendered to 
similar customers in similar circumstances.

Contract balances
Contract liabilities
If the payments received exceed the services rendered, 
a contract liability is recognized.

2.2.13	Employee benefits
SIX maintains a number of different pension plans 
based on the respective legislation in each country. The 
retirement benefit plans include both defined benefit 
and defined contribution plans.
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Defined contribution plans
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recog-
nized as an employee benefit expense in the period 
during which the related services are rendered by 
employees.

Defined benefit plans
The net liability or asset recognized in the balance 
sheet in respect of defined benefit plans is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair 
value of plan assets. If the fair value of the plan’s assets 
is higher than the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation, the recognition of the resulting net asset is 
limited to the present value of economic benefits avail-
able in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions 
in future contributions to the plan (‘asset ceiling’). 
Actuarial assumptions used for calculation include the 
discount rate, future salary and pension increases, 
staff turnover and life expectancy. The calculations are 
performed annually by qualified actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. Pension plan assets are 
valued annually at market values. Defined benefit costs 
consist of three components:

ȫȫ service costs, curtailments and settlements
ȫȫ net interest income or expenses
ȫȫ remeasurements

Service costs include current and past service costs 
and are presented within employee benefit expenses. 
The Group recognizes gains and losses on plan curtail-
ments or settlements in the income statement when 
they occur. 

Net interest income or expenses are calculated by 
multiplying the net defined benefit liability or asset at 
the beginning of the reporting period with the discount 
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation. 
Net interest income or expenses are recognized within 
employee benefit expenses.

Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses, 
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and 
the  effect of asset ceilings, if any. SIX recognizes 
remeasurements in other comprehensive income. 
They are not recycled to the income statement. 

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured 
on an undiscounted basis and expensed in the period 
in which the related services are rendered.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment 
is  terminated before the normal retirement date, or 
when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for these benefits. SIX recognizes a liability 
for termination benefits at the earlier of when SIX can 
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when 
the Group recognizes restructuring costs. In the event 
that an offer is made to encourage voluntary redun-
dancy, the termination benefits are measured based 
on the number of employees expected to accept the 
offer. Benefits falling due more than twelve months 
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to 
their present value.

Other long-term employee benefits
The Group’s obligation in respect of long-term employee 
benefits is the amount of future benefits that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current 
and prior periods. The actuarial assumptions used are 
reassessed annually. Remeasurements are recognized 
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Other 
long-term employee benefits include in particular 
long-service awards (or “jubilees”). The liability is 
determined by applying the projected unit credit method. 

2.2.14	Interest and dividends
Interest income and expenses
For all financial instruments measured at amortized 
cost, interest income and expenses are recorded using 
the effective interest method. Negative interest on 
financial assets is presented within interest expenses. 
Negative interest on financial liabilities is presented 
within interest income.

Dividend income
Dividends are recognized when the right to receive 
payment is established and are included in financial 
income.
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 2.2.15	Income taxes
The tax expense for the period comprises current 
and deferred tax. Taxes are recognized in the income 
statement except to the extent that the underlying 
transaction is recorded either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.

Current income taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the tax authorities based on the taxable profit. The tax 
rates and tax laws used to calculate the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date in the countries in which SIX operates and 
generates taxable income.

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax is recognized by applying the liability 
method in respect of temporary differences between 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for finan-
cial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for 
taxable temporary differences arising from the initial 
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that suffi-
cient future taxable profit will be available against 
which they can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Calculation of deferred taxes is based on the country-
specific tax rates expected to apply in the accounting 
period in which these tax assets will be realized or tax 
liabilities settled. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are offset if they relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same tax authority and if there is an entitlement to 
offset current taxes.

2.3	 Changes in the Group’s accounting
	 policies
New standards, interpretations and amendments 
adopted by SIX
The adoption of the following amendments had no 
significant impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Group as at 31 December 2022.

ȫȫ Annual Improvements to IFRS standards 2018 – 2020
ȫȫ Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before 
Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)

ȫȫ Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 
(Amendments to IAS 37)

ȫȫ Reference to the Conceptual Framework 
(Amendments to IFRS 3)

ȫȫ Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12)

2.4	 Restatement
Change in presentation of operating income
Management has reviewed the presentation of revenues 
and noted that certain revenues have not been 
presented in line with the accounting policies and must 
be reclassified. As a result of the reclassification, trans-
action revenues for the 2021 financial year  decreased 
by CHF  128.0 million, service revenues increased by 
CHF 117.2 million and other operating income increased 
by CHF 10.8 million. The changes had no impact on total 
operating income.



61SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

2.5	 IFRS standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective
The following new and/or revised standards and interpretations have been issued, but are not yet effective. 
They have not been applied early in these consolidated financial statements.

 	 	 	 Date planned	

Standard/interpretation 	 Effective date	 	 for adoption by SIX	

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 	 1 January 2023	 	 1 January 2023	  1

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) 	 1 January 2023	 	 1 January 2023	  1

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendment to IFRS 16) 	 1 January 2024	 	 1 January 2024	  1

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 	 1 January 2024	 	 1 January 2024	  1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendment to IAS 1) 	 1 January 2024	 	 1 January 2024	  1

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 	 To be determined	 	 To be determined by SIX	  2

(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) 	 by the IASB	 	 	

1	 The adoption of the amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of SIX.
2	 The impact on the consolidated financial statements of SIX has not yet been fully assessed.
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3. Use of Judgments and Estimates
The application of some accounting policies requires 
the use of assumptions, estimates and judgments that 
may affect the reported assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses and also the disclosure of contingent as-
sets and liabilities in the reporting period. Additionally, 
there is a significant risk that these estimation uncer-
tainties could result in material adjustments to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year. The assumptions and estimates 
are  continually reviewed and based on historical 
experience and other factors, including anticipated 
developments arising from probable future events. 
Actual future occurrences may differ from these as-
sumptions and estimates.

Areas that may incorporate a greater number of uncer-
tain assumptions, estimates and judgments are listed 
below.

Fair value of assets and liabilities recognized in 
a business combination 
In the case of business combinations, assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed are measured at fair value at 
the date of acquisition. In determining the fair value 
and the useful lives of intangible assets acquired, as 
well as the fair value of liabilities assumed, certain 
assumptions are made. The measurement is based on 
projected cash flows and information available at the 
date of acquisition see note 29. 

Fair value of level 3 instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market is determined by using 
several valuation techniques. SIX uses judgment in 
determining the valuation methods and makes assump-
tions in estimating the inputs to the calculations, as the 
parameters for the calculation of the fair values are not 
readily available in the markets. The calculations are 
based on information available as at the reporting 
date. The estimated fair values for each class of financial 
instruments and the sensitivity analysis are disclosed 
in note 26. 

Capitalization of development costs
SIX develops various software applications for internal 
and external use. Development costs for self-developed 
intangible assets are capitalized if the applicable 

criteria of IAS 38 are fulfilled. Initial capitalization of 
costs is based on the management’s judgment that the 
feasibility is confirmed. Projects are broken down into 
three main phases. Costs incurred in the inception and 
transition phase are treated as non-capitalizable, 
whereas costs incurred in the construction phase are 
treated as capitalizable. Development costs that do 
not  satisfy the requirements for capitalization are 
expensed as incurred. 

In determining the amounts to be capitalized, man-
agement makes assumptions regarding the expected 
future cash flows generated from the project and the 
discount rates to be applied. The status of the key pro-
jects is monitored on a monthly basis by the Executive 
Board of SIX Group (ExB).   

Utilization of tax losses and recognition of 
deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax 
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can  
be utilized. Significant management judgment is  
required to determine the amount of deferred tax  
assets that can be recognized, based on the estimated 
future taxable profits within the planning period. At 
each closing, the entity assesses the recoverability of 
deferred tax assets, including those recognized in pre-
vious periods. Further details on recognized deferred 
tax assets and unrecognized tax losses are disclosed in 
note 13.

Assessment of uncertain tax positions 
If facts or circumstances change or if new information 
becomes available, SIX reassesses the judgement or 
estimate used to determine the accounting for its un-
certain tax treatments. When analyzing uncertain tax 
treatments, SIX must consider whether it is probable 
that the tax authority would accept the treatment of 
SIX. The potential effect of the uncertainty is disclosed 
if it is material. For further details on uncertain tax 
positions and the potential effect of uncertainty, see 
note 12.

Measurement of defined benefit obligations
Accounting for defined benefit obligations requires 
the  application of certain actuarial assumptions (e.g. 
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discount rate, salary trend, interest rate on retirement 
savings capital and life expectancy). Changes in 
actuarial assumptions can materially affect pension 
obligations and the expenses arising from employee 
benefit plans. The actuarial assumptions are reviewed 
with the independent actuaries at each reporting date. 
A sensitivity analysis of the key factors is presented in 
note 33.

Impairment of non-financial assets
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and 
intangible assets with indefinite useful life are allo-
cated to cash-generating units (“CGU”). The carrying 
value of a CGU is compared to its recoverable amount, 
which is determined on a value-in-use basis. 

The value in use is derived from the discounted future 
free cash flows of a CGU. Cash flow projections are 
based on the budget and mid-term financial plan 
approved by the Board of Directors (BoD). The budget 
and mid-term financial plan cover three years and are 
updated annually. Cash flows beyond the financial 
planning period are extrapolated using a perpetual 

growth rate. Estimating future earnings involves judg-
ment, as the developments in the respective markets 
and in the overall macroeconomic environment need 
to be estimated based on the currently available 
information. The discount rates are determined by ap-
plying the capital asset pricing model. A change in the 
key assumptions used to determine the recoverable 
amounts of each CGU may have a significant effect on 
the result of the impairment test. The key assumptions 
are tested for sensitivity by applying reasonably possible 
changes to those assumptions. For a description of the 
key assumptions, see note 20.

For the impairment test of listed associated companies, 
the cash flow projections are based on publicly available 
data such as investor guidance and growth rates 
published by a company or the analyst consensus for 
earnings and free cash flows. The discount rates are 
determined by applying the capital asset pricing model. 
A change in the key assumptions used to determine 
the recoverable amounts may have a significant effect 
on the result of the impairment test. In 2022, no 
impairment was recognized.
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Performance for the Year

4. Segment Information
Determination of operating segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting to the Executive Board of 
SIX and the chief operating decision maker (CODM). 
The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing the performance of the operating seg-
ments, has been identified as the CEO. 

For the purpose of the segment reporting, SIX is broken 
down into five reportable segments (four business 
units and IT) and Corporate & Others. The latter includes 
SIX Exchange Regulation and corporate activities 
that  support the Group as a whole, i.e. Risk, Legal & 
Compliance, Finance & Services, Human Resources 
and Marketing & Communications. Thus, Corporate & 
Others does not qualify as a reportable operating seg-
ment under IFRS 8.

The reportable segments and Corporate & Others offer the following products and services:

Service 	 Service description 

 	  

Exchanges 	  

Trading 	 Exchanges generates transaction revenues by providing a cash market for trading in shares, private and public 

 	 debt, warrants, funds, financial and electricity derivatives and exchange-traded products (ETPs), as well as a 

 	 securitized derivatives market for structured products and warrants. Transaction revenues are invoiced on a 

 	 monthly basis. The trading business also generates service revenues for access, admission of securities to 

 	 trading and ongoing listing. 

Data 	 Exchanges distributes raw market data and index products, which generate service revenues. Depending on 

 	 the market, service fees are invoiced on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis. 

 	  

Securities Services 	  

Custody business 	 Operating as the central securities depository (CSD) for Switzerland and Spain as well as an international 

 	 custodian across various markets worldwide, Securities Services delivers comprehensive custody services for 

 	 Swiss, Spanish and other international securities. Securities Services generate service revenues with issuer 

 	 services, asset servicing/shareholder services, banking services/cash management, queries and reporting, 

 	 and tax services. Transaction revenues are generated with settlement services, tax services, repos and fund 

 	 processing. The custody business also generates interest income from interest margin business. Revenues 

 	 from the custody business are generally invoiced on a monthly basis. 

CCP clearing 	 Securities Services provides multi-asset clearing services and acts as a highly diversified central counterparty 

 	 (CCP) with access to multiple trading venues and matching platforms across Europe. Transaction revenues are 

 	 generated from the clearing of trades and the settlement of transactions. Further revenues are recognized 

 	 from the transfers and management of pledges on securities and access charges for infrastructures and other 

 	 facilities. Transaction revenues from clearing and CCP settlements are invoiced monthly and/or quarterly. 

 	 Interest income from interest margin business is generated from repo transactions. 

Securities Finance 	 Securities Finance Services includes repo trading (CO:RE) and collateral management triparty services for 

 	 various products (repo, TCM, inital margin calls, structured products, securities lending & borrowing) as well 

 	 as Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (SFTR) reporting. The Securities Finance business generates 

 	 revenues in trading and post-trading activities, which are invoiced on a monthly basis, except for service revenues 

 	 related to SFTR, which are invoiced on an annual basis. 
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Service 	 Service description 

 	  

Banking Services 	  

Billing and payments 	 Banking Services offers payment transaction processing services between financial institutions through the 

 	 legal entity SIX Interbank Clearing Ltd (SIC). SIC processes retail and wholesale payments in Swiss francs 

 	 on behalf of the Swiss National Bank. It also provides a gateway for euro payments for the Swiss financial 

 	 community (euroSIC). Banking Services is an infrastructure provider for digital billing in Switzerland with 

 	 solutions such as eBill and direct debits. The revenues are mainly generated from transaction fees. Service 

 	 revenues are generated from base fees and consultancy services. Additionally, Banking Services generates 

 	 interest income from interest margin business. Transaction and service fees are generally invoiced on a 

 	 monthly basis. 

ATM processing and services 	 Banking Services provides ATM transaction processing and infrastructure services in Switzerland. Banking  

 	 Services mainly generates transaction revenues through processed transactions and service fees based on 

 	 the number of ATMs. The location fee received in the ATM business is presented net in transaction income, 

 	 as SIX does not control the service. Service fees are generally invoiced on an annual basis. 

Debit processing and services 	 Banking Services provides issuing processing services for debit card issuers. Transactions processed generate 

 	 transaction revenues and issuing service fees. Besides that, Banking Services also generates service revenues 

 	 by providing operational support to card issuers (e.g. hotline services or fraud management). Service fees are 

 	 generally invoiced on a monthly basis. 

Connectivity and data 	 Banking Services offers digital solutions for transactions with land registers through its legal entity SIX Terravis 

 	 Ltd and operates bLink, an open banking platform that provides standardized interfaces for the exchanges of 

 	 different types of financial data. The main part of revenues is generated from service revenues based on the 

 	 volume of registered customer assets at SIX Terravis Ltd. Service fees are generally invoiced on a monthly basis. 

 	  

Financial Information 	  

Reference data & pricing 	 Financial Information offers procurement, processing and distribution of reference data and pricing informa- 

 	 tion. The business generates service revenues. Subscription fees are generally invoiced on an annual basis. 

Market data & display 	 Financial Information provides procurement, processing and distribution of (real-time) market data and offers 

 	 display products. The business generates service revenues. Subscription fees are generally invoiced on an 

 	 annual basis. Royalties for financial data paid to stock exchanges are presented net in service income, as SIX 

 	 does not control the service. 

Tax & regulatory services 	 Financial Information provides complete reference data required for local and cross-border regulatory and tax 

 	 compliance. The business generates service revenues. Subscription fees are generally invoiced on an annual 

 	 basis. 

Indices 	 Financial Information provides index services by calculating indices and offering licenses for SIX indices. The 

 	 business generates service revenues. Subscription fees for the index services are generally invoiced quarterly 

 	 for variable fees and annually for fixed fees. 

 	  

IT 	  

Corporate IT 	 IT provides corporate services (e.g. Digital Workplace) and operates the IT infrastructure and applications (e.g. 

 	 trading platforms) for the business units. Service revenues are mainly generated by providing services to 

 	 associated companies. 

 	  

Corporate & Others 	  

Corporate & other services 	 Corporate activities include Risk, Security & Compliance, Legal & Regulatory, Finance & Services, Human 

 	 Resources and Marketing & Communications. Corporate & Others also includes SIX Exchange Regulation. 

The performance of business units is measured based on 
business unit profit as set out in the internal management 
reports, which are reviewed regularly by the CODM. IT 
and Corporate & Others are measured based on the 
operating expenses. 



66SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

 	 2022	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Financial	 	 Total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 Securities	 	 Banking	 	 Infor-	 	 business	 	 	 	 Corporate	 	 Elimi-	 	 	

CHF million 	 Exchanges	 	 Services	 	 Services	 	 mation	 	 units	 	 IT	 	 & Others	 	 nation	 	 Total SIX	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Revenues from third parties 	 360.0		  457.1	 	 223.5	 	 385.6	 	 1,426.2	 	 42.3	 	 25.7	 	 –	 	 1,494.1	

Revenues from intra-Group 	 7.4	 	 8.8	 	 2.1	 	 7.1	 	 25.5	 	 285.5	 	 105.5	 	 –416.4	 	 –	

Total operating income 	 367.4	 	 465.9	 	 225.7	 	 392.6	 	 1,451.7	 	 327.7	 	 131.2	 	 –416.4	 	 1,494.1	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total operating expenses 	 –249.7	 	 –308.6	 	 –196.3	 	 –336.6	 	 –1,091.2	 	 –298.0	 	 –123.6	 	 416.4	 	 –1,096.4	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings before interest, 	 117.7	 	 157.3	 	 29.3	 	 56.0	 	 360.4	 	 29.7	 	 7.6	 	 –	 	 397.7	

tax, depreciation and 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

amortization (EBITDA) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Depreciation, amortization 	 –16.5	 	 –10.1	 	 –13.4	 	 –12.5	 	 –52.6	 	 –21.4	 	 –103.5	 	 –	 	 –177.5	

and impairment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Business unit profit 	 101.2	 	 147.2	 	 15.9	 	 43.5	 	 307.8	 	 8.3	 	 –95.9	 	 –	 	 220.3	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial income 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 80.2	

Financial expenses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –78.1	

Share of profit or loss of 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 21.6	

associates and joint 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

ventures 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings before interest 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 243.9	

and tax (EBIT) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Interest income 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.9	

Interest expenses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –8.6	

Earnings before tax (EBT) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 236.2	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income tax expenses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –51.2	

Profit for the period 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 185.0	
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 	 2021 (restated)	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Financial	 	 Total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 Securities	 	 Banking	 	 Infor-	 	 business	 	 	 	 Corporate	 	 Elimi-	 	 	

CHF million 	 Exchanges	  1	 Services	  1	 Services	  1	 mation	  1	 units	 	 IT	 	 & Others	 	 nation	 	 Total SIX	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Revenues from third parties 	 380.7	 	 459.7	 	 206.7	 	 380.7	 	 1,427.8	 	 42.8	 	 27.7	 	 –	 	 1,498.3	

Revenues from intra-Group 	 9.6	 	 9.9	 	 6.3	 	 7.6	 	 33.4	 	 273.9	 	 90.3	 	 –397.5	 	 –	

Total operating income 	 390.2	 	 469.7	 	 213.0	 	 388.3	 	 1,461.2	 	 316.7	 	 118.0	 	 –397.5	 	 1,498.3	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total operating expenses 	 –234.6	 	 –333.3	 	 –185.9	 	 –324.1	 	 –1,077.9	 	 –294.9	 	 –101.4	 	 397.5	 	 –1,076.6	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings before interest, 	 155.6	 	 136.3	 	 27.1	 	 64.2	 	 383.3	 	 21.8	 	 16.6	 	 –	 	 421.7	

tax, depreciation and 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

amortization (EBITDA) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Depreciation, amortization 	 –10.3	 	 –5.9	 	 –12.1	 	 –11.9	 	 –40.2	 	 –23.7	 	 –109.8	 	 –	 	 –173.6	

and impairment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Business unit profit 	 145.4	 	 130.5	 	 14.9	 	 52.3	 	 343.1	 	 –1.9	 	 –93.2	 	 –	 	 248.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial income 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 49.7	

Financial expenses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –48.4	

Share of profit or loss of 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –102.1	

associates and joint 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

ventures 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings before interest 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 147.2	

and tax (EBIT) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Interest income 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0.7	

Interest expenses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –11.0	

Earnings before tax (EBT) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 136.9	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income tax expenses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –63.4	

Profit for the period 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 73.5	

1	 Prior year figures have been restated due to internal reorganizations effective 1 January 2022. The impact on business unit profit was as follows:
	 Exchanges: CHF +2.4 million, Securities Services: CHF –3.4 million, Banking Services: CHF +2.9 million, Financial Information: CHF –1.9 million.
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Disclosures by geographical area
SIX operates mainly in Switzerland, Spain and in other 
European countries. The geographical analysis of 
the  operating income from external customers and 
non-current assets is based on the location of the entity 
in which the transactions and assets were recorded. 

Non-current assets mainly consist of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, investments in 
associates and other non-current assets, and exclude 
financial instruments, deferred tax and post-employment 
benefit assets in accordance with the provisions of 
IFRS 8.

 	 Total operating income	 	 Non-current assets	

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Switzerland 	 978.8	 	 962.0	 	 2,042.0	 	 2,090.7	

Spain 	 280.2	 	 312.5	 	 2,457.3	 	 2,710.0	

France 	 47.1	 	 48.9	 	 4.2	 	 6.4	

Luxembourg 	 33.6	 	 17.6	 	 128.4	 	 0.9	

Germany 	 33.6	 	 40.3	 	 1.6	 	 1.9	

United Kingdom 	 27.8	 	 20.9	 	 53.5	 	 54.1	

Italy 	 15.0	 	 16.9	 	 1.0	 	 1.1	

Rest of Europe 	 36.9	 	 40.7	 	 3.1	 	 3.7	

North America 	 30.4	 	 26.7	 	 5.0	 	 6.5	

Asia/Pacific 	 9.2	 	 10.1	 	 3.2	 	 4.2	

North Africa 	 1.5	 	 1.6	 	 0.2	 	 0.2	

Total 	 1,494.1	 	 1,498.3	 	 4,699.5	 	 4,879.9	

Disclosures of major customers
SIX has a large number of customers. In 2022 and 2021, 
there was no major customer whose revenues repre-
sented more than 10% of the Group’s revenue. 
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5. Operating Income
In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by revenue type and by major service lines:

 	 2022	

 	 	 	 	 	 Net interest	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 income from	 	 Other	 	 	

 	 Transaction	 	 Service	 	 interest mar-	 	 operating	 	 	

CHF million 	 revenues	 	 revenues	 	 gin business	 	 income	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Exchanges 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trading 	 196.4	 	 73.7	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 270.3	

Data 	 –	 	 81.8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 81.8	

Other services 	 3.3	 	 4.4	 	 –	 	 0.3	 	 7.9	

Total Exchanges 	 199.6	 	 159.9	 	 –	 	 0.5	 	 360.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Securities Services 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Custody business 	 120.5	 	 165.7	 	 24.6	 	 0.1	 	 310.9	

CCP clearing 	 43.2	 	 5.8	 	 14.5	 	 0.0	 	 63.5	

Securities finance 	 23.0	 	 8.4	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 31.5	

Other services 	 39.3	 	 11.7	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 51.2	

Total Securities Services 	 225.9	 	 191.6	 	 39.1	 	 0.5	 	 457.1	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Banking Services 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Billing and payments 	 53.2	 	 11.9	 	 8.1	 	 0.1	 	 73.4	

ATM processing and services 	 32.5	 	 6.2	 	 –	 	 0.3	 	 39.0	

Debit processing and services 	 85.0	 	 8.0	 	 –	 	 –	 	 92.9	

Connectivity and data 	 1.5	 	 10.1	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 11.7	

Other services 	 –	 	 6.4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6.4	

Total Banking Services 	 172.2	 	 42.7	 	 8.1	 	 0.6	 	 223.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial Information 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Reference data & pricing 	 –	 	 204.5	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 204.7	

Market data & display 	 –	 	 91.7	 	 –	 	 –	 	 91.7	

Tax & regulatory services 	 –	 	 43.6	 	 –	 	 –	 	 43.6	

Indices 	 –	 	 26.0	 	 –	 	 –	 	 26.0	

Other services 	 –	 	 19.4	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 19.5	

Total Financial Information 	 –	 	 385.3	 	 –	 	 0.3	 	 385.6	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

IT 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Corporate IT 	 –	 	 41.5	 	 –	 	 0.8	 	 42.3	

Total IT 	 –	 	 41.5	 	 –	 	 0.8	 	 42.3	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Corporate & Others 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Corporate & other services 	 –	 	 1.8	 	 –	 	 23.8	 	 25.7	

Total Corporate & Others 	 –	 	 1.8	 	 –	 	 23.8	 	 25.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total operating income 	 597.7	 	 822.7	 	 47.2	 	 26.5	 	 1,494.1	
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 	 2021 (restated)	

 	 	 	 	 	 Net interest	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 income from	 	 Other	 	 	

 	 Transaction	 	 Service	 	 interest mar-	 	 operating	 	 	

CHF million 	 revenues	  1	 revenues	  1	 gin business	 	 income	  1	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Exchanges 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trading 	 217.2	 	 71.6	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 289.0	

Data 	 –	 	 82.6	 	 –	 	 –	 	 82.6	

Other services 2	 4.0	 	 5.0	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 9.1	

Total Exchanges 	 221.2	 	 159.1	 	 –	 	 0.3	 	 380.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Securities Services 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Custody business 	 141.8	 	 177.8	 	 14.2	 	 –	 	 333.9	

CCP clearing 	 43.1		  8.7	 	 16.8	 	 0.2	 	 68.8	

Securities finance 	 15.2	 	 7.0	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 22.4	

Other services 2	 22.3	 	 12.3	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 34.7	

Total Securities Services 	 222.4	 	 205.7	 	 31.1	 	 0.5	 	 459.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Banking Services 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Billing and payments 	 56.4	 	 8.5	 	 13.4	 	 0.4	 	 78.7	

ATM processing and services 	 29.2	 	 6.2	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 35.7	

Debit processing and services 	 68.9	 	 5.3	 	 –	 	 –	 	 74.2	

Connectivity and data 	 2.5	 	 8.9	 	 –	 	 0.5	 	 11.8	

Other services 2	 –	 	 6.2	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6.2	

Total Banking Services 	 157.0	 	 35.2	 	 13.4	 	 1.1	 	 206.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial Information 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Reference data & pricing 	 –	 	 231.7	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 231.8	

Market data & display 	 –	 	 72.2	 	 –	 	 –	 	 72.2	

Tax & regulatory services 	 –	 	 39.8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 39.8	

Indices 	 –	 	 22.0	 	 –	 	 –	 	 22.0	

Other services 2	 –	 	 14.8	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 14.9	

Total Financial Information 	 –	 	 380.6	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 380.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

IT 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Corporate IT 	 –	 	 42.6	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 42.8	

Total IT 	 –	 	 42.6	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 42.8	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Corporate & Others 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Corporate & other services 	 –	 	 2.6	 	 –	 	 25.1	 	 27.7	

Total Corporate & Others 	 –	 	 2.6	 	 –	 	 25.1	 	 27.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total operating income 	 600.6	 	 825.9	 	 44.5	 	 27.3	 	 1,498.3	

1	 See note 2 (under 2.4 Restatement) for further information on the restatement.
2	 Prior year figures have been restated due to internal reorganizations effective 1 January 2022.
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 Transaction price allocated to the remaining 
performance obligations
The following table provides information about perfor-
mance obligations that have already been contractually 

agreed upon, but are unsatisfied (or partially unsatis-
fied) at year-end. Customer contracts with an initial 
term of 12 months or less and services with transaction- 
based fees are not included.

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Within one year 	 85.6	 	 90.5	

Within two years 	 63.2	 	 63.9	

Within three years 	 54.7	 	 51.7	

Thereafter 	 132.3	 	 188.6	

Total 	 335.8	 	 394.7	

Contract liabilities
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening to the closing balances of contract liabilities:

CHF million 	 	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount at 1 January 	 	 	 49.0	 	 60.3	

Revenue recognized that was included in contract liabilities at 1 January 	 	 	 –29.3	 	 –28.3	

Increases due to cash received, excluding amounts recognized as revenue during the period 	 	 	 11.0	 	 14.8	

Additions due to changes in the scope of consolidation 1	 	 	 2.0	 	 2.2	

Carrying amount at 31 December 	 	 	 32.7	 	 49.0	

of which current 	 	 	 16.3	 	 22.6	

of which non-current 	 	 	 16.4	 	 26.4	

1	 The figure includes the net change of contract liabilities during the year related to acquired companies, see note 29.

6. Net Interest Income from Interest Margin Business
CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Interest income from interest margin business 	 92.7	 	 83.1	

Interest expenses from interest margin business 	 –45.5	 	 –38.6	

Net interest income from interest margin business 	 47.2	 	 44.5	

In 2022, interest expenses from interest margin busi-
ness included interest arising from negative interest rates 
on financial assets in the amount of CHF  29.3 million 

(2021: CHF 34.8 million), of which CHF 1.5 million (2021: 
CHF  1.5 million) related to financial instruments at 
FVtOCI.



72SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

Net interest income from interest margin business 
includes interest received of CHF  103.0 million (2021: 
CHF 95.1 million), whereas interest expenses from interest 

margin business include interest paid of CHF 44.0 million 
(2021: CHF 37.1 million).

7. Employee Benefit Expenses
CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Salaries and wages 	 –466.8	 	 –458.3	

Social security expenses 	 –114.1	 	 –114.2	

Others 	 –29.2	 	 –28.6	

Total employee benefit expenses 	 –610.1	 	 –601.0	

Expenses recognized for defined contribution plans 
are included in social security expenses and amount to 

CHF 3.7 million (2021: CHF 3.4 million). For further infor-
mation on defined benefit plans, see note 33.

8. Other Operating Expenses
CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Contractor costs 	 –151.3	 	 –163.6	

Sales-related costs 	 –135.0	 	 –148.8	

Expenses for IT infrastructure 	 –99.2	 	 –92.4	

Expenses for data procurement & operation 	 –46.9	 	 –46.1	

VAT & tax expenses 	 –19.3	 	 –15.6	

Expenses for building infrastructure 	 –16.9	 	 –16.2	

Marketing and advertising expenses 	 –13.4	 	 –12.0	

Legal and audit fees 	 –9.1	 	 –10.3	

Travel expenses 	 –6.9	 	 –2.8	

Others 	 –20.6	 	 –18.1	

Own work capitalized 	 32.3	 	 50.4	

Total other operating expenses 	 –486.2	 	 –475.6	

Contractor costs primarily include consulting, out-
sourcing, external staff and software development. 

Own work capitalized includes costs incurred for the 
development and implementation of software and 
Software as a Service arrangements.
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CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Total expenses for software development 	 53.0	 	 87.9	

of which capitalized 	 32.3	 	 50.4	

In 2022, 61.0% of the project costs incurred for deve
lopment and implementation were capitalized (2021: 
57.4%). The capitalization ratio mainly depends on the 

nature of the costs incurred, the stage of projects and 
the costs of maintenance projects.

9. Financial Income and Expenses
CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Income from financial instruments at fair value 	 4.9	 	 3.8	

Foreign exchange rate gains 	 53.8	 	 38.3	

Other financial income 	 21.5	 	 7.6	

Total financial income 	 80.2	 	 49.7	

 	 	 	 	

Expenses from financial instruments at fair value 	 –3.4	 	 –3.2	

Expenses from financial instruments at amortized cost 	 –5.5	 	 –0.0	

Foreign exchange rate losses 	 –51.1	 	 –37.6	

Other financial expenses 	 –18.1	 	 –7.6	

Total financial expenses 	 –78.1	 	 –48.4	

Foreign exchange rate gains and losses comprise 
gains  and losses from financial instruments at amor-
tized cost and financial instruments at fair value. The 
latter also includes the fair value changes of foreign 
currency derivatives. In 2022, the net foreign exchange 
losses on financial instruments at amortized cost 
amounted to CHF  16.8 million (2021: net loss of 
CHF  2.8 million), which was largely compensated by 
gains of financial instruments at fair value.

In 2022, other financial income mainly included 
the  remeasurement gain related to REGIS-TR of 
CHF 10.3 million (see note 29), a remeasurement gain 
of  CHF  5.8 million on the NCI liabilities of Orenda 

(see note 17) and a gain of CHF 3.7 million from the 
deconsolidation of F10 Group (see note 28). In 2021, 
other financial income included the gain from the sale 
of the e-Invoicing business to Postfinance Ltd. 

In 2022, expenses from financial instruments at amor-
tized cost included losses from disposals of bonds 
related to a restructuring of the SECB bond portfolio. 

In 2022, other financial expenses mainly comprised the 
loss on the sale of Custodigit of CHF 11.9 million (see 
note 28) and deemed disposals of CHF 5.2 million (2021: 
CHF 5.3 million) arising from new shares issued under 
employee share purchase plans of Worldline SA. 
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10. Interest Income and Expenses
CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Interest income bonds 	 0.6	 	 0.6	

Others 	 0.2	 	 0.1	

Total interest income 	 0.9	 	 0.7	

 	 	 	 	

Interest expenses bonds 	 –0.5	 	 –0.1	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 –4.2	 	 –5.5	

Borrowings 	 –1.1	 	 –2.5	

Interest expenses on lease liabilities 	 –2.8	 	 –2.9	

Total interest expenses 	 –8.6	 	 –11.0	

In  2022, total interest expenses included interest 
charges arising from negative interest rates on 

financial assets in the amount of CHF 4.2 million (2021: 
CHF 5.5 million).

11. Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of SIX 
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

 	 Notes	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net profit attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd (in CHF million) 	 	 	 185.4	 	 73.9	

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 	 22	 	 18,914,041	 	 18,914,041	

Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 	 	 	 9.80	 	 3.91	

There was no dilution of earnings per share in 2022 or 
2021.
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Income Taxes

12. Income Taxes
Income tax expenses
The major components of income tax expenses for the years ending 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 were 
as follows:

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

Current tax 	 	 	 	

Current tax on profits for the year 	 –74.4	 	 –88.2	

Adjustments in respect of prior years 	 –2.4	 	 2.0	

Total current tax expenses 	 –76.8	 	 –86.2	

 	 	 	 	

Deferred tax 	 	 	 	

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 	 22.2	 	 23.1	

Deferred tax on tax losses 	 3.4	 	 –0.5	

Other changes in deferred tax 	 –0.1	 	 0.1	

Total deferred tax benefits/(expenses) 	 25.6	 	 22.8	

 	 	 	 	

Total income tax expenses 	 –51.2	 	 –63.4	

In 2022, an extensive commentary on the Pillar II rules 
(Minimum Taxation) was published by the OECD. Pillar 
II requires multinational enterprises with an annual 
global turnover exceeding EUR 750 million to pay at 
least 15% tax per jurisdiction. It is expected that most 
countries, among them Switzerland, will incorporate 
the Pillar II rules into national tax law per 1 January 2024. 
As SIX exceeds the threshold and thus is in scope of 
Pillar II, in future years the income taxes of SIX may be 
affected by the application of the new taxation rules. 
SIX will not be affected by Pillar I (Taxing rights for 
market jurisdictions of multinational enterprises) as 

the global turnover of SIX will be below the required 
threshold and also because the financial services 
industries are expected to be out of scope of Pillar I.

The remaining value of the tax asset related to the 
brand “SIX”, which was built as a measure from the 
Swiss tax reform in 2019, was amortized in 2022. As 
another measure from the Swiss tax reform, the 
super-deduction of R&D expenses is used for selected 
Swiss entities. The recognized income tax expenses 
are  subject to possible adjustments in the final tax 
assessments. 



76SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

Tax reconciliation
The following breakdown shows the reconciliation of the income tax expenses reflected in the financial state-
ments and the amount calculated at the weighted average tax rate:

CHF million 	 	 	 2022	 	 	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income from operating activities, gross of tax expenses 	 	 	 236.2	 	 	 	 136.9	

Group’s weighted average applicable tax rate/ 	 19.4%	 	 –45.7	 	 21.6%	 	 –29.6	

Group’s expected tax expenses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Impact of differences in tax rates and tax bases 	 –0.3%	 	 0.8	 	 –0.2%	 	 0.3	

Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses 	 –0.7%	 	 1.7	 	 –1.0%	 	 1.4	

Deferred tax recognized for tax losses of prior years 	 –1.7%	 	 4.1	 	 –0.2%	 	 0.3	

Deferred tax not recognized for tax losses of the year 	 13.4%	 	 –31.7	 	 10.0%	 	 –13.7	

Adjustments of deferred tax for tax losses of prior years 	 0.4%	 	 –0.9	 	 0.1%	 	 –0.2	

Impact of permanent differences 	 –9.7%	 	 23.0	 	 17.8%	 	 –24.3	

Adjustments of previous years 	 1.0%	 	 –2.4	 	 –2.0%	 	 2.7	

Intercompany effects 	 –0.0%	 	 0.1	 	 0.2%	 	 –0.2	

Group’s effective tax rate/tax expenses 	 21.7%	 	 –51.2	 	 46.3%	 	 –63.4	

The expected tax expenses at the weighted average 
applicable tax rate are the result of applying the 
domestic statutory tax rates to the earnings before tax 
of each entity in the country in which it operates and of 
reversing intercompany effects. The change in the 
weighted average tax rate was mainly due to a further 
reduction of income tax rates in Switzerland in 2022 
and by the share of loss of Worldline in 2021.

Permanent differences include tax-exempt income, 
non-deductible expenses and the impact of specific 
tax regulations and participation exemptions. In 
2022, permanent differences included the non-taxable 
share of profit of Worldline and other associates and 
the tax-deductible impairments on investments in 
the local accounts. In 2021, permanent differences 
included in particular the non-taxable share of loss of 
Worldline.

Income tax receivables and payables
The estimated amounts of current income tax receivables 
and payables, including any amounts related to uncertain 
tax positions, are based on currently known facts and 
circumstances. 

The Tax Authorities of the Canton of Zurich have an-
nounced a re-assessment of possible tax effects from 
the disposal of the former cards business on SIX Group 
Ltd and SIX Financial Information Ltd in the tax period 
2018. The possible tax claim would amount to a maximum 
of CHF 26.0 million. Management believes that it has 
strong arguments to defend its current position and 
that the re-assessment will not lead to a payment. 
Accordingly, no provision for any liability has been 
made in these financial statements.
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13. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Deferred taxes relating to items in the balance sheet
Deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the following items:

 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

CHF million 	 Assets	 	 Liabilities	 	 Assets	 	 Liabilities	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade and other receivables 	 0.1	 	 0.8	 	 0.1	 	 0.7	

Financial assets 	 0.0	 	 3.3	 	 0.0	 	 5.1	

Other assets 	 0.2	 	 1.0	 	 0.3	 	 1.0	

Property, plant and equipment 	 0.0	 	 8.7	 	 0.0	 	 9.9	

Intangible assets 	 0.3	 	 251.0	 	 0.9	 	 263.3	

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 	 –	 	 1.2	 	 –	 	 0.2	

Assets from pension fund benefits 	 0.0	 	 2.3	 	 0.0	 	 26.0	

Provisions 	 1.0	 	 0.0	 	 1.0	 	 0.1	

Other liabilities 	 5.2	 	 0.0	 	 5.6	 	 0.0	

Financial liabilities 	 6.0	 	 0.1	 	 7.2	 	 0.2	

Pension fund liabilities 	 4.2	 	 –	 	 4.6	 	 –	

Tax loss carryforwards 	 5.1	 	 –	 	 1.8	 	 –	

Total deferred tax assets/liabilities 	 22.1	 	 268.6	 	 21.5	 	 306.4	

Offsetting 	 –6.4	 	 –6.4	 	 –7.7	 	 –7.7	

Deferred tax assets/liabilities on the balance sheet 	 15.7	 	 262.2	 	 13.8	 	 298.7	

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities changed as follows:

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount at 1 January 	 	 	 –284.9	 	 –288.3	

Business combinations 	 29	 	 –21.1	 	 –0.8	

Changes affecting the income statement 	 	 	 25.6	 	 22.8	

Changes affecting OCI 	 	 	 21.0	 	 –30.7	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 12.9	 	 12.1	

Carrying amount at 31 December 	 	 	 –246.5	 	 –284.9	

of which deferred tax assets 	 	 	 15.7	 	 13.8	

of which deferred tax liabilities 	 	 	 –262.2	 	 –298.7	
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Expiry dates of recognized and unrecognized unused tax loss carryforwards
The gross values of recognized and unrecognized unused tax loss carryforwards, with their expiry dates, are 
as follows:

 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Not 		 	 	 	 	 Not	 	 	 	 	

CHF million 	 recognized	 	 Recognized	 	 Total	 	 recognized	 	 Recognized	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

One year 	 15.0	 	 –	 	 15.0	 	 11.4	 	 1.7	 	 13.1	

Two years 	 14.7	 	 –	 	 14.7	 	 13.3	 	 1.7	 	 15.0	

Three years 	 4.7	 	 –	 	 4.7	 	 14.6	 	 0.2	 	 14.8	

Four years 	 43.5	 	 –	 	 43.5	 	 4.9	 	 –	 	 4.9	

Five years 	 55.1	 	 7.9	 	 63.0	 	 50.6	 	 –	 	 50.6	

Six years 	 55.9	 	 8.8	 	 64.7	 	 64.6	 	 –	 	 64.6	

More than six years 	 167.9	 	 7.5	 	 175.4	 	 82.8	 	 4.5	 	 87.3	

Total 	 356.9	 	 24.2	 	 381.1	 	 242.2	 	 8.1	 	 250.3	

Potential tax saving 	 57.1	 	 	 	 57.1	 	 49.3	 	 	 	 49.3	

No deferred tax assets have been recognized for tax loss 
carryforwards of CHF 356.9 million (31 December 2021: 
CHF 242.2 million), as it is uncertain whether the losses 
will be utilized in the future. As at 31 December 2022, 
the potential tax saving from unrecognized tax loss 
carryforwards was CHF 57.1 million (31 December 2021: 
CHF 49.3 million). For tax loss carryforwards which will 
have no tax effect when used, no potential tax savings 
are considered.

As at 31  December  2022, tax loss carryforwards of 
CHF 24.2 million (31 December 2021: CHF 8.1 million) 
were recognized, resulting in deferred tax assets of 
CHF 5.1 million (31 December 2021: CHF 1.8 million).
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Assets, Equity and Liabilities

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents
CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Cash at central banks 	 3,600.3	 	 5,644.3	

Cash at other banks and on hand 	 649.9	 	 773.5	

Short-term bank deposits 	 70.3	 	 55.7	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 4,320.5	 	 6,473.5	

 
Cash and cash equivalents include the following items for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:

CHF million 	 	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 4,320.5	 	 6,473.5	

Bank overdrafts 	 	 	 –472.0	 	 –0.2	

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 	 	 	 3,848.6	 	 6,473.3	

Bank overdrafts increased by CHF 471.8 million due to 
temporary withdrawals of customer deposits at SECB 
as at the balance sheet date. SECB used its securities 

portfolio to obtain liquidity from Deutsche Bundesbank 
as part of a Lombard transaction.

15. Trade and Other Receivables
CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables 	 148.6	 	 141.3	

Unbilled receivables 	 26.9	 	 28.6	

Other receivables 	 26.4	 	 19.6	

Total trade and other receivables 	 201.9	 	 189.5	

The exposure of SIX in relation to credit risk and details 
of expected credit losses on trade and other receivables 
are disclosed in note  25. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date corresponds to the 
carrying amount.

Trade and other receivables due from related parties 
are disclosed in note 34.
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16. Receivables and Payables from Clearing & Settlement
CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 750.9	 	 434.2	

Receivables from reverse repurchase transactions 	 3,803.8	 	 1,915.8	

Total receivables from clearing & settlement – Securities Services 	 4,554.7	 	 2,350.0	

 	 	 	 	

Receivables from ATM and debit processing 	 382.6	 	 186.5	

Receivables from euro clearing business 	 0.7	 	 0.5	

Total receivables from clearing & settlement – Banking Services 	 383.3	 	 187.1	

Total receivables from clearing & settlement 	 4,938.0	 	 2,537.1	

 	 	 	 	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 1,909.6	 	 1,426.1	

Cash collateral received 	 5,586.9	 	 6,427.1	

Payables from repurchase agreements 	 18.7	 	 –	

Payables from settled suspense 	 55.9	 	 29.6	

Total payables from clearing & settlement – Securities Services 	 7,571.1	 	 7,882.8	

 	 	 	 	

Payables from ATM and debit processing 	 371.0	 	 160.9	

Payables from euro clearing business 	 895.4	 	 1,222.9	

Total payables from clearing & settlement – Banking Services 	 1,266.4	 	 1,383.8	

Total payables from clearing & settlement 	 8,837.5	 	 9,266.6	

Receivables and payables from clearing & 
settlement – Securities Services
Receivables and payables from clearing & settlement in 
the post-trading area derive from SIX acting as a central 
counterparty (CCP) or a central securities depository 
(CSD) for securities trading. The CCP steps into the con-
tracts as an intermediary, representing the buyer to 
each seller and the seller to each buyer. 

Receivables from clearing & settlement include deposits 
at correspondence banks for cross-border settlements, 
unsettled margin calls and unsettled daily variation 
margins from derivatives.

Reverse repurchase transactions are conducted under 
the usual terms and conditions applying to such agree-
ments. The fair value of securities received as collateral 
from third parties under reverse repurchase trans
actions with unconditional right to sell or repledge 
totaled CHF  3,813.8 million (31  December  2021: 
CHF 1,915.4 million). As at 31 December 2022, SIX had 
repledged securities received as collateral under 

reverse repurchase transactions in the amount of 
CHF 475.0 million (31 December 2021: CHF 99.7 million).

Participants hold deposits with SIX, which are 
presented as payables from clearing & settlement. 
To ensure that participants meet all their obligations, 
a portion of the deposits is blocked as collateral.  
As at 31  December  2022, cash collateral received  
totaled CHF  5,586.9 million (31  December  2021: 
CHF 6,427.1 million). For further information on collat-
eral received, see note 25. Additionally, payables from 
clearing & settlement include unsettled daily variation 
margins from derivatives.

Payables from settled suspense relate to cross-border 
transactions where a seller is short of securities. In 
such an event, SIX SIS  Ltd borrows the securities 
required and recognizes a corresponding liability.

As at 31  December 2022, the fair value of securities 
transferred as collateral for repurchase agreements 
totaled CHF 18.7 million (31 December 2021: none).
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Receivables and payables from clearing 
& settlement – Banking Services
Receivables from clearing & settlement include re-
ceivables due from issuers of debit cards and those 
from the euro clearing business. Payables from 
clearing & settlement include payables due to ATM 
providers, card schemes and acquirers. In the euro 

clearing business, where SIX acts as a correspondent 
bank through its subsidiary SECB, payables from 
clearing & settlement mainly relate to deposits 
received by participants of the euro clearing system. 
The funds received from the participants are held at 
Deutsche Bundesbank or invested in bonds, see 
note 17.

17. Financial Assets and Liabilities (Current and Non-current)
CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

Current and non-current financial assets 	 	 	 	

Bonds at amortized cost 	 1,783.6	 	 1,976.4	

Bonds at FVtOCI 	 200.8	 	 212.5	

Other debt instruments 	 111.5	 	 106.6	

Equity instruments at FVtPL 	 43.4	 	 34.9	

Units in investment funds at FVtPL 	 2.3	 	 2.0	

Financial instruments from settlement business 	 11.8	 	 14.7	

Derivative financial assets 	 694.8	 	 1,286.0	

Total 	 2,848.2	 	 3,633.2	

of which current 	 1,314.9	 	 1,594.6	
of which non-current 	 1,533.3	 	 2,038.6	

 	 	 	 	

Current and non-current financial liabilities 	 	 	 	

Lease liabilities 	 151.1	 	 165.8	

Borrowings 	 1,273.5	 	 1,273.9	

Derivative financial liabilities 	 697.4	 	 1,285.0	

Other financial liabilities 	 96.9	 	 112.2	

Total 	 2,218.8	 	 2,836.8	

of which current 	 723.9	 	 1,307.9	
of which non-current 	 1,494.9	 	 1,528.9	

 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount of financial assets not derecognized 	 	 	 	

Securities lending agreements 	 –	 	 61.7	

Bonds at amortized cost
In 2022, bonds at amortized cost decreased by 
CHF 192.8 million. This decrease mainly resulted from 
adverse foreign currency effects of CHF  100.6 million 
(2021: CHF  86.3 million), which largely resulted from 
translating the assets of foreign operations and were 
accordingly recognized on Group level in other compre-
hensive income, net disposals of CHF 81.6 million (2021: 
net investments of CHF 6.5 million), and amortization of 
premiums paid of CHF 5.2 million (2021: CHF 7.1 million). 

Bonds at FVtOCI
Bonds at FVtOCI include a portfolio of government 
bonds which is held to fulfill the interoperability collateral 
requirements of SIX x-clear Ltd against other central 
counterparties. The objective of the business model is 
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
by selling bonds. In 2022, bonds at FVtOCI decreased 
by CHF 11.7 million due to fair value changes. 
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Other debt instruments
Other debt instruments include loans, fixed deposits 
and funds received for sanctioned persons. In 2022, 
other debt instruments increased mainly due to amounts 
granted to fintech companies. 

Equity instruments at FVtPL
Equity instruments at FVtPL comprise listed and un-
listed shares held by SIX. The increase in 2022 and 2021 
mainly resulted from investments in unlisted fintech 
companies.
 

Financial instruments from settlement business
These financial instruments represent listed financial 
instruments that SIX acquires in its role as a CCP. Usually, 
this occurs when the securities of a trade are only 
partially delivered on the intended settlement date. 
In such cases, the delivered securities are acquired by 
SIX. Upon delivery of the remaining securities, the trade is 
completely settled and the securities are derecognized.

Derivatives (positive and negative replacement 
values)
Besides derivatives from clearing and settlement, de-
rivatives include foreign currency forwards and swaps 
for the purpose of hedging foreign exchange effects, 
with no application of hedge accounting.

 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Positive 		 Negative 		 Positive 		 Negative 	

 	 replacement 		 replacement 		 replacement 		 replacement 	

CHF million 	 values	 	 values	 	 values	 	 values	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trading derivatives 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Foreign currency forwards and swaps 	 0.9	 	 0.3	 	 0.5	 	 0.5	

Derivatives from clearing & settlement 	 693.9	 	 697.1	 	 1,285.4	 	 1,284.5	

Equities and fixed income forwards 	 242.4	 	 245.6	 	 111.2	 	 110.3	

Options 	 98.4	 	 98.4	 	 526.1	 	 526.1	

Energy derivatives 	 353.0	 	 353.0	 	 648.1	 	 648.1	

Total trading derivatives 	 694.8	 	 697.4	 	 1,286.0	 	 1,285.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total derivative financial instruments 	 694.8	 	 697.4	 	 1,286.0	 	 1,285.0	

The positive replacement values represent the amount 
that SIX would receive if the derivative contracts were 
settled in full on the reporting date. The negative 
replacement values, on the other hand, represent 
the amount that SIX would need to pay if the derivative 
instruments were settled in full on the reporting date.

Lease liabilities
In 2022, the lease liabilities decreased mainly due to the 
amortization of CHF 18.9 million (2021: CHF 15.3 million). 
The net increase in lease liabilities arising from index 
adjustments and changes in the lease terms totaled 
CHF 5.6 million (2021: CHF 8.9 million). 
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 Borrowings
Borrowings include bonds issued by SIX and loans. 
Further details of  movements in borrowings are 

provided below under “Changes in liabilities from fi-
nancing activities”. The key terms of the bonds were as 
follows:

CHF million 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Carrying amount	

 	  	 	 	 Nominal	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	  	 Year of	 	 value	 	 	 	 Effective	 	 	 	 	

Instruments 	 Issuer 	 issuance	 	 in million	 	 Maturity	 	 interest rate	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

0.0% bond 1	 SIX Finance 	 2020	 	 EUR 650.0	 	 02/12/2025	 	 0.04%	 	 638.6	 	 671.4	

ISIN ES0305523005 	 (Luxembourg) SA 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

0.125% dual part bond 	 SIX Group Ltd 	 2021	 	 CHF 150.0	 	 27/11/2026	 	 0.21%	 	 149.5	 	 149.3	

Part A: ISIN CH1142754337 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Part B: ISIN CH1142754345 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

0.2% bond 	 SIX Group Ltd 	 2021	 	 CHF 450.0	 	 28/09/2029	 	 0.21%	 	 449.8	 	 449.8	

ISIN CH1132966347 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,237.9	 	 1,270.6	

1	 This bond has been designated as a hedging instruments for a net investment hedge to hedge the foreign currency exposure. For further details on hedge accounting, 
see note 25.

Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities include, in particular, liabilities 
due to non-controlling interests and liabilities to pass on 
the funds received for sanctioned persons (see “Other 
debt instruments” above). The NCI liabilities result from 
the acquisitions of 12H Limited, Ultumus and Orenda in 

the previous years. As at 31 December 2022, the NCI lia-
bilities totaled CHF 2.7 million (31 December 2021: CHF 
11.7 million). The decrease mainly resulted from a pay-
ment to the minority shareholders of 12H Limited and a 
remeasurement of the NCI liability of Orenda, which has 
been recognized in other financial income (see note 9).  

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The following table provides a reconciliation of the liabilities arising from financing activities.

 	 2022	

 	 Lease	 	 	 	 	 	 	

CHF million 	 liabilities	 	 Borrowings	 	 Other	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount at 1 January 	 165.8	 	 1,273.9	 	 0.5	 	 1,440.2	

Cash paid 	 –18.9	 	 –20.2	 	 –	 	 –39.1	

Changes in scope of consolidation 	 0.5	 	 –1.2	 	 –	 	 –0.8	

Changes through P&L 	 –	 	 7.2	 	 –0.5	 	 6.7	

Other non-cash 	 5.6		  46.9		  –	 	 52.5	

Translation adjustments 	 –1.9		  –33.1		  –0.0		  –35.0	
Carrying amount at 31 December 	 151.1	 	 1,273.5	 	 –	 	 1,424.5	

of which current 	 12.9	 	 13.6	 	 –	 	 26.5	

of which non-current 	 138.1	 	 1,259.9	 	 –	 	 1,398.0	
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 	 2021	

 	 Lease	 	 	 	 	 	 	

CHF million 	 liabilities	 	 Borrowings	 	 Other	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount at 1 January 	 173.7	 	 1,017.8	 	 –	 	 1,191.5	

Cash received 	 –	 	 644.6		  –		  644.6	

Cash paid 	 –15.3	 	 –363.3	 	 –	 	 –378.6	

Additions due to changes in scope of consolidation 	 –	 	 0.8	 	 0.5	 	 1.3	

Changes through P&L 	 –	 	 7.0	 	 –	 	 7.0	

Other non-cash 	 8.9	 	 –0.9	 	 –	 	 8.0	

Translation adjustments 	 –1.5		  –32.1		  –0.0		  –33.6	
Carrying amount at 31 December 	 165.8	 	 1,273.9	 	 0.5	 	 1,440.2	

of which current 	 16.8	 	 2.0	 	 –	 	 18.8	

of which non-current 	 148.9	 	 1,271.9	 	 0.5	 	 1,421.4	

18. Other Assets (Current and Non-current)
CHF million 	 Notes	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accrued revenues and prepaid expenses 	 	 	 47.1	 	 32.8	

Accrued interest 	 	 	 11.9	 	 11.3	

Receivables from other taxes 	 	 	 12.1	 	 12.2	

Other short-term assets 	 	 	 3.0	 	 0.0	

Total other current assets 	 	 	 74.2	 	 56.4	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Services to be received 	 	 	 25.3	 	 –	

Assets from pension fund benefits 	 33	 	 13.6	 	 134.0	

Costs to obtain a contract 	 	 	 7.6	 	 6.7	

Other long-term assets 	 	 	 20.3	 	 13.9	

Total other non-current assets 	 	 	 66.8	 	 154.5	

Receivables from other taxes primarily relate to receiv-
ables from value added taxes and withholding taxes.

Services to be received include maintenance services for 
a period of up to five years which are financed through 
loans. 

Other long-term assets primarily include prepaid 
expenses.  
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19. Property, Plant and Equipment
 	 		 2022	

 	 	 	 Land, buildings 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 and leasehold 		 Technical 		 	 	 Other 		 	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 improvements	 	 installations	 	 IT hardware	 	 tangible assets	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Historical cost at 1 January 	 	 	 671.7	 	 208.4	 	 141.8	 	 27.2	 	 1,049.0	

Additions 	 	 	 4.5	 	 6.3	 	 32.4	 	 2.8	 	 45.9	

Disposals 	 	 	 –13.3	 	 –1.2	 	 –38.2	 	 –0.8	 	 –53.6	

Business combinations 	 29	 	 0.4	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 –0.1	 	 0.3	

Reclassifications 	 	 	 –	 	 –2.5	 	 2.5	 	 –0.0	 	 –	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 –5.6	 	 –0.4	 	 –2.1	 	 –0.2	 	 –8.3	

Historical cost at 31 December 	 	 	 657.7	 	 210.5	 	 136.4	 	 28.8	 	 1,033.4	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 	 	 	 –356.9	 	 –157.1	 	 –106.2	 	 –18.9	 	 –639.1	

Annual depreciation on assets owned 	 	 	 –6.2	 	 –7.3	 	 –17.8	 	 –2.9	 	 –34.2	

Annual depreciation on right-of-use assets 	 	 	 –15.4	 	 –	 	 –1.2	 	 –0.2	 	 –16.9	

Disposals 	 	 	 11.3	 	 1.2	 	 35.0	 	 0.8	 	 48.3	

Disposals due to changes in scope of consolidation 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 0.0	 	 0.1	 	 0.1	

Reclassifications 	 	 	 –	 	 0.5	 	 –0.5	 	 0.0	 	 –	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 2.6	 	 0.1	 	 1.5	 	 0.1	 	 4.3	

Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 	 	 	 –364.6	 	 –162.6	 	 –89.3	 	 –21.0	 	 –637.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 	 	 	 293.1	 	 47.9	 	 47.1	 	 7.8	 	 395.9	

of which assets owned, used by SIX 	 	 	 127.9	 	 36.1	 	 41.3	 	 7.1	 	 212.5	

of which assets owned, subject to an operating lease 	 	 	 30.8	 	 11.7	 	 0.0	 	 0.3	 	 42.8	

of which right-of-use assets 	 	 	 134.5	 	 –	 	 5.7	 	 0.4	 	 140.6	
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 	 		 2021	

 	 	 	 Land, buildings 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 and leasehold 		 Technical 		 	 	 Other 		 	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 improvements	 	 installations	 	 IT hardware	 	 tangible assets	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Historical cost at 1 January 	 	 	 679.3	 	 215.5	 	 134.4	 	 33.2	 	 1,062.4	

Additions 	 	 	 8.9	 	 4.7	 	 20.8	 	 2.3	 	 36.7	

Disposals 	 	 	 –12.3	 	 –11.3	 	 –12.0	 	 –8.3	 	 –43.9	

Business combinations 	 29	 	 –	 	 –	 	 0.0	 	 0.1	 	 0.2	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 –4.1	 	 –0.5	 	 –1.6	 	 –0.1	 	 –6.3	

Historical cost at 31 December 	 	 	 671.7	 	 208.4	 	 141.8	 	 27.2	 	 1,049.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Adjusted accumulated depreciation at 1 January 	 	 	 –342.6	 	 –159.8	 	 –98.0	 	 –23.2	 	 –623.6	

Annual depreciation on assets owned 	 	 	 –7.1	 	 –8.0	 	 –18.4	 	 –3.6	 	 –37.2	

Annual depreciation on right-of-use assets 	 	 	 –17.0	 	 –	 	 –0.8	 	 –0.2	 	 –18.0	

Impairments, net 	 	 	 –0.4	 	 –0.6	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –1.1	

Disposals 	 	 	 8.8	 	 11.2	 	 10.0	 	 8.1	 	 38.0	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 1.4	 	 0.1	 	 1.1	 	 0.1	 	 2.7	

Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 	 	 	 –356.9	 	 –157.1	 	 –106.2	 	 –18.9	 	 –639.1	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 	 	 	 314.8	 	 51.3	 	 35.6	 	 8.3	 	 409.9	

of which assets owned, used by SIX 	 	 	 135.5	 	 38.2	 	 30.5	 	 7.9	 	 212.1	

of which assets owned, subject to an operating lease 	 	 	 31.9	 	 13.0	 	 0.1	 	 –	 	 45.0	

of which right-of-use assets 	 	 	 147.4	 	 –	 	 5.0	 	 0.4	 	 152.8	

Additions
During 2022, SIX acquired items of property, plant 
and  equipment at a cost of CHF  45.9 million (2021: 
CHF  36.7 million). Investments in property, plant and 
equipment primarily relate to buildings under lease, 
and midrange and mainframe servers. The total of 
property, plant and  equipment under construction  

as at 31 December 2022 was CHF 1.3 million (31 Decem
ber  2021: CHF  0.6 million). The additions in right-of- 
use assets totaled CHF  6.7 million in 2022 (2021: 
CHF 13.4 million). For further details of the leases, see 
note  32. Additions of IT hardware include non-cash 
additions of CHF 6.3 million (2021: none).
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20. Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Reconciliation of carrying amount

 	 	 	 2022	

 	 	 	 Indefinite useful life	 	 Finite useful life		

 	 	 	 	 	Trademarks,	 	 Customer	 	 	 	 Internally 	 	 Other 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 licenses &	 	 relation-	 	 Acquired 	 	 generated 	 	 intangible 	 	 	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 Goodwill	 	 others	 	 ships	 	 software	 	 software	 	 assets	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Historical cost at 1 January 	 	 	 1,654.0	 	 293.0	 	 583.4	 	 106.6	 	 940.9	 	 17.4	 	 3,595.3	

Additions 	 	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 –	 	 13.2	 	 35.2	 	 –	 	 48.5	

Disposals 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –9.6	 	 –24.8	 	 –	 	 –34.4	

Business combinations 	 29	 	 41.3	 	 2.7	 	 76.0	 	 –	 	 12.4	 	 –	 	 132.3	

Disposals due to changes in scope of consolidation 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –0.6	 	 –	 	 –0.1	 	 –0.7	

Reclassifications 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –0.1	 	 0.1	 	 –	 	 –	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 –79.9	 	 –14.6	 	 –32.3	 	 –0.5	 	 –15.0	 	 –0.1	 	 –142.4	

Historical cost at 31 December 	 	 	 1,615.4	 	 281.2	 	 627.0	 	 109.0	 	 948.8	 	 17.2	 	 3,598.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated amortization at 1 January 	 	 	 –7.2	 	 –	 	 –61.6	 	 –88.6	 	 –587.4	 	 –11.8	 	 –756.7	

Annual amortization 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –41.4	 	 –8.9	 	 –70.1	 	 –1.0	 	 –121.4	

Impairments, net 	 	 	 –1.4	 	 –0.1	 	 –	 	 –0.3	 	 –3.3	 	 –	 	 –5.0	

Disposals 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6.1	 	 24.6	 	 –	 	 30.7	

Disposals due to changes in scope of consolidation 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 0.6	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 0.7	

Reclassifications 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1.2	 	 –1.2	 	 –	 	 –	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 3.9	 	 0.5	 	 4.7	 	 0.1	 	 9.3	

Accumulated amortization at 31 December 	 	 	 –8.6	 	 –0.1	 	 –99.1	 	 –89.4	 	 –632.7	 	 –12.7	 	 –842.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 	 	 	 1,606.8	 	 281.2	 	 527.9	 	 19.7	 	 316.1	 	 4.5	 	 2,756.2	
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 	 	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 Indefinite useful life	 	 Finite useful life		

 	 	 	 	 	Trademarks,	 	 Customer	 	 	 	 Internally 	 	 Other 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 licenses &	 	 relation-	 	 Acquired 	 	 generated 	 	 intangible 	 	 	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 Goodwill	 	 others	 	 ships	 	 software	 	 software	 	 assets	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 			   	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 			   	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Historical cost at 1 January 	 	 	 1,723.6	 	 307.0	 	 611.3	 	 101.9	 	 906.1	 	 17.1	 	 3,667.0	

Additions 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 8.7	 	 49.8	 	 0.4	 	 58.9	

Disposals 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –3.5	 	 –5.4	 	 –	 	 –8.8	

Business combinations 	 29	 	 6.8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 4.1	 	 –	 	 10.9	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 –76.4	 	 –14.0	 	 –27.9	 	 –0.5	 	 –13.7	 	 –0.1	 	 –132.7	

Historical cost at 31 December 	 	 	 1,654.0		  293.0	 	 583.4	 	 106.6	 	 940.9	 	 17.4	 	 3,595.3	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated amortization at 1 January 	 	 	 –7.2	 	 –	 	 –22.9	 	 –81.0	 	 –529.8	 	 –11.2	 	 –652.1	

Annual amortization 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –41.6	 	 –9.5	 	 –65.3	 	 –0.5	 	 –116.9	

Impairments, net 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –0.1	 	 –0.1	 	 –0.2	 	 –0.4	

Disposals 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1.5	 	 4.3	 	 –	 	 5.8	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2.8	 	 0.5	 	 3.5	 	 0.0	 	 6.9	

Accumulated amortization at 31 December 	 	 	 –7.2		  –	 	 –61.6	 	 –88.6	 	 –587.4	 	 –11.8	 	 –756.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 	 	 	 1,646.8	 	 293.0	 	 521.8	 	 18.0	 	 353.5	 	 5.5	 	 2,838.6	

Software and other intangible assets
Additions
Expenses for development projects are  capitalized 
when they meet the recognition criteria. Intangible 
assets under construction as at  31  December 2022 
amounted to CHF  28.8 million (31  December  2021: 
CHF 43.4 million). Additions of acquired software include 
non-cash additions of CHF 3.3 million (2021: none).

Goodwill and other intangible assets with 
indefinite useful life
Besides goodwill, SIX owns trademarks and licenses 
which have an indefinite useful life. The trademarks 
and licenses assets were recognized upon the acquisi-
tion of BME and REGIS-TR. The licenses are needed to 
maintain the trading and post-trading business of BME 
as well as the trade repository business of REGIS-TR. 

Reallocation of goodwill and other intangible 
assets with indefinite useful life
As of 1  January 2022, the Open Finance business in 
Spain was transferred from the Financial Information 
business unit to that of Securities Services. The re
organization triggered a reallocation of goodwill and 
other intangible assets with indefinite useful life 
from  the Financial Information CGU (Spain) to the 
Securities Services CGU (Spain). The transferred carry-
ing amount of goodwill and other intangible assets 
amounted to CHF  19.2 million and CHF  1.8 million, 
respectively. An impairment test was conducted before 
and after reallocation. No impairment had to be 
recognized.
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The following table provides a breakdown of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life 
per cash generating unit.

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Exchanges (Spain) 	 960.2	 	 1,010.0	

Securities Services (Spain) 1	 531.9	 	 540.3	

Financial Information (Spain) 1	 2.2	 	 21.5	

12H Ltd 	 16.6	 	 17.5	

Financial Information (Ultumus Limited) 	 50.0	 	 49.5	

REGIS-TR 	 39.3	 	 –	

Others 	 6.6	 	 8.0	

Goodwill, net 	 1,606.8	 	 1,646.8	

 	 	 	 	

Exchanges (Spain) 	 182.8	 	 192.3	

Securities Services (Spain) 1	 95.5	 	 98.6	

Financial Information (Spain) 1	 0.2	 	 2.1	

REGIS-TR 	 2.5	 	 –	

Others 	 0.1	 	 –	

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life 	 281.2	 	 293.0	

1	 Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life have been reallocated due to organizational changes (see above).

Impairment test for CGUs containing goodwill 
or other intangible assets with indefinite 
useful life
The goodwill items and other intangible assets with in-
definite useful life are subject to an annual impairment 

test conducted in the fourth quarter of each year. If 
events or a change of circumstances indicate a possible 
impairment, the test is carried out more frequently to 
determine whether the carrying amount of the relevant 
organizational unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life have been 
allocated to the following CGUs. The table includes only material CGUs:

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	

 	 Carrying	 	 Projection 		 Perpetual	 	 	 	 	

Cash-generating unit 	 amount	 	 period	 	 growth rate	 	 Discount rate	 	 Method	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Exchanges (Spain) 	 1,487.5	 	 3 years	 	 1.5%	 	 7.2%	 	 Value in use	

Securities Services (Spain) 	 745.7	 	 3 years	 	 1.5%	 	 7.1%	 	 Value in use	

Financial Information (Spain) 	 5.4	 	 3 years	 	 1.5%	 	 9.7%	 	 Value in use	

12H Ltd 	 25.9	 	 3 years	 	 0.4%	 	 7.4%	 	 Value in use	

Financial Information (Ultumus Limited) 	 188.5	 	 3 years	 	 0.4%	 	 8.2%	 	 Value in use	

REGIS-TR 	 124.2	 	 3 years	 	 1.0%	 	 6.6%	 	 Value in use	

Total 	 2,577.1	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
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CHF million 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Carrying	 	 Projection 		 Perpetual	 	 	 	 	

Cash-generating unit 	 amount	 	 period	 	 growth rate	 	 Discount rate	 	 Method	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Exchanges (Spain) 	 1,562.7	 	 3 years	 	 1.5%	 	 6.7%	 	 Value in use	

Securities Services (Spain) 	 829.0	 	 3 years	 	 1.5%	 	 6.4%	 	 Value in use	

Financial Information (Spain) 	 39.7	 	 3 years	 	 1.5%	 	 9.1%	 	 Value in use	

12H Ltd 	 31.8	 	 3 years	 	 0.0%	 	 7.6%	 	 Value in use	

Financial Information (Ultumus Limited) 	 107.9	 	 3 years	 	 1.5%	 	 8.0%	 	 Value in use	

Total 	 2,571.2	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

The recoverable amounts for the CGUs have been de-
termined based on a value in use calculation using the 
discounted cash flow method (DCF). These calculations 
use post-tax cash flow projections based on financial 
projections approved by the BoD. Based on the 2022 
impairment test, none of the material CGUs are impaired.

Key assumptions
The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to the 
following assumptions:

Cash flows within the projection period
The free cash flows of the first year of the plan are 
based on the budgets of the CGUs. For the second and 
third years of the plan, the free cash flows are calcu-
lated using growth rates from the mid-term financial 
plan of the respective business unit to which the CGU 
belongs. 

Perpetual growth rate
Cash flows beyond the financial plan period are extrap-
olated using a perpetual growth rate which does not 
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the busi-
nesses in which the CGUs operate.

Discount rate
The discount rate calculation is based on the specific 
circumstances of SIX and its operating segments. It is 

derived from the capital asset pricing model and con-
siders the risk-free interest rate based on long-term 
government bond yields and market risk premiums. 
Since 2022, an average for the risk-free rate has been 
applied in order to address short-term fluctuations in 
the interest rate markets. The discount rate used also 
takes into consideration the specific risks relating to 
the cash-generating unit. Beta and equity/debt ratio 
are derived from peer groups. 

Key assumptions used to determine the recoverable 
amounts of each CGU are tested for sensitivity by 
applying a reasonably possible change to those as-
sumptions. Undiscounted free cash flows available 
to  shareholders were changed by 10%, the discount 
rate  by 1%, and the perpetual growth rate by 1%. 
Management believes that no reasonably possible 
change in any of the above key assumptions would 
cause the carrying amount of any cash-generating unit 
to exceed its recoverable amount except for the CGU 
Exchanges (Spain).

At 31  December 2022, the recoverable amount of 
Exchanges (Spain) exceeded its carrying amount by 
CHF  303.0 million. If the discount rate for Exchanges 
(Spain) is increased by 0.7% or the perpetual growth 
rate is decreased by 0.8%, the CGU’s recoverable 
amount will be equal to its carrying amount.



91SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

21. Capital Management
SIX capital management ensures adequate equity to 
maintain shareholder and market confidence, as well 
as sufficient capital to drive the future development of 
the business, while complying with regulatory capital 
requirements for the relevant group entities.

In June 2022, Standard & Poor’s Global Ratings (S&P) 
affirmed the issuer credit ratings of SIX Group Ltd 
(A/A-1) and its operating companies, SIX x-clear Ltd and 
SIX SIS Ltd (A+/A-1). The outlooks are stable.

SIX considers both equity and debt as relevant compo-
nents of funding. SIX uses the equity ratio and net debt 
to adjusted EBITDA ratio to monitor capital and leverage, 
and the return on equity to monitor the financial 
performance. These ratios are reported to the Executive 
Board and the Board of Directors on a regular basis 
through the internal financial reporting.

The ratios are shown in the following table:

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

Return on equity 	 	 	 	

Group net profit for the year 	 185.0	 	 73.5	

Total equity (average previous 12 months) 	 5,092.0	 	 5,343.4	

Return on equity 	 3.6%	 	 1.4%	

 	 	 	 	

Equity ratio 	 	 	 	

Total liabilities (average previous 12 months) 	 14,532.8	 	 13,948.4	

– Payables from clearing & settlement (average previous 12 months) 	 10,823.6	 	 10,425.6	

– Negative replacement values from clearing & settlement (average previous 12 months) 	 1,440.8	 	 1,401.4	

Total adjusted liabilities (average previous 12 months) 	 2,268.4	 	 2,121.4	

 	 	 	 	

Total equity (average previous 12 months) 	 5,092.0	 	 5,343.4	

 	 	 	 	

Equity ratio 	 69.2%	 	 71.6%	

 	 	 	 	

Net debt to adjusted EBITDA 	 	 	 	

Lease liabilities 	 151.1	 	 165.8	
Borrowings 	 1,273.5	 	 1,273.9	

Other debt 	 9.4	 	 16.6	

Total debt 	 1,433.9	 	 1,456.3	
Free unencumbered cash 	 –736.0	 	 –789.4	

Net debt 	 697.9	 	 666.9	

 	 	 	 	

EBITDA 	 397.7	 	 421.7	

Adjustments 	 1.6	 	 2.2	

Adjusted EBITDA 	 399.3	 	 423.9	

 	 	 	 	

Net debt to adjusted EBITDA 	 1.75	 	 1.57	
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For the calculation of the net debt to adjusted EBITDA 
ratio, SIX follows the methodology applied by S&P 
Global Ratings. Other debt includes the defined benefit 
pension obligations net of tax. Free unencumbered cash 
comprises unpledged cash net of bank overdrafts, cash 
equivalents and securities, minus net payables from 
clearing and settlement, operating cash reserves and 
cash restricted due to regulatory requirements, respec-
tively. The EBITDA adjustments include in particular 
dividend income from equity investments. SIX remains 
committed to deleveraging over the medium term.

The dividend policy of SIX takes into account the local 
requirements of each subsidiary to make dividend pay-
ments. On  2  May  2022, the Annual General Meeting 
approved the distribution of a dividend of CHF 4.75 
(2021: CHF 4.30) per registered share. The total amount 
distributed to holders of outstanding shares was 
CHF 89.8 million (2021: CHF 81.3 million). The dividend 
was recorded against retained earnings as in the pre-
vious year.

For the year ending 31  December  2022, the Board of 
Directors has proposed an ordinary dividend of CHF 5.10, 
corresponding to a total of CHF 96.5 million for 2022. 
No dividend will be paid on treasury shares held 
directly by SIX Group Ltd. There are no tax consequences. 
The dividend proposal will be submitted for approval 
by the Annual General Meeting to be held in the second 
quarter of 2023.

Regulatory capital requirements
The Group is not subject to regulatory capital re
quirements. However, regulatory capital adequacy 
requirements apply to the following entities of the 
Group: SIX SIS Ltd, SIX x-clear Ltd, SIX Digital Exchange 
Ltd, BME Clearing SAU, Iberclear, SECB, REGIS-TR SA 
and REGIS-TR UK Ltd. The regulatory capital requi
rements are monitored by the management of the 
respective group entities.

 	 Minimum requirement	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Capital fulfilment ratio 	 	 	 	 	 	

SIX SIS Ltd 	 110.0%	 	 164.2%	 	 154.8%	

SIX x-clear Ltd 	 110.0%	 	 169.2%	 	 187.3%	

SIX Digital Exchange Ltd 	 110.0%	 	 154.1%	 	 166.2%	

BME Clearing SAU 	 110.0%	 	 314.9%	 	 337.0%	

Iberclear 	 110.0%	 	 593.0%	 	 558.1%	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Basel III capital ratio 	 	 	 	 	 	

SECB Swiss Euro Clearing Bank GmbH 	 13.3%	 	 56.6%	 	 36.8%	

The CSDs SIX SIS Ltd, SIX Digital Exchange Ltd and the 
CCP SIX x-clear Ltd are obliged to fulfill requirements 
arising from the Financial Market Infrastructure Act 
and Ordinance (FMIA/FMIO). Eligible capital must be 
available to support business activities, in accordance 
with both the  internal assessment of the Company and 
the requirements of the regulators, in particular those 
of the lead regulators, FINMA and the SNB. These capital 
requirements contain all elements of the Basel III 
framework pertaining to credit, non-counterparty, 
market and operational risks, as well as additional FMI-
specific capital requirements for recovery capital, 
wind-down, intraday credit risks and potential defaults 

of participants. To calculate the capital requirements 
for credit risks, market risks and operational risks, FMIs 
may choose from a number of different approaches 
under Basel III. SIX SIS Ltd, SIX x-clear Ltd and SIX 
Digital Exchange Ltd use the international Basel III 
standard approach (SA-BIZ) for credit risks, the standard 
approach for market risks and the basic indicator ap-
proach for operational risks.

BME is supervised by the National Securities Market 
Commission (CNMV) and Banco de España. The capital 
requirements of BME are based on Spanish law and 
European Parliament Regulations related to  trading, 
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CSD and CCP business. The EU regulations for CSDs 
and CCPs require that the capital covers the risks stem-
ming from the activities of the CSD/CCP and shall be at 
all times sufficient to ensure adequate protection 
against credit, counterparty, market, operational, 
legal, custody, investment and business risks so 
that the CSD/CCP can continue to provide its services 
and, if required, ensure an orderly winding-down or 
restructuring.

SECB has a banking license and is regulated by the 
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). The 
bank is obliged to fulfil the capital requirements 
according to the European Union Capital Requirements 
Regulation (CRR). To calculate the capital requirements, 
SECB uses the standard approach according to CRR for 
credit risk and the basic indicator approach for opera-
tional risk.

REGIS-TR SA is supervised by the European Markets 
and Securities Authority (ESMA) and REGIS-TR UK Ltd 
is supervised by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). 
In accordance with article 21 (b) of the EU delegated 
regulation 150/2013, REGIS-TR SA has to maintain an 
amount of liquid net assets funded by equity sufficient 
to cover potential general business losses in order to 
continue providing services as a going concern, and an 
assessment of the sufficiency of its financial resources 
to cover operational costs in a wind-down or reorgani-
zation of critical operations and services over at least a 
six month period with respect to its continuance as a 
trade repository company within the EU. The regula-
tory requirement has been fully adopted by the FCA 
and therefore also applies to REGIS-TR UK Ltd. At 31 De
cember 2022, the regulatory own fund requirements 
for REGIS-TR amounted to CHF 9.8 million. The coverage 
ratio of own funds was 186.9%. 

22. Capital and Reserves
Share capital

Number of shares 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Shares issued 	 19,521,905	 	 19,521,905	

Treasury shares 	 –607,864	 	 –607,864	

Shares outstanding 	 18,914,041	 	 18,914,041	

As at 31  December  2022, the total number of shares 
issued remained unchanged from the prior year at 

19,521,905 and corresponds to the number of authorized 
shares. All shares issued have a par value of CHF 1.00 
and are fully paid up.

The shares rank equally with regard to the company’s 
residual assets.

The holders of the shares are entitled to one vote per 
share at the shareholders’ meeting of SIX Group Ltd. 
The proposed dividend per share for financial year 2022 
is disclosed in note 21.



94SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

Other reserves

 	 	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 Treasury	 	 Translation	 	 Total other	 	 Treasury	 	 Translation	 	 Total other	

CHF million 	 	 	 shares	 	 reserves	 	 reserves	 	 shares	 	 reserves	 	 reserves	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 1 January 	 	 	 –23.3	 	 –227.7	 	 –251.0	 	 –23.3	 	 –38.9	 	 –62.2	

Translation adjustment of foreign operations 	 	 	 –	 	 –144.9	 	 –144.9	 	 –	 	 –139.9	 	 –139.9	

Translation adjustment of associates and joint ventures 	 	 	 –	 	 –76.3	 	 –76.3	 	 –	 	 –73.1	 	 –73.1	

Translation adjustment reclassified to income statement 	 	 	 –		  0.9	 	 0.9	 	 –	 	 0.1	 	 0.1	

Gains/(losses) on net investment hedges 	 	 	 –	 	 33.2	 	 33.2	 	 –	 	 32.5	 	 32.5	

Income taxes on gains/(losses) on net investment hedges 	 	 	 –	 	 –8.5	 	 –8.5	 	 –	 	 –8.3	 	 –8.3	

Less: translation adjustment of non-controlling interests 	 	 	 –	 	 0.3	 	 0.3	 	 –	 	 –0.1	 	 –0.1	

Balance at 31 December 	 	 	 –23.3	 	 –422.9	 	 –446.3	 	 –23.3	 	 –227.7	 	 –251.0	

Treasury shares
The reserve for own shares comprises the cost of the 
shares held by SIX. At 31  December  2022, SIX held 
607,864 shares directly or indirectly via its subsidiaries. 
There was no change in the number of treasury shares 
compared with 31 December 2021.

Translation reserve
Reserves arising from foreign currency translation ad-
justments comprise the differences arising from the 
foreign currency translation of the financial statements 
of subsidiaries and associated companies from their 
respective functional currencies into Swiss francs.
 

Retained earnings
The total amount of dividends distributed to holders 
of  outstanding shares was CHF  89.8 million (2021: 
CHF  81.3 million), which has been recorded against 
retained earnings as in the prior year.
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23. Provisions (Current and Non-current)
Provisions are classified as follows:

 	 	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Provisions 		 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 Provisions 		 Provisions 		 for asset 		 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 for legal 		 for restruc-	 	 retirement 		 Other 		 	 	 	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 claims	 	 turing	 	 obligations	 	 provisions	 	 Total	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount at 1 January 	 	 	 3.6	 	 0.2	 	 4.4	 	 6.4	 	 14.6	 	 20.6	

Increase in provisions 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 0.0	 	 0.7	 	 0.7	 	 0.4	

Business combinations 	 	 	 0.4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 0.4	 	 –	

Financial cost related to the unwinding of discount rates 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 0.0	 	 –	 	 0.0	 	 –	

Dissolution 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –1.3	 	 –	 	 –1.3	 	 –0.5	

Usage 	 	 	 –0.4	 	 –0.2	 	 –	 	 –0.2	 	 –0.8	 	 –5.7	

Translation adjustments 	 	 	 –0.0	 	 –0.0	 	 –0.0	 	 –0.1	 	 –0.2	 	 –0.2	

Carrying amount at 31 December 	 	 	 3.6	 	 –	 	 3.0	 	 6.8	 	 13.4	 	 14.6	

of which current 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 0.7	 	 0.9	 	 0.2	

of which non-current 	 	 	 3.6	 	 –	 	 2.8	 	 6.1	 	 12.4	 	 14.4	

Provisions for legal claims
SIX is involved in legal and judicial proceedings and 
claims arising from the ordinary business activities. 
Provisions and contingencies in connection with these 
matters are periodically assessed based on the latest 
information available, usually with the assistance of 
lawyers and other specialists. 

Provisions for asset retirement obligations
The provisions for asset retirement obligations mainly 
relate to cost estimates for the decommissioning of 
premises in Switzerland, France and the UK.

Other provisions
Other provisions mainly concern risks relating to 
the  financial information and business activities in 
Spain.
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24. Other Liabilities (Current and Non-current)
CHF million 	 Notes	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accruals for staff-related costs 	 	 	 92.1	 	 91.0	

Accrued expenses 	 	 	 51.0	 	 47.1	

Liabilities from other taxes 	 	 	 30.6	 	 31.4	

Other short-term liabilities 	 	 	 10.0	 	 15.1	

Total other current liabilities 	 	 	 183.7	 	 184.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Pension fund liabilities 	 33	 	 12.5	 	 21.1	

Other employee benefit liabilities 	 	 	 21.6	 	 22.6	

Total other non-current liabilities 	 	 	 34.1	 	 43.7	

Accruals for staff-related expenses are for vacation 
leave, overtime, jubilees and bonuses. The long-term 
portion of liabilities for jubilees and bonuses is 

included in other employee benefit liabilities. The 
methods used to measure pension fund liabilities are 
explained in note 33.
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Financial Instruments

25. Financial Risk Management
Risk governance
The Board of Directors (BoD) of SIX Group Ltd bears the 
ultimate responsibility for the supervision of the over-
all risk situation, approves the overall risk policy and 
decides on risk appetite limits.

The Risk Committee of the BoD acts as a representative 
of the BoD and approves risk governance, organization 
and methodologies, as well as reviews their implemen-
tation, adequacy and effectiveness. 

The BoD has also delegated responsibility for account-
ing, financial reporting and internal control systems to 
the Audit Committee. External and internal auditors 
report to the Audit Committee of the BoD. Internal au-
ditors are responsible for monitoring risk management 
and control, in particular, the risks related to business 
processes. 

The Executive Board of SIX Group Ltd (ExB) has the ulti-
mate operational decision-making authority concerning 
risk matters. As a member of the ExB, the Chief Risk 
Officer is responsible for the independent oversight of 
the overall risk situation. He has managerial responsi-
bility for the “second line of defense” functions, i.e. 
Risk Management, Security and Compliance.

A “three lines of defense” governance model forms the 
basis of the risk governance framework. Each line has 
its specific role and responsibilities. Close collaboration 
between all lines ensures the identification, assess-
ment and mitigation of risks.

Senior executives form the “first line of defense” and 
are accountable for managing the specific risks faced 
by business management. They maintain effective pro-
cesses and manage their risks with care, including 
comprehensive controls and documented procedures.

Within the “second line of defense”, risk control meas-
ures are defined by the Head Risk Management and 
dedicated Risk Management Teams. The Head Risk 
Management reports to the Chief Risk Officer and is not 
part of the line management structure of business units.

Independent assurance providers, such as Internal and 
External Audit, form the “third line of defense”, which 

supervises the overall risk situation, internal controls 
and risk management. They monitor risk management 
and controlling to evaluate their effectiveness, including 
an assessment of how the first and second lines of 
defense meet their risk objectives.

Legal and Compliance functions within SIX are res
ponsible for implementing the instructions and 
requirements issued by the legislator, the supervisor 
and other relevant institutions. They ensure that the 
business management of SIX complies with the 
requirements and meets the current rules, regulations 
and obligations of a financial intermediary.

Financial Market Infrastructures (FMIs) are supervised 
by the FINMA, the SNB, the National Securities Market 
Commission of Spain (CNMV) and Banco de España. 
FMIs which act as central counterparties (CCP) or central 
securities depositories (CSD) within the Securities 
Services business unit need to comply with increased 
capital requirements. At SIX SIS Ltd, SIX x-clear Ltd, 
BME Clearing SAU and Iberclear, counterparty limits, 
margin requirements and risk model parameterization 
are managed by the risk management organization. 
These FMIs have dedicated Chief Risk Officers (CRO)  
who are also members of the respective Management 
Committees and are responsible for independent over-
sight of the FMIs’ risk situation. 

SECB is supervised by the German Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority (BaFin) and pursues a financial 
risk policy in line with local requirements. The main 
counterparty as well as market and interest rate risks 
arise from the part of the EUR cash balances  invested in 
a portfolio of high-quality, repo-eligible bonds .

SIX Digital Exchange Ltd is supervised by FINMA and 
operates a central securities depository for digital 
assets.

REGIS-TR SA is supervised by the ESMA and REGIS-TR 
UK Ltd is supervised by the FCA. The entities act as 
trade repositories in the EU and in UK for various 
regulations.

The capital requirements of these entities are described 
in note 21.
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Credit risk
General
Counterparty credit risk is defined as the risk of a loss 
caused by a counterparty not fulfilling its contractual 
obligations or commitments. Given the nature of its 
core business activities, SIX monitors the counterparty 
default risk for all its major risk-related activities, in 
particular for the following financial positions:

ȫȫ cash at banks and short-term deposits
ȫȫ trade and other receivables
ȫȫ receivables from clearing & settlement
ȫȫ derivatives
ȫȫ bonds
ȫȫ other debt instruments

Within the post-trading area of the Securities Services 
business unit, credit exposures mainly relate to short-
term interim financing undertaken for the purpose of 
settling securities transactions. With the exception 
of the Swiss National Bank and SIX affiliates, all short-
term financing for settlement purposes is fully covered 
by collateral in the form of cash and repo-eligible se
curities. For further details, see also the section on 
collateral management below.

At the traditional trading venues such as SIX Swiss 
Exchange and Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, trading 
and settlement are separate transactions. For exam-
ple, settlement in equities and fixed income markets 
usually takes place two days after the trading. Between 
trading and settlement, SIX has to manage counter-
party risks. The exposure related to open clearing & 
settlement transactions is reflected in the derivatives 
from the clearing & settlement business. As SIX acts as 
a CCP, positive replacement values generally equal 
negative replacement values. At SDX, settlement is an 
integral part of the trading process. The trading venue 
verifies that participants have sufficient assets or funds 
available for the planned transaction before confirming 
it. As a result, no counterparty risk needs to be 
managed after the trade is completed and there are no 
financial risks stemming from clearing & settlement. 

In the Securities Services business unit, credit risk 
management is executed via limits granted to the cus-
tomers by the relevant bodies within SIX, in accordance 
with the competency rules. Each participant with a 
credit limit is subject to an initial credit risk assessment 
and rating assignment, as well as a periodic review. 

No credit limits are granted without a prior risk assess-
ment and rating assignment. Credit limits are continuously 
monitored to ensure that the risk profile is always in 
line with the risk appetite and credit risk policy. Based 
on the amount of risk-equivalent limits and the credit-
worthiness, each counterparty is assigned to a risk 
group which defines the depth and frequency of the 
review. Counterparties in higher risk groups (high 
“risk-equivalent limits”, low credit rating) are reviewed 
more frequently and monitored more closely than 
those in lower risk groups.

In businesses other than post-trading, counterparty 
credit risk arises in particular from investments of 
operating liquidity of SIX, which primarily takes the form 
of cash deposits with banks or fixed income invest-
ments. As in the post-trading business area, such credit 
exposures are constrained by investment limits, which 
vary in size depending on the creditworthiness of 
the counterparty. Risk Management is responsible for 
monitoring exposures against investment limits and 
tracks counterparty risk indicators on a daily basis.

As at 31  December  2022, the bond portfolio of SECB 
amounted to CHF  1,680.6 million (31 December 2021: 
CHF 1,886.5 million) and was composed of bonds rated 
as investment grade with an average remaining term of 
2.4 years (31 December 2021: 3.1 years). New portfolio 
investments are subject to different levels of approval 
based on the counterparty rating and security type.

In the context of strategic investments, SIX has an 
investment policy in place that imposes minimum 
credit ratings for direct and indirect investments in 
debt instruments. Treasury regularly monitors strict 
compliance with this policy.

With regard to trade and other receivables, SIX has a 
large number of debtors, which are internationally 
dispersed. The credit risks in this respect are con
sidered insignificant. As credit ratings are unavailable 
for some non-financial customers, their creditworthi-
ness is assessed by either the operating business unit 
or the local finance departments, taking into account 
the customer’s financial strength, past experience 
and other factors. Acting as the first line and overseen 
by the second line of defense, each business unit has 
primary responsibility for managing and monitoring 
its credit risks.
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Aggregated credit risk exposures are closely moni-
tored against the risk appetite thresholds of SIX and 
regularly reported to the ExB and the BoD.

The gross carrying amounts of financial assets measured at amortized costs, bonds measured at FVtOCI and the 
related credit ratings of the counterparties are summarized in the following table. The net carrying amounts (net 
of loss allowances) represent the maximum exposure to credit risk.

 	 31/12/2022	

 	 	 	 Non-	 	 	 	 Gross	 	 	 	 Net	

 	 Investment	 	 investment	 	 	 	 carrying	 	 Loss	 	 carrying	

CHF million 	 grade	 	 grade	 	 Not rated	 	 amount	 	 allowance	 	 amount	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Exposure for which loss allowance equals 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

12-month ECL (Stage 1) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash at bank and short-term deposits 1	 4,319.2	 	 0.3	 	 0.0	 	 4,319.5	 	 –0.0	 	 4,319.5	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 3,617.2	 	 13.9	 	 1,306.9	  2	 4,938.1	 	 –0.0	 	 4,938.0	

Bonds 	 1,985.9	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,985.9	 	 –1.5	 	 1,984.4	

Others 	 95.2	 	 –	 	 4.8	 	 99.9	 	 –	 	 99.9	

Total 	 10,017.5	 	 14.2	 	 1,311.7	 	 11,343.5	 	 –1.6		  11,341.9	

 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 Non-	 	 	 	 Gross	 	 	 	 Net	

 	 Investment	 	 investment	 	 	 	 carrying	 	 Loss	 	 carrying	

CHF million 	 grade	 	 grade	 	 Not rated	 	 amount	 	 allowance	 	 amount	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Exposure for which loss allowance equals 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

12-month ECL (Stage 1) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash at bank and short-term deposits 1	 6,472.3	 	 0.2	 	 0.0	 	 6,472.6	 	 –0.0	 	 6,472.6	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 2,307.6	 	 2.7	 	 226.9	 	 2,537.1	 	 –0.0	 	 2,537.1	

Bonds 	 2,190.7	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2,190.7	 	 –1.8	 	 2,188.9	

Others 	 99.5	 	 –	 	 1.9	 	 101.4	 	 –	 	 101.4	

Total 	 11,070.1	 	 2.9	 	 228.8	 	 11,301.8		  –1.8		  11,300.0	

1	 The balances exclude cash on hand.
2	 The increase in unrated receivables from clearing & settlement is mainly due from reverse repurchase agreements with banks for which no rating is available.
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The following table shows the gross carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and the related past due 
status. The net carrying amounts (net of loss allowances) represent the maximum exposure to credit risk.

 	 31/12/2022	

 	 Lifetime ECL (Stage 2)	 	 Lifetime ECL credit impaired (Stage 3)	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Receivables	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 with	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 objective	 	 	

 	 	 	 Within 		 From 6 to	 	 More than	 	 evidence of	 	 	

CHF million 	 Not past due	 	 6 months	 	 12 months	 	 12 months	 	 impairment	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade and other receivables, gross 	 170.3	 	 27.9	 	 4.5	 	 2.7	 	 0.8	 	 206.2	

Loss allowance 	 –0.0	 	 –0.0	 	 –1.1	 	 –2.3	 	 –0.8	 	 –4.2	

Net carrying amount 	 170.3	 	 27.9	 	 3.4	 	 0.4	 	 –	 	 201.9	

 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Lifetime ECL (Stage 2)	 	 Lifetime ECL credit impaired (Stage 3)	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Receivables	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 with	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 objective	 	 	

 	 	 	 Within 		 From 6 to	 	 More than	 	 evidence of	 	 	

CHF million 	 Not past due	 	 6 months	 	 12 months	 	 12 months	 	 impairment	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade and other receivables, gross 	 165.6	 	 21.5	 	 3.0	 	 2.8	 	 1.3	 	 194.2	

Loss allowance 	 –0.0	 	 –0.0	 	 –0.9	 	 –2.5	 	 –1.3	 	 –4.7	

Net carrying amount 	 165.5	 	 21.5	 	 2.1	 	 0.4	 	 –	 	 189.5	

Collateral management
As part of short-term interim financing for the purpose 
of settling securities transactions, SIX SIS Ltd provides 
intraday credit lines and securities lending and borrow-
ing services to its counterparties to increase settlement 
efficiency and reduce settlement failures. Intraday 
credit and lending services rendered to counterparties 
are established on a fully collateralized basis, and col-
lateral is provided by SIX SIS Ltd participants in the 
form of cash or highly liquid repo-eligible securities.

In order to protect SIX x-clear Ltd and BME Clearing 
SAU, which act as central counterparties, against the 
risk of default by a clearing member before it has settled 

its outstanding transactions, clearing members are 
required under the applicable version of the clearing 
terms to provide collateral in the form of cash or highly 
liquid repo-eligible securities under a full-title transfer 
regime. The margin requirement includes an initial 
margin for possible future price fluctuations, a variation 
margin for actual changes in value and certain add-ons 
that are called in periods of higher market volatility 
according to the rulebook. In addition, all counterparties 
are required to contribute to a default fund to cover 
the  potential risk that is not covered by the margin 
model (confidence level  of at least 99%) in the event 
of a member’s default. The margin model is regularly 
calibrated and back-tested.
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The following table shows the collateral received:

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash collateral 	 16	 	 5,586.9	 	 6,427.1	

of which related to securities lending 	 	 	 13.3	 	 50.2	

Fair value of securities received with a right to repledge or sell 	 	 	 5,139.0	 	 3,242.9	

of which related to securities lending 	 	 	 7.6	 	 8.3	

of which related to reverse repurchase transactions 	 	 	 3,813.8	 	 1,915.4	

Total fair value of collateral received 	 	 	 10,725.9	 	 9,670.0	

Cash collateral is recognized on the balance sheet, 
whereas collateral received in the form of securities are 
off-balance sheet items. Due to the collateral received 
and the potential to pass on losses to market partici-
pants in the CSD business, the Group has not designated 
expected credit losses on receivables from clearing 
and settlement of the Securities Services business unit.

Expected credit losses measurement
Significant increase in credit risk
In order to assess a significant increase in credit risk, 
the Group applies a low credit risk threshold equivalent 
to the “investment grade” and past due status infor-
mation. When the credit risk increases significantly, the 
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to the 
lifetime ECL (i.e. stage 2).

Definition of default
SIX considers a financial asset to be in default when a 
counterparty is unable or likely to be unable to fully 
meet its financial obligation when due.

In assessing whether a counterparty is in default, the 
following information is considered:

ȫȫ qualitative, e.g. the counterparty has been  
declared in default; and/or 

ȫȫ quantitative, i.e. overdue status

The assessment of whether a financial asset is in default 
may vary by instrument type. The following reasons 
give rise to a default event for the respective financial 
assets: 

ȫȫ Trade and other receivables: A default situation 
occurs when receivables are more than 180 days 
past due. The Group performs an analysis showing 
that 90 days past due is not an appropriate default 

definition for trade and other receivables and rebuts 
the 90 days past due presumption. This rebuttal is 
reviewed on an annual basis.

ȫȫ Debt instruments: A default situation occurs when 
(re-)payments of interests and/or notional amounts 
are not received in full on time.

In management’s opinion, the above events best 
represent the default situations of the respective finan-
cial assets. A default event results in a transfer to the 
credit-impaired financial asset category (i.e. stage 3).

Measuring expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses for financial 
assets at amortized costs – except for trade and other 
receivables – is a function of the probability of default 
(PD), the exposure at default (EAD) and loss given 
default (LGD):

ȫȫ The PD represents the likelihood of a counterparty 
defaulting on its financial obligation either over 
12 months or over the remaining lifetime of the 
obligation. The PDs are generally derived from 
internally developed statistical models and are 
updated at least annually. The Group has estab-
lished global PDs per rating classes which are 
applied to the exposures based on the counterparty 
rating (i.e. exposures are grouped by counterparty 
rating). PDs are based on credit default swaps (CDS) 
spreads observed in the market. These CDS spreads 
include the market expectation of default (i.e. 
forward-looking information). The 12 month PDs 
are adjusted when the contractual period is less 
than 12 months (i.e. on-demand deposits have a 
contractual period of 1 day). If no rating is available 
for the counterparty, the PD level is assumed to be 
in the sub-investment grade range.



102SIX Annual Report 2022  SIX Consolidated Financial Statements

ȫȫ EAD is based on the amounts outstanding at the 
time of default. SIX assumes that the EAD is equal 
to the gross carrying amount.

ȫȫ LGD represents the expectation of SIX regarding 
the extend of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD 
considers the availability of collaterals received 
and the potential to pass on losses to market 
participants in the CSD business.

The expected credit losses for trade and other receiv-
ables are based on historical loss rate data adjusted 
for current conditions and future expectation. The 
loss rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of 
these assets. Generally, trade and other receivables 
overdue by more than 180 days are considered to 
be  C-rated, and the corresponding PD is applied to 
them in order to calculate the impairment amount. 
Exposures which are more than 360 days past due are 
generally considered to be D-rated. D-rated assets 
are fully credit impaired. The policy described above 
may be adapted by entities for specific conditions on 
local markets.

The expected credit losses as at 31 December 2022 and 
31 December 2021 are presented in the General section 
above.

Liquidity risk
General
Liquidity risk is the risk that SIX will encounter difficul-
ties in meeting current and future obligations arising 
from its financial liabilities. Specific to the post-trading 
business area of SIX, liquidity risk exists mainly as 
a result of day-to-day operational flows, such as repay-
ments of cash collateral to clearing members and 
provision of liquidity to facilitate settlement. 

Liquidity management is governed by the treasury policy 
of SIX. Its main purpose is to provide subsidiaries with 
financial resources at any time so that they are able 
to  meet their payment obligations. The continuous 
monitoring of liquidity at Group level and the allocation 
of resources allow Treasury to maintain a sound level of 
liquidity at all times. The liquidity status is reported 
on a monthly or quarterly basis to various committees. 
SIX maintains credit lines with a limited number of 
financial institutions to cover exceptional liquidity 
requirements. The total amount of credit lines as at 
31 December 2022 was CHF 691.9 million (31 December 

2021: CHF  463.1 million). Additionally, SIX SIS Ltd has 
foreign currency settlement limits in connection with the 
cross-border business in the amount of CHF 2,987.7 million 
(31  December 2021: CHF  3,026.0 million). As at 
31 December 2022, none of these credit facilities had 
been utilized (31  December 2021: CHF  0.2 million). 
Liquidity is managed for various currencies. The main 
currencies are the Swiss franc, euro and US dollar. 

The Group’s operational liquidity as at 31  December 
2022 was CHF  3,848.6 million (31  December 2021: 
CHF 6,473.5 million). The operational liquidity is deposited 
with appropriate investment limits at commercial 
banks, the Swiss National Bank (SNB) and European 
central banks. Operational liquidity of the Swiss and 
various foreign subsidiaries, with the exception of SIX 
SIS Ltd, SIX x-clear Ltd, the BME entities and SECB, is 
held and managed centrally at SIX as part of a cash 
pool. Treasury is responsible for the management of 
the cash pool. The liquidity in excess of operational 
liquidity required by the subsidiaries is provided by 
Treasury to cover any short to medium-term structural 
liquidity requirements. 

Liquidity management is one of the main operating 
activities of Securities Services. Liquidity risk in the 
post-trading business area is managed by ensuring 
that the expected inflows match the expected outflows 
in the respective currency. On a day-to-day basis, the 
Collateral and Liquidity Management team is tasked 
with ensuring that the Group can meet its financing 
needs at all times, in particular to ensure that the business 
continues to operate smoothly in the event of default 
by a clearing member. 

SECB reported a bank overdraft of CHF 472.0 million as 
at 31  December 2022 (31  December 2021: liquidity of 
CHF 6.9 million). The liquidity risk (also during the day) 
is observed to the extent that current accounts of cus-
tomers should generally be held with credit balances. 
In the event of an unexpected liquidity bottleneck, the 
securities portfolio held by SECB can be used at any 
time to obtain liquidity from Deutsche Bundesbank as 
part of Lombard transactions.

Once a year, the liquidity strategy of the Group is re-
viewed by the Chief Financial Officer and approved by 
the Board of Directors. Treasury monitors the imple-
mentation and execution of the liquidity strategy.
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Maturity analysis for financial liabilities
The following table shows the contractual maturities of 
the financial liabilities held by SIX at the reporting date 
and in the previous year. 

 	 31/12/2022	

 	 	 	 Between	 	 Between 		 	 	 Total	 	 	

 	 Within	 	 3 and 12	 	 1 and 5	 	 More than	 	 contractual	 	 Carrying	

CHF million 	 3 months	 	 months	 	 years	 	 5 years	 	 cash flows	 	 amount	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank overdrafts 	 472.0	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 472.0	 	 472.0	

Trade and other payables 	 31.0	 	 0.7	 	 –	 	 –	 	 31.7	 	 31.7	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 8,837.5	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 8,837.5	 	 8,837.5	

Borrowings 	 –	 	 13.6	 	 812.1	 	 456.1	 	 1,281.8	 	 1,273.5	

Lease liabilities 	 5.1	 	 11.3	 	 56.4	 	 101.0	 	 173.8	 	 151.1	

Other financial liabilities 	 –	 	 –	 	 2.7	 	 94.3	  1	 96.9	 	 96.9	

Non-derivative financial liabilities 	 9,345.6	 	 25.6	 	 871.2	 	 651.3	 	 10,893.7	 	 10,862.6	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Derivative financial instruments, net 2	 2.6	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2.6	 	 2.6	

Derivative financial liabilities 	 2.6	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2.6	 	 2.6	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total financial liabilities 	 9,348.2	 	 25.6	 	 871.2	 	 651.3	 	 10,896.3	 	 10,865.2	

 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 Between 		 	 	 	 	 Total	 	 	

 	 Within	 	 3 and 12	 	 Between 		 More than	 	 contractual	 	 Carrying	

CHF million 	 3 months	 	 months	 	1 and 5 years	 	 5 years	 	 cash flows	 	 amount	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 			   	 	

Liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank overdrafts 	 0.2	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 0.2	

Trade and other payables 	 15.0	 	 0.6	 	 –	 	 –	 	 15.7	 	 15.7	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 9,266.6	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 9,266.6	 	 9,266.6	

Borrowings 	 –	 	 2.0	 	 823.6	 	 458.2	 	 1,283.8	 	 1,273.9	

Lease liabilities 	 5.3	 	 14.2	 	 62.8	 	 105.5	 	 187.7	 	 165.8	

Other financial liabilities 	 3.1	 	 1.0	 	 9.1	 	 98.9	  1	 112.2	 	 112.2	

Non-derivative financial liabilities 	 9,290.2	 	 17.8	 	 895.5	 	 662.6	 	 10,866.2	 	 10,834.3	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total financial liabilities 	 9,290.2	 	 17.8	 	 895.5	 	 662.6	 	 10,866.2	 	 10,834.3	

1	 Includes funds received for sanctioned persons, which cannot be accessed until the sanctions are lifted.
2	 Derivative financial instruments from clearing & settlement business are considered on a net basis. The net amount is only included if it is a liability.

The fair value of the derivative financial instruments 
best represents the cash flows that would have to be 
paid if these positions had to be settled or closed.
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Market risk
General
Market risk is the risk of losses on financial assets arising 
from movements in market prices. With regard to SIX, 
market prices carry three types of risk: foreign cur-
rency risk, interest rate risk and equity risk. 

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or 
future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
risk  arises mainly from revenues, expenses, financial 
investments and borrowings denominated in foreign 
currencies. The foreign currency risk affects mainly the 
group entities in Switzerland. Treasury and SIX SIS Ltd 
manage the exposure to foreign currency risk by using 
forwards and swaps. 

A significant portion of the Group’s earnings are gener-
ated from foreign operations, such as the entities of 
BME. This exposes SIX to a foreign currency risk, as the 
income statement of foreign operations is translated 
into CHF  on a monthly basis. The BoD of SIX has 
defined  the maximum foreign currency risk appetite 
SIX is willing to take. The foreign currency exposures 
are monitored monthly to ensure they do not exceed 
the defined thresholds.

Further, SIX is exposed to a foreign currency transla-
tion risk due to the translation of net assets of foreign 
operations. Net investments in foreign operations 
are partially hedged by using non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The carrying amount of items designated as 
hedging instruments for net investment hedges were 
as follows:

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Bonds 	 638.6	 	 671.4	

Borrowings 	 638.6	 	 671.4	

 	 	 	 	

NCI liabilities 	 2.7	 	 8.4	

Others 	 –	 	 1.0	

Other financial liabilities 	 2.7	 	 9.4	

 	 	 	 	

Total carrying amount 	 641.3	 	 680.8	

The net investment hedge using the EUR senior bond 
as a hedging instrument will be maintained until the 
bond expires in 2025. For further details on the bond, 
see note 17. 

SIX established a hedge ratio of 100% for all net invest-
ment hedges. The investments in the foreign operations 
and the designated hedging instruments are in the 

same currency for all hedging relationships. There 
are no imbalances in the net investment hedges that 
would create ineffectiveness. To maintain the hedge 
effectiveness, SIX ensures that the designated liabili-
ties do not exceed the value of the net investment 
during the term of the hedging relationship. Gains and 
losses on hedging instruments recognized in OCI were 
as follows:

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Gains/(losses) on net investment hedges recognized in the current/previous year, net of tax 	 24.7	 	 24.2	

Accumulated gains/(losses) held in the translation reserve, net of tax 	 41.9	 	 17.3	

of which continuing net investment hedges 	 49.6	 	 25.5	

of which terminated net investment hedges 	 –7.7	 	 –8.3	
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The table below illustrates a hypothetical sensitivity  
of earnings before tax to changes in foreign exchange 
rates at year-end due to revaluation of financial instru-
ments and assuming that all other variables remain 

unchanged. The changes in exchange rates used for 
2022 and 2021 are based on historical volatility. Positive 
figures represent an increase in earnings before tax.

 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 Change in	 	 	 	 Change in	 	 	

 	 exchange	 	 Effect on	 	 exchange	 	 Effect on	

 	 rate	  1	 earnings before tax	 	 rate	  1	 earnings before tax	

Amounts in CHF million 	 +/–	 	 +	 	 –	 	 +/–	 	 +	 	 –	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

CHF/EUR 	 6.3%	 	 –0.1	 	 0.1	 	 3.8%	 	 0.0	 	 –0.0	

CHF/USD 	 9.1%	 	 –0.7	 	 0.7	 	 6.0%	 	 –0.2	 	 0.2	

Total 	 	 	 –0.8	 	 0.8	 	 	 	 –0.1	 	 0.1	

1	 A positive change in the exchange rate represents a strengthening of the foreign currency.

Interest rate risk
SIX is exposed to the interest rate risk due to the vola-
tility of market interest rates. The interest rate risk is 
the risk of market price movements of interest-bearing 
assets and liabilities due to changes in interest rates.

In the interest margin business, interest rate changes 
could have a major impact on earnings, especially 
when there is a mismatch in the maturity of assets and 
liabilities. The cash received from business partners 
presented as payables from clearing and settlement is 
invested in overnight interest-bearing accounts, short-
term financial instruments or secured reverse repos 
with a term to maturity of less than one year, and 
in  current and non-current bonds. It is mainly the 
non-current portion of the bond portfolio of SECB that 
carries interest rate risk given the asset and liability 
maturity mismatch with the deposit side and the fixed 
interest rate nature of the bond portfolio itself. From 
the interest earned or negative interest paid, SIX may 
pay or charge interest less or plus a margin to its busi-
ness partners for the deposits on their ordinary cash 

vostro accounts. For simplicity, this interest margin has 
not been considered in the interest risk sensitivity 
below.

For the purpose of the sensitivity analysis, non-current 
investments and liabilities at amortized cost with fixed 
interest rates have been excluded, since fair value 
fluctuations, which would reflect a change in market 
interest rates, are not recognized in the income state-
ment for these instruments. For current investments 
and liabilities, it is assumed that the contracts must be 
renewed in the near future. Therefore, the exposures 
have been considered in the sensitivity analysis. The 
effect on other comprehensive income related to 
bonds measured at FVtOCI has been included, as the 
fair value of these instruments is affected by the fluctu-
ation in interest rates. The table below illustrates a 
hypothetical sensitivity of earnings before tax and other 
comprehensive income before tax to a reasonably 
possible change of a +/–50 basis point parallel shift in 
yield curves. Positive figures represent an increase in 
earnings and other comprehensive income before tax.
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 	 2022	

 	 Change in	 	 Effect on	 	 Effect on other	

 	 interest rate	 	 earnings before tax	 	 comprehensive income before tax	

Amounts in CHF million 	 +/–	 	 +	 	 –	 	 +	 	 –	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 50 bps	 	 21.6	 	 –21.6	 	 –	 	 –	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 50 bps	 	 22.8	 	 –22.8	 	 –	 	 –	

Financial assets 	 50 bps	 	 2.5	 	 –2.5	 	 –1.3	 	 1.3	

Bank overdrafts 	 50 bps	 	 –2.4	 	 2.4	 	 –	 	 –	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 50 bps	 	 –42.3	 	 42.3	 	 –	 	 –	

Total 	 	 	 2.2	 	 –2.2	 	 –1.3	 	 1.3	

 	 2021	

 	 Change in	 	 Effect on	 	 Effect on other	

 	 interest rate	 	 earnings before tax	 	 comprehensive income before tax	

Amounts in CHF million 	 +/–	 	 +	 	 –	 	 +	 	 –	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 50 bps	 	 32.4	 	 –32.4	 	 –	 	 –	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 50 bps	 	 11.8	 	 –11.8	 	 –	 	 –	

Financial assets 	 50 bps	 	 1.4	 	 –1.4	 	 –2.2	 	 2.3	

Bank overdrafts 	 50 bps	 	 –0.0	 	 0.0	 	 –	 	 –	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 50 bps	 	 –45.5	 	 45.5	 	 –	 	 –	

Total 	 	 	 0.0	 	 –0.0	 	 –2.2	 	 2.3	

Equity risk
Equity risk is the financial risk associated with the holding 
of unlisted equity investments. SIX invests in minority 
shareholdings for strategic and financial reasons. For 
this purpose, SIX established a corporate investment 
management framework in addition to the Group’s 
competency rules.

Depending on the size and type of a minority invest-
ment, investment decisions are taken by the SIX Fintech 
Venture Fund Investment Committee (i.e. mainly for 
unlisted start-up companies), the ExB, the Chairman or 
the Board of Directors of SIX. The ultimate responsibility 
for the execution of the corporate investment manage-
ment framework lies with the CFO of SIX. It includes the 
involvement of particular specialist functions in order 
to maintain the right level  of investment oversight, 
collection of relevant financials, adherence to disclosure 
requirements and maintenance of relevant documents 
by SIX. For each investment, responsibility is assigned 
to one ExB member.
 

The investments that fall within the scope of the corpo-
rate investment management framework are regularly 
reviewed by the ExB and the BoD/AC. Finance and 
Services, in coordination with a relevant business unit, 
is responsible for tracking the financial and operational 
performance. In the case of material performance de-
viations, the situation is escalated in the first place to 
the relevant ExB member who shall decide whether 
to  bring it to the attention of the ExB and/or BoD. 
Ultimately, the BoD may decide to introduce additional 
governance measures including, but not limited to ad-
ditional management and/or BoD oversight of the 
particular investment. 

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the fair value of 
these equity investments tends to be dominated by 
factors specific to the investee company.
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26. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Classification of financial instruments
The table below shows the classification for each class of financial instruments and, if applicable, the fair value 
level. 

 	 	 	31/12/2022	

 	 	 	 At fair value			 

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 At amor-	 	 	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 Level 1	 	 Level 2	 	 Level 3	 	 Total	 	 tized cost	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 14	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 4,320.5	 	 4,320.5	

Trade and other receivables 	 15	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 201.9	 	 201.9	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 16	 							       –	 	 4,938.0	 	 4,938.0	

Current and non-current financial assets 	 17	 	 228.2	 	 694.8	 	 41.7	 	 964.7	 	 1,883.5	 	 2,848.2	

Bonds 	 	 	 200.8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 200.8	 	 1,783.6	 	 1,984.4	

Other debt instruments 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 11.5	 	 11.5	 	 99.9	 	 111.5	

Equity instruments 	 	 	 13.3	 	 –	 	 30.2	 	 43.4	 	 –	 	 43.4	

Units in investment funds 	 	 	 2.3	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2.3	 	 –	 	 2.3	

Financial instruments from settlement business 	 	 	 11.8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 11.8	 	 –	 	 11.8	

Derivative financial assets 	 	 	 –	 	 694.8	 	 –	 	 694.8	 	 –	 	 694.8	

Total carrying amounts 1	 	 	 228.2	 	 694.8	 	 41.7	 	 964.7	 	 11,344.0	 	 12,308.7	

 	 	 						      	 	 	 	 	 	

Bonds 	 	 	 9.0	 	 1,679.9	 	 –	 	 1,688.8	 	 	 	 	

Fair values of financial assets measured 	 	 	 9.0	 	 1,679.9	 	 –	 	 1,688.8	 	 	 	 	

at amortized cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank overdrafts 	 14	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 472.0	 	 472.0	

Trade and other payables 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 31.7	 	 31.7	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 16	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 8,837.5	 	 8,837.5	

Current and non-current financial liabilities 	 17	 	 –	 	 697.4	 	 2.7	 	 700.0	 	 1,518.8	 	 2,218.8	

Lease liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 151.1	 	 151.1	

Borrowings 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 1,273.5	 	 1,273.5	

Derivative financial liabilities 	 	 	 –	 	 697.4	 	 –	 	 697.4	 	 –	 	 697.4	

Other financial liabilities 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2.7	 	 2.7	 	 94.3	 	 96.9	

Total carrying amounts 1	 	 	 –	 	 697.4	 	 2.7	 	 700.0	 	 10,860.0	 	 11,560.0	

 	 	 						      	 	 	 	 	 	

Borrowings 	 	 	 –	 	 1,140.7	 	 –	 	 1,140.7	 	 	 	 	

Fair values of financial liabilities measured 	 	 	 –	 	 1,140.7	 	 –	 	 1,140.7	 	 	 	 	

at amortized cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

1	 Accrued interests are presented within other assets and other liabilities (in accrued expenses).
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 	 	 	31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 At fair value			 

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 At amor-	 	 	

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 Level 1	 	 Level 2	 	 Level 3	 	 Total	 	 tized cost	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 14	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 6,473.5	 	 6,473.5	

Trade and other receivables 	 15	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 189.5	 	 189.5	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 16	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 2,537.1	 	 2,537.1	

Current and non-current financial assets 	 17	 	 242.4	 	 1,286.0	 	 27.0	 	 1,555.4	 	 2,077.8	 	 3,633.2	

Bonds 	 	 	 212.5	 	 –	 	 –	 	 212.5	 	 1,976.4	 	 2,188.9	

Other debt instruments 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 5.2	 	 5.2	 	 101.4	 	 106.6	

Equity instruments 	 	 	 13.1	 	 –	 	 21.8	 	 34.9	 	 –	 	 34.9	

Units in investment funds 	 	 	 2.0	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2.0	 	 –	 	 2.0	

Financial instruments from settlement business 	 	 	 14.7	 	 –	 	 –	 	 14.7	 	 –	 	 14.7	

Derivative financial assets 	 	 	 –	 	 1,286.0	 	 –	 	 1,286.0	 	 –	 	 1,286.0	

Total carrying amounts 1	 	 	 242.4	 	 1,286.0	 	 27.0	 	 1,555.4	 	 11,277.9	 	 12,833.3	

 	 	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bonds 2	 	 	 8.9	 	 1,976.8	 	 –	 	 1,985.7	 	 	 	 	

Fair values for financial assets measured 	 	 	 8.9	 	 1,976.8	 	 –	 	 1,985.7	 	 	 	 	

at amortized cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank overdrafts 	 14	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 0.2	 	 0.2	

Trade and other payables 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 15.7	 	 15.7	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 16	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 9,266.6	 	 9,266.6	

Current and non-current financial liabilities 	 17	 	 –	 	 1,285.0	 	 9.6	 	 1,294.6	 	 1,542.2	 	 2,836.8	

Lease liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 165.8	 	 165.8	

Borrowings 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 	 1,273.9	 	 1,273.9	

Derivative financial liabilities 	 	 	 –	 	 1,285.0	 	 –	 	 1,285.0	 	 –	 	 1,285.0	

Other financial liabilities 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 9.6	 	 9.6	 	 102.5	 	 112.2	

Total carrying amounts 	 	 	 –	 	 1,285.0	 	 9.6	 	 1,294.6	 	 10,824.7	 	 12,119.3	

 	 	 						      	 	 	 	 	 	

Borrowings 2	 	 	 –	 	 1,272.6	 	 –	 	 1,272.6	 	 	 	 	

Fair values for financial liabilities measured 	 	 	 –	 	 1,272.6	 	 –	 	 1,272.6	 	 	 	 	

at amortized cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

1	 Accrued interests are presented within other assets and other liabilities (in accrued expenses).
2	 Prior year figures have been adjusted in line with the current year’s updated definition of an active market. Bonds and borrowings in the amount of CHF 

1,939.9 million and CHF 1,269.3 million, respectively, have therefore been reclassified from level 1 to level 2.

SIX assumes that the carrying amount approximates the 
fair value for all financial assets and liabilities measured 
at amortized cost, except for bonds and borrowings. 
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Fair value valuation methods for financial 
assets and liabilities
Recurring fair value measurements for financial assets 
and liabilities are described below. The fair value meas-
urements are assigned to the different levels of the fair 
value hierarchy. These levels are defined as follows:

ȫȫ Level 1: The fair value of listed financial instru-
ments with a price established in an active market 
is determined based on current quoted market prices.

ȫȫ Level 2: Valuation methods are used to determine 
the fair value of financial instruments if no direct 
market prices are available. The underlying assump-
tions are based on observable market data, either 
directly or indirectly, as at the reporting date.

ȫȫ Level 3: If neither current market prices nor valuation 
methods based on observable market data can be 
drawn on for the purpose of determining fair value, 
then valuation methods are based on unobservable 
market data. Those inputs reflect the assumptions 
that market participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.

The following methods and assumptions were used to 
estimate the fair values:

Level 1 instruments
ȫȫ The fair value of listed equity instruments, units in 
investment funds and bonds is determined by 
reference to published price quotations at the 
reporting date. Bonds are considered to be listed 
on an active market if the trading frequency and 
volume generally exceed the defined minimum 
levels. The valuation of financial instruments from 
settlement business is performed with reference to 
quoted prices from the markets to which they relate. 
Such financial assets thus fall under level 1 of the 
fair value hierarchy.

Level 2 instruments
ȫȫ The fair value of bonds listed on an inactive market 
is determined by reference to published price 
quotations at the reporting date.

ȫȫ The fair value of unlisted bonds such as promissory 
notes is determined by discounting the expected 
future payments at a risk and maturity-adjusted 
discount rate. As the input factors are readily 
available in the market, these instruments are 
assigned to level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

ȫȫ The fair value of loans is determined by discounting 
the expected future payments at a maturity-ad-
justed discount rate. For borrowings with a variable 
interest rate, it is generally assumed that the fair 
value approximates the carrying amount. As the 
input factors are readily available in the market, 
these borrowings are assigned to level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy.

ȫȫ Foreign exchange swaps and forwards are not 
traded publicly. The inputs to the calculation include 
foreign exchange spot rates and interest rates. In 
general, these inputs are readily observable in the 
markets or provided by consensus data providers. 
Thus, foreign exchange swaps, forwards and other 
foreign exchange derivatives are categorized as 
level 2 instruments of derivatives.

ȫȫ For derivatives from the clearing and settlement 
business as a CCP, the fair value is determined as 
the difference between the fair value of the underlying 
instrument at the trade date and its fair value at 
the reporting date. All derivatives from clearing and 
settlement are categorized as level 2 instruments, 
as the inputs used are readily available in the 
market. For derivatives from the clearing and 
settlement of European options, the fair value 
is determined based on the Black-Scholes model. 
For derivatives from the clearing and settlement 
of American options, the fair value is determined 
based on the Binomial Option Pricing model. The 
inputs to the calculation of both models include 
share price, implied volatility, strike price, risk-free 
interest rate and expected dividends.

ȫȫ For bonds issued by SIX listed on an inactive market, 
the fair value is determined by reference to published 
price quotations at the reporting date. For other 
borrowings, such as loans, it is generally assumed 
that the fair value approximates the carrying 
amount. As the input factors are readily available 
in the market, borrowings are assigned to level 2 
of the fair value hierarchy.

Level 3 instruments
ȫȫ The fair value of unlisted shares – which may be 
classified as equity instruments at FVtPL or debt 
instruments at FVtPL, depending on the rights 
attached to the instrument – is derived from the 
proportionate net asset value of the entity. Such 
investments are categorized within level 3 of the 
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fair value hierarchy. If the net asset value were to 
increase, the price per share would increase 
proportionately.

ȫȫ For other debt instruments at FVtPL such as 
convertible loans, the fair value is determined by 
discounting the expected future payments at a 
risk-adjusted discount rate. As the input factors are 
not readily available in the market, these instru-
ments are assigned to level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy. An increase or decrease of 10% in the 
estimated cash flows would lead to an increase or 
decrease of approximately 10% in the fair value. The 
estimated fair value would increase if the risk-adjusted 
discount rate were lower. 

ȫȫ For NCI liabilities with variable exercise prices, the 
fair value is measured by using probability weighted 
forecasts. The inputs into the calculation include in 
particular revenue or cash flow forecast scenarios 
and the probability of each scenario. The forecast 
scenarios are reviewed at least bi-annually and based 
on the business plans prepared by the management.

Transfers between levels
SIX recognizes transfers between the levels of the fair 
value hierarchy at the date of the event or change 
in  circumstances that caused the transfer. In  2022 
and 2021, there were no transfers between level 1 and 
level 2 or between level 2 and level 3.

Movements in level 3 financial assets and liabilities

 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Financial	 	 Financial	 	 Financial	 	 Financial	

CHF million 	 assets	 	 liabilities	 	 assets	 	 liabilities	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 	 27.0	 	 –9.6	 	 17.6	 	 –2.2	

Additions 	 19.2	 	 –	 	 8.3		  –8.7	

Disposals 	 –	 	 1.0	 	 –1.1	 	 1.1	

Disposals due to changes in the scope of consolidation 	 –2.8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Reclassifications from / to associates 	 0.7	 	 –	 	 –0.6	 	 –	

Business combinations 	 –	 	 –	 	 1.8	 	 –	

Gains (losses) recognized in the income statement 1	 –2.1	 	 6.0	 	 1.3	 	 –0.1	

Gains (losses) recognized in other comprehensive income 	 –	 	 0.0	 	 –	 	 0.4	

Translation adjustments 	 –0.3	 	 –	 	 –0.2	 	 –	

Carrying amount at closing 	 41.7	 	 –2.7	 	 27.0	 	 –9.6	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income/expenses on holdings at closing 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Unrealized gains (losses) recognized in the income statement 1	 –2.1	 	 6.0	 	 1.3	 	 –0.1	

Unrealized gains (losses) recognized as other comprehensive income 2	 –	 	 0.0	 	 –	 	 0.4	

1	 Gains (losses) were recognized as financial income and financial expenses.
2	 Gains (losses) were recognized as gains/(losses) on net investment hedges.

SIX invests in fintech companies for strategic and financial 
purposes. These investments are classified as financial 
instruments at fair value (equity or debt instruments) or 
as associates. During 2022, SIX invested CHF 19.2 million 
(2021: CHF 7.0 million) in fintech companies. In 2022, the 
gains recognized in the income statement on financial 

liabilities mainly included the remeasurement gain of 
the NCI liability of Orenda (see note 9). 

In 2021, the increase in level  3 financial liabilities re-
lated to the NCI liabilities incurred upon the acquisition 
of Orenda and Ultumus. For further details, see note 29.
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27. Offsetting
The following tables show the effects of offsetting on the balance sheet and the related amounts not offset for 
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to enforceable netting arrangements:

 	 31/12/2022	

 	 Assets subject to enforceable netting arrangements			 

 	 Effects of offsetting on balance sheet	 	 Related amounts not offset			 

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Assets 		 	

 	 Gross assets 		 Balance 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 Assets after 		 not subject 		 	

 	 before 		 sheet 		 Net assets 		 	 	 	 	 consider-	 	 to enforce-	 	 	

 	 balance 		 netting with 		 reported on 		 	 	 	 	 ation of 		 able netting 		 	

 	 sheet 		 gross 		 the balance 		 Financial 		 Collateral 		 netting 		 arrange-	 	 Balance 	

CHF million 	 netting	 	 liabilities	 	 sheet	  1	 liabilities	 	 received	  2	 potential	 	 ments	  1	 sheet total	  1

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Receivables from C&S 	 4,870.3	 	 –315.6	 	 4,554.7	 	 –21.3	 	 –4,533.4	 	 0.0	 	 383.3	 	 4,938.0	

Reverse repurchase transactions 	 3,803.8	 	 –	 	 3,803.8	 	 –	 	 –3,803.8	 	 0.0	 	 –	 	 3,803.8	

Other receivables from C&S 	 1,066.5	 	 –315.6	 	 750.9	 	 –21.3	 	 –729.6	 	 –	 	 383.3	 	 1,134.2	

Financial assets (current and 	 3,524.8	 	 –2,486.2	 	 1,038.5	 	 –77.2	 	 –723.3	 	 238.0	 	 1,809.7	 	 2,848.2	

non-current) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Derivatives 	 3,180.7	 	 –2,486.2	 	 694.5	 	 –77.2	 	 –617.3	 	 –	 	 0.3	 	 694.8	

Other financial assets (current) 	 149.2	 	 –	 	 149.2	 	 –	 	 –11.8	 	 137.4	 	 470.9	 	 620.1	

Other financial assets (non-current) 	 194.9	 	 –	 	 194.9	 	 –	 	 –94.3	 	 100.6	 	 1,338.5	 	 1,533.3	

Total assets 	 8,395.1	 	 –2,801.8	 	 5,593.3	 	 –98.5	 	 –5,256.8	 	 238.0	 	 2,192.9	 	 7,786.2	

 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Assets subject to enforceable netting arrangements			 

 	 Effects of offsetting on balance sheet	 	 Related amounts not offset			 

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Assets 		 	

 	 Gross assets 		 Balance 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 Assets after 		 not subject 		 	

 	 before 		 sheet 		 Net assets 		 	 	 	 	 consider-	 	 to enforce-	 	 	

 	 balance 		 netting with 		 reported on 		 	 	 	 	 ation of 		 able netting 		 	

 	 sheet 		 gross 		 the balance 		 Financial 		 Collateral 		 netting 		 arrange-	 	 Balance 	

CHF million 	 netting	 	 liabilities	 	 sheet	  1	 liabilities	 	 received	  2	 potential	 	 ments	  1	 sheet total	  1

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Receivables from C&S 	 2,350.0	 	 –	 	 2,350.0	 	 –23.2	 	 –2,325.7	 	 1.2	 	 187.1	 	 2,537.1	

Reverse repurchase transactions 	 1,915.8	 	 –	 	 1,915.8	 	 –	 	 –1,914.6	 	 1.2	 	 –	 	 1,915.8	

Other receivables from C&S 	 434.2	 	 –	 	 434.2	 	 –23.2	 	 –411.0	 	 –	 	 187.1	 	 621.3	

Financial assets (current and 	 3,251.1	 	 –1,623.0	 	 1,628.1	 	 –619.5	 	 –779.6	 	 229.0	 	 2,005.0	 	 3,633.2	

non-current) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Derivatives 	 2,908.4	 	 –1,623.0	 	 1,285.5	 	 –619.5	 	 –666.0	 	 –	 	 0.5	 	 1,286.0	

Other financial assets (current) 	 31.2	 	 –	 	 31.2	 	 –	 	 –14.7	 	 16.5	 	 277.4	 	 308.6	

Other financial assets (non-current) 	 311.5	 	 –	 	 311.5	 	 –	 	 –98.9	 	 212.5	 	 1,727.1	 	 2,038.6	

Total assets 	 5,601.2	 	 –1,623.0	 	 3,978.2	 	 –642.7	 	 –3,105.3	 	 230.2	 	 2,192.1	 	 6,170.3	

 	

1	 The balance sheet total is the sum of “Net assets reported on the balance sheet” that are subject to enforceable netting arrangements and “Assets not subject to 
enforceable netting arrangements”.	

2	 Financial collateral is reflected at its fair value, but has been limited to the net balance sheet exposure so as not to include any over-collateralization.	
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 	 31/12/2022	

 	 Liabilities subject to enforceable netting arrangements			 

 	 Effects of offsetting on balance sheet	 	 Related amounts not offset			 

 	 Gross 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Liabilities 		 Liabilities 		 	

 	 liabilities 		 Balance 		 Net 		 	 	 	 	 after 		 not subject 		 	

 	 before 		 sheet 		 liabilities 		 	 	 	 	 consider-	 	 to enforce-	 	 	

 	 balance 		 netting 		 reported on 		 	 	 	 	 ation 		 able netting 		 	

 	 sheet 		 with 		 the balance 		 Financial 		 Collateral 		 of netting 		 arrange-	 	 Balance 	

CHF million 	 netting	 	 gross assets	 	 sheet	  1	 assets	 	 pledged	  2	 potential	 	 ments	  1	 sheet total	  1

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Payables from C&S 	 7,884.5	 	 –315.6	 	 7,569.0	 	 –21.3	 	 –127.2	 	 7,420.4	 	 1,268.6	 	 8,837.5	

Payables from C&S 	 7,865.9	 	 –315.6	 	 7,550.3	 	 –21.3	 	 –108.6	 	 7,420.4	 	 1,268.6	 	 8,818.9	

Payables from repurchase agreements 	 18.7	 	 –	 	 18.7	 	 –	 	 –18.7	 	 –	 	 –	 	 18.7	

Financial liabilities (current and 	 3,277.6	 	 –2,486.2	 	 791.3	 	 –77.2	 	 –714.2	 	 –	 	 1,427.5	 	 2,218.8	

non-current) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Derivatives 	 3,183.3	 	 –2,486.2	 	 697.1	 	 –77.2	 	 –619.9	 	 –	 	 0.3	 	 697.4	

Other financial liabilities (current) 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 26.5	 	 26.5	

Other financial liabilities (non-current) 	 94.3	 	 –	 	 94.3	 	 –	 	 –94.3	 	 –	 	 1,400.7	 	 1,494.9	

Total liabilities 	 11,162.1	 	 –2,801.8	 	 8,360.3	 	 –98.5	 	 –841.4	 	 7,420.4	 	 2,696.1	 	 11,056.4	

 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Liabilities subject to enforceable netting arrangements			 

 	 Effects of offsetting on balance sheet	 	 Related amounts not offset			 

 	 Gross 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Liabilities 		 Liabilities 		 	

 	 liabilities 		 Balance 		 Net 		 	 	 	 	 after 		 not subject 		 	

 	 before 		 sheet 		 liabilities 		 	 	 	 	 consider-	 	 to enforce-	 	 	

 	 balance 		 netting 		 reported on 		 	 	 	 	 ation 		 able netting 		 	

 	 sheet 		 with 		 the balance 		 Financial 		 Collateral 		 of netting 		 arrange-	 	 Balance 	

CHF million 	 netting	 	 gross assets	 	 sheet	  1	 assets	 	 pledged	  2	 potential	 	 ments	  1	 sheet total	  1

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Payables from C&S 	 7,882.8	 	 –	 	 7,882.8	 	 –23.2	 	 –	 	 7,859.6	 	 1,383.8	 	 9,266.6	

Financial liabilities (current and 	 3,006.4	 	 –1,623.0	 	 1,383.4	 	 –619.5	 	 –763.9	 	 –	 	 1,453.4	 	 2,836.8	

non-current) 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Derivatives 	 2,907.5	 	 –1,623.0	 	 1,284.5	 	 –619.5	 	 –665.0	 	 –	 	 0.5	 	 1,285.0	

Other financial liabilities (current) 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 22.9	 	 22.9	

Other financial liabilities (non-current) 	 98.9	 	 –	 	 98.9	 	 –	 	 –98.9	 	 –	 	 1,430.0	 	 1,528.9	

Total liabilities 	 10,889.3	 	 –1,623.0	 	 9,266.3	 	 –642.7	 	 –763.9	 	 7,859.6	 	 2,837.2	 	 12,103.4	

 	

1	 The balance sheet total is the sum of “Net liabilities reported on the balance sheet” that are subject to enforceable netting arrangements and “Liabilities not subject to 
enforceable netting arrangements”.	

2	 Financial collateral is reflected at its fair value, but has been limited to the net balance sheet exposure so as not to include any over-collateralization.	

Enforceable netting arrangements
In the post-trading business, enforceable netting ar-
rangements are in place. SIX x-clear Ltd and BME 
Clearing SAU operate as central counterparties. A CCP 
is an entity that interposes itself between trading part-
ners to become a buyer to every seller and a seller to 
every buyer, thereby ensuring settlement even if one 

of the original trading partners fails to meet their 
obligations. In order to protect the CCPs against the 
potential losses in the event of a participant’s default, 
SIX requires the participants to provide collateral and 
to make contributions to a collective default fund. The 
transactions are subject to netting arrangements, 
which are part of the clearing rules of SIX x-clear Ltd 
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and BME Clearing SAU. SIX SIS Ltd and Iberclear act as 
CSDs. CSDs may provide short-term credits to their 
clients and hold cash placements with custodians. 
These assets are covered by the credit balances of the 
clients and by collaterals which are subject to netting 
arrangements (i.e. member agreements). Additionally, 
receivables and payables related to reverse repurchase 
transactions are subject to enforceable netting agree-
ments, such as the Swiss Master Agreement for Repo 
Trades and/or Global Master Repurchase Agreement.

Balance sheet netting
Unsettled positions from clearing and settlement are 
offset to the extent that netting is legally enforceable, 
based on the respective clearing rules. For equities 
and  fixed income, the maximum netting which can be 
applied is on a counterparty and instrument level. For 
derivatives, the unsettled positions are shown net on a 
margin account level.

Related amounts not offset
Reverse repurchase transactions
The agreements stipulate that all outstanding trans
actions with the same counterparty can be offset, and 
close-out netting applies across all outstanding trans-
actions covered by the agreements if a default event or 
another predetermined event occurs. The arrange-
ments, however, do not provide a legally enforceable 
right in the normal course of business. Financial collateral 

typically comprises cash and highly liquid securities 
which may be liquidated in the event of counterparty 
default.

Other receivables/payables from clearing & 
settlement
Receivables from clearing & settlement include deposits 
at correspondence banks for cross-border settlements, 
unsettled margin calls and unsettled daily variation 
margins from derivatives. Except for unsettled margin 
calls and unsettled daily variation margins, financial 
liabilities against these counterparties are generally not 
offset in the normal course of business. The remaining 
amount of the assets is covered by the credit balances 
of the clients and by collaterals which may be realized 
in a default event or if another predetermined event 
occurs. 

Positive/negative replacement values of 
derivatives
The netting agreements for clearing transactions 
stipulate that close-out netting applies across all out-
standing transactions with the same clearing member 
and the same currency if a default event or another 
predetermined event occurs. Such arrangements, 
however, do not provide a legally enforceable right in 
the normal course of business. The collateral may be 
realized in a default event or if another predetermined 
event occurs.
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Group Composition

28. Interests in Other Entities
Subsidiaries
The list below shows SIX Group Ltd and its subsidiaries. The share capital of all subsidiaries consists solely of 
ordinary shares and the ownership interest held by SIX equals the share of voting rights. All subsidiaries are 
consolidated in the Group’s financial statements. 

   	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Principal place  	  	 Share capital	 	 	

Name of entity 	 of business 	 Principal activities 	 in 1,000	 	 Equity interest in %	

 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

SIX Group Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Holding company 	 CHF 	 19,522	 	 –	 	 –	

12H Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Provider of low-latency solutions 	 CHF 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 90.0	

BME Clearing SAU 	 Madrid 	 Clearing 	 EUR 	 18,030	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

BME LATAM SAS 	 Bogota 	 Consulting services 	 COP 	 150,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

BME Post Trade Services SAU 	 Madrid 	 Services for Group companies and third 	 EUR 	 60	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

 	  	 parties 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

BME Regulatory Services SAU 	 Madrid 	 Regulatory compliance services 	 EUR 	 60	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

BME Servicios Corporativos SA 	 Madrid 	 Services for Group companies 	 EUR 	 25,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, Sociedad 	 Madrid 	 Holding company 	 EUR 	 250,847	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Holding de Mercados y Sistemas 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Financieros SA 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles Group 	 Madrid 	 Services for Group companies 	 EUR 	 60	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Services SAU 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles InnTech SAU 	 Madrid 	 IT and consulting services 	 EUR 	 331	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles Market Data SA 	 Madrid 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 4,165	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles Renta Fija SAU 	 Madrid 	 Fixed income exchange 	 EUR 	 3,005	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles Sistemas de 	 Madrid 	 Stock exchange and stock exchange 	 EUR 	 60	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Negociación SA 	  	 services 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

F10 (Switzerland) Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Innovation and startup consulting 	 CHF 	 100	 	 –	 	 100.0	

F10 Global Innovation Network Spain SL 	 Madrid 	 Innovation and startup consulting 	 EUR 	 3	 	 –	 	 100.0	

F10 Investment Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Investment in startups 	 CHF 	 100	 	 –	 	 75.0	

Finaccess SIX Financial Information SA 	 Casablanca 	 Financial information services 	 MAD 	 8,548	 	 55.0	 	 55.0	

Instituto Bolsas y Mercados Españoles SLU 	 Madrid 	 Financial training 	 EUR 	 10	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

LATAM Exchanges Data Inc. 	 Miami 	 Financial information services 	 USD 	 5,644	 	 51.0	 	 51.0	

MEFF Sociedad Rectora del Mercado de 	 Madrid 	 Derivatives exchange 	 EUR 	 6,650	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Productos Derivados SAU 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

MEFF Tecnología y Servicios SAU 	 Barcelona 	 Electricity market CCP 	 EUR 	 60	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Open Finance SL 	 Valencia 	 Consultancy services to financial entities 	 EUR 	 4	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Orenda Software Solutions Inc. 	 Membertou 	 ESG and alternative data services 	 CAD 	 0	 	 62.6	 	 62.6	

REGIS-TR SA 	 Luxembourg 	 Trade repository 	 EUR 	 3,600	 	 100.0	 	 –	  1

REGIS-TR UK Ltd 	 London 	 Trade repository 	 GBP 	 1,641	 	 100.0	 	 –	  1

SDX Trading Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Digital exchange services 	 CHF 	 1,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SDX Web3 Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Digital exchange services 	 CHF 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 –	

SECB Swiss Euro Clearing Bank GmbH 	 Frankfurt a. M. 	 Clearing services 	 EUR 	 30,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX BBS Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Banking services 	 CHF 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Digital Exchange Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Digital exchange services 	 CHF 	 5,500	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Exchange Group Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Holding company 	 CHF 	 10,000	 	 100.0	 	 –	

1	 As at 31 December 2021, REGIS-TR SA and REGIS-TR UK Ltd  were accounted for using the equity method. See below.
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   	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Principal place  	  	 Share capital	 	 	

Name of entity 	 of business 	 Principal activities 	 in 1,000	 	 Equity interest in %	

 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

SIX Exchange Regulation Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Exchange regulation 	 CHF 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Exfeed Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Distribution of financial information 	 CHF 	 1,100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Finance (Luxembourg) SA 	 Leudelange 	 Financing services 	 EUR 	 31	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Belgium SA 	 Brussels 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 505	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Denmark A/S 	 Copenhagen 	 Financial information services 	 DKK 	 1,600	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Deutschland GmbH 	 Frankfurt a. M. 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 512	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information España SA 	 Madrid 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 424	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information France SAS 	 Paris 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 44,900	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Hong Kong Limited 	 Hong Kong 	 Inactive 	 HKD 	 4,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Italia Srl 	 Milan 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Japan Ltd 	 Tokyo 	 Financial information services 	 JPY 	 40,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Financial information services 	 CHF 	 5,400	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Luxembourg SA 	 Leudelange 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 31	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Monaco SAM 	 Monaco 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 150	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Nederland BV 	 Amsterdam 	 Financial information services 	 EUR 	 250	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Nordic AB 	 Stockholm 	 Financial information services 	 SEK 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information Singapore Pte Ltd 	 Singapore 	 Financial information services 	 SGD 	 25	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information UK Ltd 	 London 	 Financial information services 	 GBP 	 500	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Financial Information USA Inc. 	 Stamford 	 Financial information services 	 USD 	 0	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Global Services Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Services for Group companies and third 	 CHF 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

 	  	 parties 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

SIX Group Services Ltd 	 Zurich 	 IT and management services 	 CHF 	 11,550	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Index Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Indices services 	 CHF 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Interbank Clearing Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Interbank payment services 	 CHF 	 1,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX NCS Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Banking services 	 CHF 	 100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Paynet Ltd 	 Zurich 	 E-billing and direct debit services 	 CHF 	 –	 	 –	 	 100.0	

SIX Repo Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Swiss money market trading platform 	 CHF 	 1,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Securities Services Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Holding company 	 CHF 	 26,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX SIS Ltd 	 Olten 	 Settlement and custody 	 CHF 	 26,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX SIS Singapore Private Limited 	 Singapore 	 Settlement and custody 	 SGD 	 1,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX SIS USA Inc. 	 Stamford 	 Settlement and custody 	 USD 	 1	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Stock exchange and stock exchange 	 CHF 	 10,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

 	  	 services 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

SIX Terravis Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Real estate information portal 	 CHF 	 4,100	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX Trade Repository Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Trade repository 	 CHF 	 500	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

SIX x-clear Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Clearing 	 CHF 	 30,000	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Sociedad de Bolsas SA 	 Madrid 	 Stock exchange and stock exchange 	 EUR 	 8,414	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

 	  	 services 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Sociedad de Gestión de los Sistemas de 	 Madrid 	 Settlement and custody 	 EUR 	 114,380	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

Registro, Compensación y Liquidación de 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Valores SAU (Iberclear) 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Sociedad Rectora de la Bolsa de Valores 	 Barcelona 	 Stock exchange and stock exchange 	 EUR 	 8,564	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

de Barcelona SAU 	  	 services 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Sociedad Rectora de la Bolsa de Valores 	 Bilbao 	 Stock exchange and stock exchange 	 EUR 	 2,957	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

de Bilbao SAU 	  	 services 	  	 	 	 	 	 	
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   	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Principal place  	  	 Share capital	 	 	

Name of entity 	 of business 	 Principal activities 	 in 1,000	 	 Equity interest in %	

 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Sociedad Rectora de la Bolsa de Valores 	 Madrid 	 Stock exchange and stock exchange 	 EUR 	 21,348	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

de Madrid SAU 	  	 services 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Sociedad Rectora de la Bolsa de Valores 	 Valencia 	 Stock exchange and stock exchange 	 EUR 	 4,111	 	 100.0	 	 100.0	

de Valencia SAU 	  	 services 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

SWISSTRADINGBOX Ltd 	 Zurich 	 IT services 	 CHF 	 100	 	 –	 	 50.1	

Ultumus (SGP) Pte Ltd 	 Singapore 	 Index and ETF services 	 SGD 	 0	 	 94.5	 	 94.5	

Ultumus (US) Inc. 	 Wilmington 	 Index and ETF services 	 USD 	 0	 	 94.5	 	 94.5	

Ultumus Limited 	 London 	 Index and ETF services 	 USD 	 0	 	 94.5	 	 94.5	

Changes in the composition of the Group 
during 2022
SIX Paynet Ltd
In January 2022, SIX Paynet Ltd was merged with 
SIX BBS Ltd. The merger had no impact on the Group’s 
consolidated figures as at 31 December 2022.

REGIS-TR
In March 2022, SIX established control of REGIS-TR SA 
and REGIS-TR UK Ltd (REGIS-TR) by acquiring the re-
maining stake of 50.0%. For further details, see note 29.

F10 Group
In April 2022, a partial management buyout and capital 
increase was carried out, which resulted in a change 
of  control for F10 (Switzerland) and its subsidiaries. 
Since then, SIX has maintained a significant influence 
with a stake of 43.4% (31  December 2021: 100.0%) in 
F10 (Switzerland) Ltd, which is accounted for under the eq-
uity method. As a result of the transaction, SIX recognized 
a gain in financial income of CHF 3.7 million, CHF 2.5 million 
of which is attributable to the investment retained.

Cash and cash equivalents in the entities over which 
SIX lost control totaled CHF 2.0 million.

SWISSTRADINGBOX Ltd
In December 2022, SWISSTRADINGBOX Ltd was sold 
without any material effect on the income statement.

Newly incorporated entities 
In 2022, the following entities were incorporated as fully 
owned subsidiaries:

ȫȫ SDX Web3 Ltd: The purpose is to provide services in 
the area of distributed ledger and Web3 technology.

ȫȫ SIX Exchange Group Ltd: The purpose is to hold the 
Group entities except for Banking Services.

Changes in the composition of the Group 
during 2021
Orenda Software Solutions Inc.
In March 2021, SIX acquired an ownership stake of 
62.6% in Orenda Software Solutions Inc. For further 
details, see note 29.

Ultumus Group
In July 2021, SIX acquired 94.5% of Ultumus Limited, which 
is the parent company of Ultumus Group. The Group also 
includes the fully-owned subsidiaries Ultumus (US) Inc. 
and Ultumus (SGP) Pte Ltd. For further details, see 
note 29.

F10 Group
In June 2021, the association F10 FinTech Incubator and 
Accelerator was converted into a stock corporation 
with a paid-up capital of CHF 0.1 million and renamed 
F10 (Switzerland) Ltd. 

With the incorporation of F10 (Switzerland) Ltd, SIX also 
obtained control over the subsidiaries F10 Investment 
Ltd and F10 Global Innovation Network Spain SL.  F10 
Investment Ltd was owned by SIX, F10 (Switzerland) Ltd 
and other investors with 40%, 35% and 25%, respec-
tively. SIX obtained control over F10 Investment Ltd, 
as  the direct and indirect ownership totaled 75%. 
Previously, the 40% direct interest of SIX was accounted 
for using the equity method. Obtaining control over both 
subsidiaries of F10 (Switzerland) Ltd did not result in any 
fair value adjustments or goodwill. 
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Newly incorporated entities 
In 2021, the following entities were incorporated as 
fully owned subsidiaries:

ȫȫ SIX SIS USA Inc.: The purpose is to support SIX SIS 
Ltd in providing settlement and custody services.

ȫȫ SIX SIS Singapore Private Limited: The purpose is 
to support SIX SIS Ltd in providing settlement and 
custody services.

ȫȫ SIX Index Ltd: The purpose is to provide indices 
services for the Financial Information business unit.

ȫȫ Bolsas y Mercados Españoles Group Services SAU: 
The purpose is to provide services for Group 
companies.

Significant associates and joint ventures

   	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 Principal place  	  	 Share capital	 	 	

Name of entity 	 of business 	 Principal activities 	 in 1,000	 	 Equity interest in %	

 	  	  	  	 	 	 	 	 	

Custodigit Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Digital asset services 	 CHF 	 1,750	 	 –	 	 42.9	

Keyrock SA 1	 Brussels 	 Liquidity provider for digital assets 	 EUR 	 1,190	 	 9.5	 	 9.6	

REGIS-TR SA 	 Luxembourg 	 Trade repository 	 EUR 	 3,600	 	 –	  2	 50.0	

REGIS-TR UK Ltd 	 London 	 Trade repository 	 GBP 	 1,641	 	 –	  2	 50.0	

TWINT Ltd 	 Zurich 	 Mobile payment solutions 	 CHF 	 12,750	 	 26.7	 	 26.7	

Worldline SA 	 Bezons 	 Electronic payment and transactional 	 EUR 	 191,603	 	 10.6	  3	 10.6	  3

 	  	 services 	  	 	 	 	 	 	

1	 As a result of an additional investment in September 2022, Keyrock SA has become a significant associated company.
2	 As at 31 December 2022, REGIS-TR SA and REGIS-TR UK Ltd were fully consolidated. See above.
3	 Voting rights as at 31 December 2022: 18.4% (31 December 2021: 18.8%)

Changes during 2022
REGIS-TR
In March 2022, SIX established control over REGIS-TR 
SA and REGIS-TR UK Ltd (REGIS-TR) by acquiring the re-
maining stake of 50.0%. For further details, see note 29.

Custodigit Ltd
In September 2022, SIX sold its shares in Custodigit Ltd. 
The transaction resulted in a loss of CHF  11.9 million 
which has been included in other financial expenses, 
see note 9.

Changes during 2021
Custodigit Ltd
In January 2021, SIX acquired 42.9% of the shares in 
Custodigit Ltd. The business of Custodigit involves the 
development, operation and commercialization of infor-
mation technology platforms and services for handling 
and storage of digital assets. The participation in 
Custodigit is classified as investment in associates 
and accounted for using the equity method. The total 
purchase price was CHF 15.0 million.

SwissSign Group Ltd
In October 2021, SIX disposed of the shares in SwissSign 
Group Ltd. The transaction had no impact on the Group’s 
consolidated figures.
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The following table presents the carrying amount and share of other comprehensive income of individually mate-
rial associates, and in aggregate for individually non-material associates and joint ventures:

 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

CHF million 	 Worldline	 	 Others	 	 Total	 	 Worldline	 	 Others	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount 	 1,472.4	 	 21.7	 	 1,494.1	 	 1,525.8	 	 85.1	 	 1,610.8	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Share of profit 	 24.2	 	 –2.7	 	 21.6	 	 –95.8	 	 –6.3	 	 –102.1	

Share of other comprehensive income incl.  	 –74.2	 	 –0.3	 	 –74.5	 	 –46.6	 	 0.2	 	 –46.4	

currency translation adjustments 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Share of total comprehensive income 	 –50.0	 	 –2.9	 	 –52.9	 	 –142.4	 	 –6.1	 	 –148.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Share of other changes in equity of associates 	 1.1	 	 –	 	 1.1	 	 6.9	 	 –	 	 6.9	

The following table summarizes financial information for material associates:

 	 Worldline SA	

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Current assets 	 7,674.5	 	 8,034.5	

Non-current assets 	 13,826.6	 	 12,704.9	

Current liabilities 	 –6,936.3	 	 –5,711.7	

Non-current liabilities 	 –4,199.0	 	 –4,769.0	

Non-controlling interests 	 –1,135.8	 	 –901.2	

Net assets attributable to shareholders 	 9,230.0	 	 9,357.4	

 	 	 	 	

SIX share of associates’ net assets 	 977.9	 	 995.9	

Goodwill and other adjustments 	 494.5	 	 529.8	

Total carrying amount 	 1,472.4	 	 1,525.8	

 	 	 	 	

Revenues 	 4,388.1	 	 3,990.2	

 	 	 	 	

Net profit/(loss) from continuing operations 	 216.0	 	 217.5	

Net profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 	 89.0	 	 –1,019.3	

Net profit/(loss) 	 305.0	 	 –801.7	

of which attributable to shareholders of Worldline SA 	 300.8	 	 –812.8	

 	 	 	 	

Other comprehensive income 	 –0.1	 	 252.0	

Total comprehensive income 	 304.9	 	 –549.6	

of which attributable to shareholders of Worldline SA 	 317.9	 	 –562.0	

 	 	 	 	

Fair value of investment 	 1,072.7	 	 1,513.8	
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29. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries
Acquisitions in 2022
REGIS-TR
In March 2022, SIX established control of REGIS-TR SA 
and REGIS-TR UK Ltd (REGIS-TR) by acquiring the re-
maining stake of 50.0%. Since then, SIX has fully owned 
the capital and voting rights. At closing, SIX transferred 
a cash consideration of CHF 64.5 million. 

Previously, SIX had held an interest of 50.0% and ac-
counted for the investment by applying the equity 
method. The fair value of the interest previously held 
was CHF 64.5 million. The remeasurement gain recog-
nized in financial income amounted to CHF 10.3 million.

REGIS-TR is a leading trade repository that offers re
porting services covering all major European trade 
repository obligations. The trade repository has long 
been an integral part of the portfolio of SIX, constituting 

an important business line adjacent to the core SIX 
Securities Services. The full consolidation of the business 
represents an opportunity for SIX to further integrate 
and deliver services to customers across Europe. 

From the date of acquisition, the business has contrib-
uted CHF 18.9 million of Group revenues and positively 
impacted Group earnings before tax by CHF 5.9 million 
for the period ended on 31 December 2022. Assuming 
that the acquisition had taken place on 1 January 2022, 
the management estimates that Group revenues 
and  Group earnings before tax would have been 
CHF 6.8 million and CHF 1.3 million higher, respectively.

The transaction costs of the acquisition amounted 
to CHF 0.4 million, CHF 0.1 million of which was included 
in other operating expenses and personnel expenses 
in 2022.
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Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The following table summarizes the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date:

 	 	 	 Fair value	

 	 	 	 recognized	

CHF million 	 	 	 on acquisition	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 17.4	

Trade and other receivables 	 	 	 5.0	

Other current assets 	 	 	 2.1	

Current assets 	 	 	 24.5	

 	 	 	 	

Intangible assets 	 	 	 91.1	

Other non-current assets 	 	 	 1.0	

Non-current assets 	 	 	 92.1	

 	 	 	 	

Total assets 	 	 	 116.6	

 	 	 	 	

Trade and other payables 	 	 	 2.6	

Contract liabilities 	 	 	 2.0	

Other current liabilities 	 	 	 1.6	

Current liabilities 	 	 	 6.1	

 	 	 	 	

Deferred tax liabilities 	 	 	 21.6	

Other non-current liabilities 	 	 	 1.1	

Non-current liabilities 	 	 	 22.8	
 	 	 	 	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 28.9	

 	 	 	 	

Net assets acquired 	 	 	 87.7	

 	 	 	 	

Goodwill 	 	 	 41.3	

Fair value of pre-existing interest 	 	 	 –64.5	

Total purchase price 	 	 	 64.5	

of which cash considerations 	 	 	 64.5	

Trade and other receivables
The fair value of acquired trade and other receivables 
was CHF  5.0 million. The gross contractual amount 
for  trade and other receivables was CHF  5.1 million, 
CHF 0.2 million of which was expected to be uncollectible. 

Customer relationships
The multi-period excess earnings method (MEEM) 
has been applied to assess the fair value of customer 
relationships. The aggregate fair value of customer 
relationships constituted a total of CHF 76.0 million.

Other intangible assets
The relief from royalty method has been applied to as-
sess the fair value of brands and software. The aggregated 
fair value of brands amounted to CHF 2.7 million and the 
fair value of software totaled CHF 12.4 million. 

Goodwill
The recognized goodwill of CHF 41.3 million represents 
the growth potential and the acquired workforce. 
REGIS-TR is considered to be a cash-generating unit 
(CGU) and the goodwill was allocated entirely to the 
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CGU. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes.

Acquisitions in 2021
Orenda Software Solutions Inc.
In March 2021, SIX acquired 62.6% of Orenda Software 
Solutions Inc. (Orenda), a Canadian-based AI platform 
specializing in ESG and alternative data sets. This 
acquisition is part of the strategy of SIX to help its 
customers drive more insights with data, providing 
consumption-ready data and analytics for faster and 
better informed decisions. At closing, SIX transferred a 
cash consideration of CHF 3.7 million.

Both SIX and the minority shareholders have options to 
either buy or sell the remaining stake in Orenda. The 
options are exercisable three and five years after the 
closing. The exercise price of the options depends on 
the revenues at the time of exercise. The call options 
have been measured by using probability weighted 
forecasts. The fair value of the call options is currently 
immaterial. As of the closing, the estimated probability 
weighted exercise price of the put options totaled 
CHF  6.2 million. SIX firstly recognized the non-
controlling interests of CHF 1.3 million by applying the 
partial goodwill method. Secondly, the non-controlling 
interests were derecognized by recognizing a financial 
liability of CHF  6.2 million and by reducing retained 
earnings by CHF 4.8 million. As at 31 December 2021, 
the liability totaled CHF 6.1 million. Changes in the lia-
bility are recognized as financial income or financial 
expenses. If the options expire unexercised, the financial 
liability will be derecognized and the non-controlling 
interests will be reinstated.

From the date of acquisition, the business has negatively 
impacted Group earnings before tax by CHF 1.7 million. 
Assuming that the acquisition had taken place on 
1 January 2021, the management estimates that Group 
earnings before tax would have been CHF  0.1 million 
lower.

Net assets acquired
The net assets acquired amounted to CHF 3.6 million. 
The assets included in particular cash and identified 
intangible assets of CHF 3.7 million and CHF 1.2 million, 
respectively. The liabilities comprised in particular pay-
ables and financial liabilities of CHF 1.0 million.

Goodwill
SIX has decided to apply the partial goodwill method. 
The recognized goodwill of CHF 1.5 million comprises the 
value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition. 
The goodwill is allocated entirely to the financial infor-
mation business area. None of the goodwill recognized is 
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Ultumus Limited
In July 2021, SIX acquired 94.5% of Ultumus Limited 
(Ultumus), an international London-based index and 
ETF data specialist. The acquisition aims at enhancing 
the data offering of SIX and to support its overall strategy 
to bring new data to its clients in a fast-growing market. 
The cash consideration totaled CHF 50.2 million.

Both SIX and the minority shareholders have options to 
either buy or sell the remaining stake in Ultumus. 
Generally, the options are exercisable four years after 
the closing at fair value and have been measured by 
using probability weighted forecasts. The fair value of 
the call options is currently immaterial. As of the closing, 
the estimated probability weighted exercise price 
of  the put options totaled CHF  2.5 million. SIX firstly 
recognized the non-controlling interests by applying 
the partial goodwill method. This resulted in a minor 
amount of non-controlling interests. Secondly, the 
non-controlling interests were derecognized by recog-
nizing a financial liability of CHF  2.5 million and by 
reducing retained earnings by CHF  2.5 million. As at 
31 December 2021, the liability totaled CHF 2.5 million. 
Changes in the liability are recognized as financial 
income or financial expenses. If the options expire un-
exercised, the financial liability will be derecognized 
and the non-controlling interests will be reinstated.

From the date of acquisition, the business has contributed 
CHF  2.3 million of Group revenues and negatively 
impacted Group earnings before tax by CHF 1.8 million 
in 2021. Assuming that the acquisition had taken place 
on 1 January 2021, the management estimates that 
Group revenues and Group earnings before tax would 
have been CHF 2.4 million higher and CHF 1.6 million 
lower, respectively.

The transaction costs of the acquisition amounted to 
CHF  0.9 million and were included in other operating 
expenses and personnel expenses in 2021.
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Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The following table summarizes assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date.

 	 	 	 Fair value	

 	 	 	 recognized	

CHF million 	 	 	 on acquisition	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 0.6	

Trade and other receivables 	 	 	 0.7	

Other current assets 	 	 	 0.7	

Current assets 	 	 	 2.0	

 	 	 	 	

Intangible assets 	 	 	 2.8	

Non-current assets 	 	 	 2.8	

 	 	 	 	

Total assets 	 	 	 4.9	

 	 	 	 	

Trade and other payables 	 	 	 0.4	

Other current liabilities 	 	 	 3.2	

Current liabilities 	 	 	 3.7	

 	 	 	 	

Deferred tax liabilities 	 	 	 0.6	

Non-current liabilities 	 	 	 0.6	
 	 	 	 	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 4.2	

 	 	 	 	

Net assets acquired 	 	 	 0.6	

 	 	 	 	

Goodwill 	 	 	 49.5	

Non-controlling interests 	 	 	 0.0	

Total purchase price 	 	 	 50.2	

of which cash considerations 	 	 	 50.2	

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables comprised gross contractual 
amounts of CHF  0.7 million, none of which were 
expected to be uncollectible at the date of acquisition.
 

Goodwill
SIX has decided to apply the partial goodwill method. 
The recognized goodwill of CHF 49.5 million comprises 
the value of expected synergies arising from the 
acquisition. The goodwill is allocated entirely to the 
financial information business area. None of the good-
will recognized is expected to be deductible for income 
tax purposes.
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Additional Information

30. Assets Pledged or Assigned to Secure Own Liabilities
The following table presents the carrying amount of assets pledged or restricted in use:

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 5.3	 	 5.8	

Bonds at amortized cost 	 490.4	 	 16.5	

Bonds at FVtOCI 	 43.8	 	 212.5	

Other debt instruments 	 96.3	 	 101.2	

Total 	 635.8	 	 336.0	

As at 31 December 2022, SIX x-clear Ltd had pledged 
bonds in the amount of CHF  62.2 million for the in
teroperability and the intraday credit facility used in 
connection with the Norwegian equities settlement 
(31 December 2021: CHF 229.0 million). Additionally, SECB 
had pledged bonds in the amount of CHF 472.0 million 
and used its securities portfolio to obtain liquidity from 
Deutsche Bundesbank as part of a Lombard transaction 
(31 December 2021: none).

SIX holds funds at correspondent banks which originate 
from corporate actions and are linked to securities of 
sanctioned persons. The funds cannot be accessed 
until the sanctions are lifted. As at 31 December 2022, 
the sanctioned accounts amounted to CHF 94.3 million 
(31 December 2021: CHF 98.9 million). 

Additionally, SIX has pledged assets and provided cash 
deposits as security for operating lease agreements. 
These amounts are restricted in use. 

31. Contingent Liabilities
Except for the uncertainties regarding the final tax 
assessment (see note  12), SIX had no significant 

contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022 (31 De
cember 2021: none).

32. Leases
SIX as lessee
In particular, SIX leases office space, vehicles and IT 
equipment.

Leases of office space are negotiated on an individual 
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. Typically, they run for periods up to 13 years 
and may include an option to renew the lease for an 
additional period and/or to terminate the lease early. 
Some leases include variable lease payments that 
depend on local price indices. SIX subleases some of 
the leased office space. 

The leases of vehicles and IT equipment typically run for 
periods of three to five years. Some leases of IT equip-
ment may lead to variable lease payments depending 
on the usage. The leases of printers are usually leases of 
low-value items. The Group has elected not to recognize 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases.

Right-of-use assets
For the quantitative disclosures on the right-of-use 
assets, see note 19.
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Lease liabilities
The maturity analysis of the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows is set out in note 25.

Extension and termination options
Some leases of office space contain extension or termi-
nation options only exercisable by SIX. The termination 

options are subject to a termination fee of up to 
15 monthly rentals. SIX assesses at lease commencement 
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the exten-
sion option or not to exercise a termination option and 
performs a reassessment if there is a significant event 
or significant change in the circumstances within its 
control.

CHF million 	 Notes	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Amounts recognized in the income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income from subleasing of right-of-use assets 	 	 	 0.4	 	 0.8	

Interest expenses on lease liabilities 	 10	 	 –2.8	 	 –2.9	

Expenses related to variable lease payments 	 	 	 –0.3	 	 –0.1	

Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding short-term leases of low-value assets 	 	 	 –0.0	 	 –0.2	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Amounts recognized in the statement of cash flows 	 	 	 	 	 	

Lease payments directly recognized in the income statement 	 	 	 0.5	 	 0.3	

Interest expenses on lease liabilities 	 	 	 2.8	 	 2.9	

Payment of lease liabilities 	 	 	 18.9	 	 15.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Lease commitments and undiscounted potential future lease payments not included 	 	 	 	 	 	

in the lease liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	

Future lease payments related to leases not yet commenced to which SIX is committed 	 	 	 3.0	 	 –	

Extension options not reasonably certain to be exercised 	 	 	 0.5	 	 0.6	

SIX as lessor
SIX partially leases out some office buildings owned 
and subleases some office space. These leases are clas-
sified as operating leases, because they do not transfer 
substantially all the risk and rewards incidental to owner-
ship of the assets.

Operating lease income also includes fees earned 
for  the renting of conference rooms and the income 
from recharges of ancillary costs. In 2022, the oper
ating lease income totaled CHF  10.8 million (2021: 
CHF 11.4 million). 

The table below sets out a maturity analysis of the future undiscounted lease payments:

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Within one year 	 7.0	 	 6.6	

Between one and five years 	 24.5	 	 22.9	

More than five years 	 5.6	 	 11.2	

Total 	 37.1	 	 40.8	

The breakdown of property, plant and equipment in as-
sets used by SIX and assets leased to third parties is 
provided in note 19.
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33. Defined Benefit Plans
SIX has established its own pension plan in Switzerland. 
Outside of Switzerland, SIX uses different, generally 
legally independent pension providers. Defined benefit 
plans are in place for Switzerland, Spain, France and 
Luxembourg. Independent actuarial valuations for the 
plans are performed as required for the defined benefit 
plans. The defined benefit plan for Switzerland repre-
sents more than 98% of the total present value of the 
defined benefit obligation. For this reason, SIX does 
not present the defined benefit plans in Spain, France 
and Luxembourg separately.

Swiss pension plan
The Swiss pension plan covers all SIX employees in 
Switzerland and exceeds the minimum benefit re-
quirements under the Swiss law (BVG). The benefits 
covered include retirement, disability and death bene-
fits. Pension plan contributions are paid by the employees 
and the employer and calculated as a percentage of the 
covered salary. The rate of contribution depends on the 
age of the employee. All entities are responsible for the 
timely payment of contributions for each employee. 

The Swiss plan provides employees with a choice be-
tween three saving plans: the budget plan, the standard 
plan and the maximum plan. The three plans differ only 
in the amount of employee contributions. At retirement, 
the employees’ individual savings capital is multiplied 
by the conversion rate, which is defined by the pension 
fund regulations, and can be paid out as either a lifetime 
annuity or a lump-sum payment. In the event of disability, 

the pension plan pays a disability pension until the 
ordinary retirement age. In the event of death, the 
surviving spouse, registered partner or life partner is 
entitled to receive a pension.

Although the Swiss pension plan is a defined contribution 
plan under Swiss pension law, it qualifies and is therefore 
accounted for as a defined benefit plan under IAS  19 
Employee Benefits. According to the relevant affiliation 
agreements, there is no provision for SIX to be liable to 
the plan for other affiliated companies’ obligations. 
Any deficit or surplus of the pension plan will be 
allocated between the affiliated companies according 
to the relevant defined benefit obligation. 

The employer contributions expected to be made to 
the Swiss pension plan in 2023 are CHF 40.4 million.

Plan assets and defined benefit obligation
The overall investment policy and strategy for the 
Swiss defined benefit plans are guided by the objec-
tive of achieving an investment return which, together 
with the contributions paid, is sufficient to maintain 
reasonable control over the various funding risks 
of  the plan. The foundation board is responsible 
for  determining the mix of asset types and target 
allocations. Actual asset allocation is determined by a 
variety of current and expected economic and market 
conditions and in consideration of specific asset 
class risks, the risk profile and the maturity pattern of 
the plan.

The plan assets of the Group comprise the following:

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Listed equity instruments 	 418.4	 	 569.9	

Listed debt instruments 	 572.9	 	 646.6	

Listed real estate 	 337.6	 	 359.6	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 35.9	 	 19.7	

Other financial investments 	 190.1	 	 148.7	

Total plan assets 	 1,555.0	 	 1,744.5	
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All equity and most of the debt instruments have 
quoted prices in active markets. All government bonds 
excluding emerging markets have investment grade 
ratings. 

An asset-liability matching (ALM) study is performed 
periodically by an external investment advisor to analyze 
the consequences of strategic investment policies. The 
strategic investment policy of the Swiss pension fund 
for 2022 can be summarized as follows:

ȫȫ The strategic asset allocation comprises 24.0% to 
40.0% (neutral: 32.0%) equity instruments; 28.0% 
to 52.0% (neutral: 38.0%) debt instruments and cash; 
and 20.0% to 39.0% (neutral: 30.0%) other investments 
(e.g. real estate and alternative investments).

ȫȫ The interest rate risk is not managed actively, but 
the pension plan is underweighted in duration.

ȫȫ The foreign currency risk of the main currencies 
is managed by a currency overlay program or 
foreign currency hedge directly in the funds.

The following table summarizes the changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation:

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Present value of obligation at 1 January 	 –1,631.6	 	 –1,635.5	

Effect of business combinations and disposals 	 –0.7	 	 –	

Interest expenses on defined benefit obligation 	 –5.8	 	 –2.6	

Current service costs (employer) 	 –54.0	 	 –56.1	

Employee contributions 	 –30.9	 	 –29.8	

Benefits paid 	 85.4	 	 43.0	

Actuarial gains or (losses) 	 250.2	 	 48.8	

Administration costs 	 –0.8	 	 –0.8	

Translation adjustments 	 1.4	 	 1.4	

Present value of obligation at 31 December 	 –1,386.8	 	 –1,631.6	

 
Changes in the fair value of plan assets were as follows:

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 	 1,744.5	 	 1,603.6	

Effect of business combinations and disposals 	 0.3	 	 –	

Employer contributions 	 42.1	 	 42.2	

Employee contributions 	 30.9	 	 29.8	

Interest income on assets 	 6.1	 	 2.4	

Return on plan assets (excl. contributions in interest income) 	 –183.2	 	 110.2	

Benefits paid 	 –85.3	 	 –43.3	

Translation adjustments 	 –0.4	 	 –0.4	

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 	 1,555.0	 	 1,744.5	
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Amounts recognized in the balance sheet:

CHF million 	 	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Present value of defined benefit obligation 	 	 	 –1,386.8	 	 –1,631.6	

Fair value of plan assets 	 	 	 1,555.0	 	 1,744.5	

Overfunding/(underfunding) 	 	 	 168.2	 	 112.9	

Adjustment to asset ceiling 	 	 	 –167.1	 	 –	

Recognized pension assets/(liabilities) 	 	 	 1.1	 	 112.9	

of which presented as pension assets 	 	 	 13.6	 	 134.0	

of which presented as pension fund liabilities 	 	 	 –12.5	 	 –21.1	

All benefits were vested at the end of the reporting 
period. The weighted average duration of the defined 
benefit obligation at the reporting date was 12 years 
(31 December 2021: 15 years).

The following table provides information on pension costs for defined benefit plans:

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Current service costs 	 –54.0	 	 –56.1	

Net interest income/(expenses) 	 0.3	 	 –0.1	

Administration costs 	 –0.8	 	 –0.8	

Total pension expense for the period 	 –54.5	 	 –57.1	

 
Remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income:

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Actuarial gains/(losses) 	 250.2	 	 48.8	

Return on plan assets excl. interest income 	 –183.2	 	 110.2	

Change in effect of asset ceiling excl. interest income/expenses 	 –167.1	 	 –	

Total income/(expense) recognized in OCI 	 –100.2	 	 159.0	

The actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in 
financial assumptions totaled CHF 321.2 million (2021: 
CHF 2.0 million).
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Assumptions used to determine the defined benefit obligation
The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:

 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Discount rate 	 2.20%	 	 0.35%	

Salary trend 	 2.50%	 	 0.85%	

Interest rate on retirement savings capital 	 1.50%	 	 1.00%	

Mortality tables 	 BVG 2020 GT	 	 BVG 2020 GT	

Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sen-
sitive to the assumptions set out above. The following 

table summarizes the positive or negative impact on 
the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date as a 
result of a change in the principal actuarial assumptions.

 	 Present value of defined benefit obligation
CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Defined benefit obligation based on current actuarial assumptions 	 –1,386.8	 	 –1,631.6	

 	 	 	 	

Discount rate 	 	 	 	

Change in actuarial assumption – decrease of 50 bps 	 –1,474.2	 	 –1,762.4	

Change in actuarial assumption – increase of 50 bps 	 –1,309.4	 	 –1,517.3	

 	 	 	 	

Salary trend 	 	 	 	

Change in actuarial assumption – decrease of 25 bps 	 –1,382.9	 	 –1,624.5	

Change in actuarial assumption – increase of 25 bps 	 –1,390.7	 	 –1,638.8	

 	 	 	 	

Interest rate on retirement savings capital 	 	 	 	

Change in actuarial assumption – decrease of 50 bps 	 –1,362.2	 	 –1,600.4	

Change in actuarial assumption – increase of 50 bps 	 –1,412.5	 	 –1,664.2	

 	 	 	 	

Life expectancy 	 	 	 	

Change in actuarial assumption – decrease of 1 year 	 –1,361.7	 	 –1,591.9	

Change in actuarial assumption – increase of 1 year 	 –1,411.3	 	 –1,671.0	

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration 
of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the 
last full actuarial valuation in 2022 and are applied to ad-
just the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date 

based on the assumptions concerned. While the analysis 
does not take into account the full distribution of cash 
flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approx-
imation of the sensitivity to the assumptions shown.
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34. Related Party Disclosures
SIX defines related parties as:

ȫȫ shareholders that have significant influence 
by delegating a member into the Board of Directors 
of SIX

ȫȫ associated companies that are significantly 
influenced by SIX

ȫȫ post-employment benefit plans for SIX employees
ȫȫ key management personnel
ȫȫ entities that are directly or indirectly controlled 
or jointly controlled by key management personnel 

SIX shares are held by 120 banks, but no bank holds 
more than  20% of the Group’s shares issued. The 
shares are widely distributed, i.e. no bank category has 
an absolute majority. All shareholders are bound by a 
shareholders’ agreement.

Transactions with related parties and companies are 
conducted on terms equivalent to those that prevail 
in  arm’s length transactions. The price schedules for 
transactions with third parties also apply to transac-
tions with related parties.

Transactions and outstanding balances with related parties of SIX are summarized in the tables below.

 	 2022	

 	 	 			   Post-	 	 	

 	 Qualifying 		 Associates and		  employment 		 	

CHF million 	 shareholders	 	 joint ventures		  benefit plans	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Operating income 	 264.9		  50.0	 	 –	 	 314.9	

Other operating expenses 	 –0.5	 	 –33.5	 	 –	 	 –34.0	

Net financial expenses 	 –0.2		  –0.7	 	 –	 	 –1.5	

Net interest expenses 	 –1.6		  0.0	 	 –	 	 –1.6	

Contributions 	 –	 	 –	 	 –41.8	 	 –41.8	

 	 31/12/2022	

 	 	 	 	 	 Post-	 	 	

 	 Qualifying 		 Associates and	 	 employment 		 	

CHF million 	 shareholders	 	 joint ventures	 	 benefit plans	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance sheet 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 139.5	 	 –	 	 –	 	 139.5	

Trade and other receivables 	 22.7	 	 16.1	 	 –	 	 38.8	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 45.9	 	 –	 	 –	 	 45.9	

Financial assets 	 18.2	 	 3.4	 	 –	 	 21.6	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 750.0	 	 262.6	 	 –		  1,012.6	

Financial liabilities current 	 13.5	 	 –	 	 –		  13.5	

Other liabilities 	 2.2		  12.4		  –	 	 14.7	
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 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 Post-	 	 	

 	 Qualifying 		 Associates and	 	 employment 		 	

CHF million 	 shareholders	 	 joint ventures	 	 benefit plans	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Operating income 	 314.0	 	 54.0	 	 –	 	 368.1	

Other operating expenses 	 –0.7	 	 –40.4	 	 –	 	 –41.1	

Net financial expenses 	 –0.3	 	 –0.5	 	 –	 	 –0.7	

Net interest expenses 	 –0.8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –0.8	

Contributions 	 –	 	 –	 	 –41.6	 	 –41.6	

 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 Post-	 	 	

 	 Qualifying 		 Associates and	 	 employment 		 	

CHF million 	 shareholders	 	 joint ventures	 	 benefit plans	 	 Total	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance sheet 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 203.8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 203.8	

Trade and other receivables 	 30.5	 	 8.0	 	 –	 	 38.5	

Receivables from clearing & settlement 	 38.4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 38.4	

Financial assets 	 38.2	 	 –	 	 –	 	 38.2	

Payables from clearing & settlement 	 754.9	 	 135.9	 	 –	 	 890.9	

Financial liabilities current 	 9.5	 	 –	 	 –	 	 9.5	

Other liabilities 	 6.4	 	 12.7	 	 –	 	 19.1	

Operating income with associates and joint ventures 
included, in particular, office rental income and infra-
structure as a service revenues (IAAS) with an associated 
company. Operating expenses with associates and 
joint ventures included mainly debit card and ATM 
processing fees paid to an associated company. The 
IAAS and processing fees are fixed and adjusted annually 
if the business volume changes.  

Receivables from clearing & settlement due from 
related parties amounting to CHF 25.9 million are col-
lateralized (31 December 2021: CHF 37.8 million). No 
loss allowance for doubtful receivables (i.e. lifetime 
expected credit losses under stage 3 of the impair-
ment model) for amounts due from related parties 
were recorded as at 31 December 2022 or 31 Decem
ber 2021.
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Compensation paid to key management 
personnel
Key management personnel are defined as members 
of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board. This 
definition is based on the requirements of IAS  24 
Related Party Disclosures.

The members of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Board and their immediate relatives do not  have any 
ownership interest in the Group’s companies.

Apart from the compensation paid and the regular contri-
butions to the pension fund institutions, no transactions 
with key management personnel took place. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the amounts recognized as an 
expense during the reporting period.

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 	 –13.9	 	 –13.9	

Other long-term benefits 	 –3.0	 	 –3.0	

Total compensation to key management 	 –16.9	 	 –16.9	 	 	 	 	

35. Events after the Balance Sheet Date
As at 1  March  2023, the date of approval for issue of 
the financial statements by the Board of Directors, the 
Group had undergone no subsequent events warranting 
a modification of the value of the assets and liabilities 
or an additional disclosure.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor

To the General Meeting of SIX Group Ltd, Zurich
Zurich, 2 March 2023

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SIX Group Ltd and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 
31 December 2022, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the con-
solidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 45 to 131) give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 
2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA) and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law, together 
with the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, as well as those of the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) 
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of 
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report, including 
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of pro-
cedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the 
basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Valuation of goodwill and purchased intangible assets 
Risk
As at 31  December 2022, SIX Group holds intangible assets in the amount 
of CHF 2,756.2 million, corresponding to 16.1% of the total assets. These relate pre-
dominantly to goodwill and purchased intangible assets (trademarks & licenses, 
customer relationships and internally generated software acquired in a business 
combination).

We focused on this area due to the significance on the balance sheet and because of 
the judgements and assumptions used by management for the purpose of impairment 
testing. Impairment testing is performed on an annual basis or more frequently 
if  indicators for impairment are present by comparing the carrying value of a 
cash-generating unit (CGU) to its recoverable amount. This assessment involves 
judgements and assumptions on key parameters within the valuation models, such 
as on future free cash flows, long-term growth rates and discount rates.

The applied accounting policies for goodwill and purchased intangible assets are 
described in note 2 and further details are disclosed in note 3 and note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit response
We have confirmed our understanding of the impairment testing process and as-
sessed the design effectiveness of key controls, concluding that a substantive audit 
approach should be adopted. We evaluated, with the support of our valuation 
experts, the reasonableness of the valuation models and the appropriateness of 
the  significant assumptions related to the valuation parameters. Specifically, we 
verified the calculation method for the determination of the discount rates and 
long-term growth rates and compared the rates with market- and industry specific 
reference values. 

Furthermore, we assessed the projected cash flows and compared these forecasts 
to the business plans approved by the Board of Directors and appraised the reliability 
of the forecasts in previous years by back testing. Based on discussions with man-
agement we also gained an understanding about the budgeting process. We 
inspected the sensitivity analysis performed by management and performed our 
own sensitivity analysis on the key valuation parameters, understanding the impact 
that reasonably possible changes to these key inputs would have on the overall 
carrying value of the goodwill and purchased intangible assets at the balance 
sheet date. 
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In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of the relevant disclosures for this 
audit focus area in the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations regarding valuation of good-
will and purchased intangible assets.

Other information 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other informa-
tion comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements and our 
auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other infor-
mation and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsi-
bility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Board of Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated 
financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements, which give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provi-
sions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is re-
sponsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern, and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISA and SA-CH will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements is located on EXPERTsuisse’s website at:
https://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report. This description forms an integral 
part of our report.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements

In accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of 
Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be 
approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd

Bruno Patusi
Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)

Slaven Cosic
Licensed audit expert
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 1. Balance Sheet
CHF million 	 Notes	 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 3.2.2	 	 292.7	 	 351.8	

Current financial assets 	 3.2.5	 	 14.4	 	 16.8	

Trade receivables 	 3.2.3	 	 6.2	 	 6.8	

Other receivables 	 3.2.4	 	 392.0	 	 306.5	

Positive replacement values of derivatives 	 	 	 0.5	 	 0.9	

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 	 	 	 12.6	 	 12.9	

Current assets 	 	 	 718.4	 	 695.6	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Non-current financial assets 	 3.2.5	 	 132.9	 	 141.1	

Investments in subsidiaries and associated entities 	 3.2.6	 	 6,730.0	 	 6,624.5	

Non-current assets 	 	 	 6,862.9	 	 6,765.6	

Total assets 	 	 	 7,581.3	 	 7,461.1	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade payables 	 3.2.7	 	 8.7	 	 2.3	

Current interest-bearing liabilities 	 3.2.8	 	 255.3	 	 280.2	

Other current liabilities 	 3.2.9	 	 1.1	 	 1.0	

Negative replacement values of derivatives 	 	 	 0.5	 	 0.8	

Accrued expenses and deferred income 	 	 	 12.0	 	 12.3	

Current liabilities 	 	 	 277.5	 	 296.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 	 3.2.10	 	 1,264.0		  1,298.4	

Other non-current liabilities 	 3.2.11	 	 –		  8.2	

Non-current provisions 	 	 	 3.2	 	 3.2	

Non-current liabilities 	 	 	 1,267.2	 	 1,309.8	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 1,544.7	 	 1,606.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Equity 	 	 	 	 	 	

Share capital 	 	 	 19.5	 	 19.5	

Legal capital reserves 	 	 	 	 	 	

Reserves from capital contributions 	 	 	 230.2	 	 230.2	

Reserves for indirectly held treasury shares 	 	 	 23.3	 	 23.3	

Free reserves 	 	 	 	 	 	

Profit carried forward 	 	 	 5,488.9	 	 5,312.8	

Profit for the year 	 	 	 274.6	 	 268.8	

Treasury shares 	 3.2.14	 	 –0.0	 	 –0.0	

Total equity 	 	 	 6,036.6	 	 5,854.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total liabilities and equity 	 	 	 7,581.3	 	 7,461.1	
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2. Income Statement
CHF million 	 Notes	 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Dividend income from investments 	 	 	 266.2	 	 216.3	

Service revenues 	 	 	 14.9	 	 14.8	

Other trade revenues 	 	 	 9.1	 	 9.0	

Total operating income 	 	 	 290.3	 	 240.0	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Consulting and other professional fees 	 	 	 –20.0	 	 –16.5	

Valuation adjustments and losses 	 3.2.15	 	 –18.1	 	 –31.5	

Other operating expenses 	 	 	 –3.1	 	 –2.5	

Total operating expenses 	 	 	 –41.2	 	 –50.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Operating profit before interest and tax 	 	 	 249.1	 	 189.5	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial income 	 3.2.16	 	 79.6	 	 81.9	

Financial expenses 	 3.2.16	 	 –50.5	 	 –54.7	

Earnings before tax and extraordinary items 	 	 	 278.2	 	 216.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Extraordinary income 	 3.2.18	 	 20.1	 	 57.0	

Extraordinary expenses 	 3.2.18	 	 –23.2	 	 –	

Earnings before tax 	 	 	 275.1	 	 273.7	

 	 	 	 	 	 	

Taxes 	 	 	 –0.5	 	 –4.9	

Profit for the year 	 	 	 274.6	 	 268.8	
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 3. Notes to the Financial Statements
3.1	 Principles of the financial statements 
3.1.1	 General principles 
These financial statements were prepared according to 
the principles of the Swiss Law on Accounting and 
Financial Reporting (32nd title of the Swiss Code of 
Obligations). Where not prescribed by law, the signifi-
cant accounting and valuation principles applied are 
described below. The financial statements may be influ-
enced by the creation and release of hidden reserves.

The amounts stated in the financial statements are 
rounded. The total may therefore differ from the sum 
of the individual values, which are calculated to the 
decimal point.

3.1.2	 Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the 
current exchange rates. Monetary items are translated 
using the closing rates. Non-monetary items are trans-
lated using historical exchange rates. Exchange rate 
gains and losses are credited or debited to the income 
statement.

Foreign currency positions were translated into CHF 
using the following closing rates:

Foreign currency 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

EUR 	 0.9837	 	 1.0347	

USD 	 0.9237	 	 0.9144	

3.1.3	 Investments in subsidiaries and
	 associated entities
Investments in subsidiaries and associated entities are 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.1.4	 Financial assets
Bonds are measured at the lower of amortized cost or 
market value. Financial assets which are due within one 
year are presented within current assets. Loans are 
carried at nominal value less accumulated impairment 
losses.

3.1.5	 Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are recognized initially at cost. Subsequent 
to initial recognition derivatives are measured at market 
value.

3.1.6	 Treasury shares
At initial recognition, treasury shares are recognized 
at  cost as a negative position within equity. Gains or 
losses  arising on subsequent sale are recognized as 
financial income or expense.

3.1.7	 Revenue recognition
Revenues for services are recognized when  invoiced. 
This occurs when the services have been provided.

3.2	 Disclosure on balance sheet and income
	 statement items and other information
3.2.1	 Number of full-time equivalents
The annual average number of full-time equivalents in 
the reporting year was nil (2021: nil).

3.2.2	 Cash and cash equivalents

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Due from third parties 	 5.5	 	 12.0	

Due from shareholders 	 287.3	 	 339.8	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 292.7	 	 351.8	
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3.2.3	 Trade receivables

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Due from Group and associated entities 	 6.2	 	 6.8	

Trade receivables 	 6.2	 	 6.8	

3.2.4	 Other receivables

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Due from third parties 	 0.2	 	 1.8	

Due from Group and associated entities 	 391.8	 	 304.7	

Other receivables 	 392.0	 	 306.5	

3.2.5	 Financial assets

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Loans due from Group and associated entities 	 93.7	 	 91.8	

Bonds 	 35.3	 	 45.7	

Equity and convertible loans 	 18.3	 	 20.3	

Financial assets 	 147.3	 	 157.8	

of which current 	 14.4	 	 16.8	

of which non-current 	 132.9	 	 141.1	

3.2.6	 Investments in subsidiaries and associated entities
A list of direct and significant indirect Group companies held by SIX Group Ltd with the percentage of capital 
controlled is included in the SIX Consolidated Financial Statements.

3.2.7	 Trade payables

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Due to third parties 	 7.2	 	 0.2	

Due to Group and associated entities 	 1.4	 	 2.1	

Trade payables 	 8.7	 	 2.3	
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3.2.8	 Current interest-bearing liabilities

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Due to third parties 	 0.0	 	 0.1	

Due to Group and associated entities 	 255.3	 	 280.1	

Current interest-bearing liabilities 	 255.3	 	 280.2	

3.2.9	 Other current liabilities

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Due to third parties 	 0.1	 	 1.0	

Due to Group and associated entities 	 1.0	 	 –	

Other current liabilities 	 1.1	 	 1.0	

3.2.10	Non-current interest-bearing liabilities

CHF million 	  	  	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	  	  	 	 	 	

 	  	  	 	 	 	

Due to third parties 	  	  	 600.0		 600.0	

thereof 0.125% dual part bond 	 ISIN CH1142754337 / CH1142754345 	 Maturity: 27/11/2026 	 150.0	 	 150.0	

thereof 0.2% bond 	 ISIN CH1132966347 	 Maturity: 28/09/2029 	 450.0	 	 450.0	

Due to Group and associated entities 1	  	  	 664.0		 698.4	

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 	  	  	 1,264.0	 	 1,298.4	

1	 Related to the issue of EUR 650.0 million Senior Bond by SIX Finance (Luxembourg) SA, see note 3.2.13.

3.2.11	Other non-current liabilities

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Due to Group and associated entities 	 –	 	 8.2	

Other non-current liabilities 	 –	 	 8.2	

3.2.12	Liabilities due to pension fund

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Liabilities due to pension fund 	 –	 	 0.1	
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3.2.13	Contingent liabilities

CHF million 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

 	 	 	 	

Total amount of guarantees and warranty obligations 	 	 	 	

Group and associated obligors 	 750.7	 	 864.1	

Joint liability from consolidated value added tax filing status 	 p.m.	 	 p.m.	

The Tax Authorities of the Canton of Zurich have 
announced a re-assessment of possible tax effects 
from the disposal of the former cards business on SIX 
Group Ltd in the tax period 2018. The possible tax claim 
would amount to a maximum of CHF 6.0 million. 
Management believes that is has strong arguments to 
defend its current position and that the re-assessment 
will not lead to a payment. Accordingly, no provision 
has been made in the financial statements. 

Apart from that, different legal opinions between the 
Company and third parties (contractual partners, 
authorities, etc.) may arise in the course of business, 
which could possibly lead to legal disputes. The Company 
assesses the corresponding risks and recognizes pro
visions if it considers the occurrence to be probable. No 
provisions are recognized for risks that  the Company 
currently considers to be unlikely or highly unlikely 
to  occur. However, it cannot be ruled out  that risks 
will be assessed differently in the future as a result of 

new findings and that there will be cash outflows. This 
is particularly the case as the assessment of legal un
certainties involves a degree of discretion and legal 
developments may also lead to new assessments.

Group and associated obligors include: 
ȫȫ CHF 47.0 million (2021: CHF 47.0 million) guarantee 
in the event of insolvency of a cash pooling member

ȫȫ CHF 2.1 million (2021: CHF 2.1 million) contingent 
liability related to credit facilities granted to Group 
entities

ȫȫ nil (2021: CHF 103.0 million) guarantee related to an 
intraday facility

ȫȫ CHF 13.6 million (2021: CHF 13.6 million) guarantee 
related to the VISA license for SIX BBS Ltd

ȫȫ CHF 664.0 million (2021: CHF 698.4 million) guarantee 
related to the issue of EUR Senior Bond by 
SIX Finance (Luxembourg) SA

ȫȫ CHF 24.0 million (2021: nil) guarantee related to 
Worldline Switzerland Ltd

3.2.14	Treasury shares including treasury shares held by Group entities

 	 31/12/2022	 	 31/12/2021	

Values in CHF million 	 Number	 	 Value	 	 Number	 	 Value	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Held by SIX Group Ltd 	 10	 	 0.0	 	 10	 	 0.0	

Held by subsidiaries 	 607,854	 	 23.3	 	 607,854	 	 23.3	

There were no transactions with treasury shares in the 
reporting and in the previous year.
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3.2.15	Valuation adjustments and losses

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Current assets 	 –0.0		  –0.0	
Current financial assets 	 –3.0		  –31.5	
Investments in subsidiaries and associated entities 	 –15.1	 	 –	

Valuation adjustments and losses 	 –18.1	 	 –31.5	

In the reporting year, loans were impaired in the 
amount of CHF  3.0 million (2021: CHF  31.5 million). 
Additionally, the valuation adjustments consist of an 

impairment of CHF  15.1 million of investments in 
associated entities (2021: nil).

3.2.16	Financial result

CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Foreign exchange gains 	 76.6	 	 79.8	

Gain on disposal of financial assets 	 –	 	 0.1	

Other income 	 3.0	 	 2.0	

Financial income 	 79.6	 	 81.9	

 	 	 	 	

Foreign exchange losses 	 –44.7	 	 –46.5	

Loss on disposal of financial assets 	 –	 	 –0.1	

Other expenses 	 –5.8	 	 –8.1	

Financial expenses 	 –50.5	 	 –54.7	

3.2.17	Hidden reserves released
There are no hidden reserves in 2022 and 2021.

3.2.18	Explanations of extraordinary positions
	 in the income statement
Investments in subsidiaries are valued individually. 
As a result, a reversal of impairment of CHF 20.1 million 
was recognized in extraordinary income (2021: 
CHF 57.0 million). An impairment of an investment of 
CHF  23.2 million was recognized as extraordinary 
expense (2021: nil).

3.2.19	Significant events after the balance 
sheet date
None.
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4. Statement of Changes in Equity
 	 	 Legal capital	 	 Legal retained	 	 			 

 	 	 reserves	 	 earnings	 	 Free reserves			 

 	 	 	 Reserves	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 from capital	 	 Reserves for	 	 Profit carried	 	 	 	 	

CHF million 	 Share capital	 	 contributions	 	 treasury shares	 	 forward	 	 Treasury shares	 	 Total equity	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 1 January 2021 	 19.5	 	 230.2	 	 23.3	 	 5,396.7	 	 –0.0	 	 5,669.8	

Dividends paid 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –83.9	 	 –	 	 –83.9	

Profit for the year 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 268.8	 	 –	 	 268.8	

Balance at 31 December 2021 	 19.5	 	 230.2	 	 23.3	 	 5,581.6	 	 –0.0	 	 5,854.7	

Dividends paid 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –92.7	 	 –	 	 –92.7	

Profit for the year 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 274.6	 	 –	 	 274.6	

Balance at 31 December 2022 	 19.5	 	 230.2	 	 23.3	 	 5,763.5	 	 –0.0	 	 6,036.6	

The share capital consists of 19,521,905 registered 
shares with a par value of CHF 1.00 each.

An ordinary dividend of CHF 4.75 per registered share 
was paid during the reporting period.

5. Appropriation of Profit
CHF million 	 2022	 	 2021	

 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	

Profit carried forward from previous year 	 5,488.9	 	 5,312.8	

Profit for the year 	 274.6	 	 268.8	

Available profit carried forward 	 5,763.5	 	 5,581.6	

Dividend of CHF 5.10 per registered share of CHF 1.00 nominal value (previous year: CHF 4.75) 	 99.6	 	 92.7	

Profit carried forward to the following year 	 5,664.0	 	 5,488.9	

The Board of Directors proposes to the General Meeting 
of Shareholders that the profit be appropriated in 
accordance with the table above.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor

To the General Meeting of SIX Group Ltd, Zurich
Zurich, 2 March 2023

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of SIX Group Ltd (the Company), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2022, the income statement for 
the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies and the statement of changes in equity. 

In our opinion, the financial statements (pages 137 to 144) comply with Swiss law 
and the Company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on 
Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are 
further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance 
with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of 
most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial state-
ments as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how 
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements” section of our report, including in relation to 
these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on 
the financial statements.

Valuation of investments in subsidiaries
Risk
As at 31 December 2022, SIX Group Ltd holds investments in subsidiaries in the 
amount of CHF 5,113.3 million, corresponding to 67.4% of the total assets, which are 
accounted for at acquisition cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
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We focused on this area due to the significance on the balance sheet and because of 
the judgements and assumptions over the valuation of investments in subsidiaries. 
Where indicators of impairment are identified, management assesses the potential 
need of impairment of each subsidiary individually by comparing the carrying 
amount of the investment in subsidiary with the recoverable amount, which is calcu-
lated based on the value of capitalized earnings. This calculation involves several 
judgements including assumptions on future free cash flows, discount rates and 
long-term growth rates. 

The applied accounting policy for this position is described in note 3.1.3 and further 
details related to investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 3.2.6 to the financial 
statements. 

Our audit response
We have confirmed our understanding of the impairment assessment process and 
assessed the design effectiveness of key controls, concluding that a substantive 
audit approach should be adopted. To test the appropriateness of management’s 
assessment, we evaluated the impairment indicators identified. In case indicators 
were present, we compared the carrying amount of the investment with the amount 
of capitalized earnings. In respect to the value of capitalized earnings, we have 
assessed the valuation model used. We verified, with the support of our valuation 
experts, the key assumptions used, including the discount rate and long-term 
growth rate.

In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of the relevant disclosures for this 
audit focus in the financial statements. 

Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations regarding the valuation of 
investments in subsidiaries.

Other information 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements and our 
auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material mis-
statement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.
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Board of Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incor-
poration, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as appli-
cable, matters related to going concern, and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on EXPERTsuisse’s website at: https://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report. 
This description forms an integral part of our report.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements

In accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of the 
financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

Furthermore, we confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings 
complies with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend 
that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd

Bruno Patusi
Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)

Slaven Cosic
Licensed audit expert
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